INQUIRY INTO PREVALENCE, CAUSES AND IMPACTS OF LONELINESS IN NEW SOUTH WALES

Organisation: Date Received: St John's Cathedral, Brisbane

Date Received:31 October 2024

October 2024

Community Connections

Losing Loneliness

Ken Willett ST JOHN'S CATHEDRAL, ANN STREET, BRISBANE

Contents

Executive Summary
Craving Connections
Distinction between Loneliness and Social Isolation5
Loneliness, Social Isolation, and Wellbeing6
Incidence of Loneliness
Importance of Improving Community Connections
Why is Intervention Necessary?
Who Should Intervene?
Community-Connections Hubs
Discernment in Context of Complexity
Key Requirements for a Community-Connections Programme
Options for Hub-Based Community-Connections Programmes
Atomistic Approach23
Community-Referral-and-Connection Framework25
Digital Connections
Alleviation of Loneliness through Helping Others
Food-Facilitated Friendships
Support after Loss of Someone Close 49
Tackling Loneliness Among Adolescents and Young Adults51
English Conversation Opportunities for Immigrants54
Natural Connections
Third Places
Tailored One-to-One Support 61
Psychological Support
Time Banking65
Other Options
Resourcing
Key Insights and Conclusions
Attachment A – Indicators of Loneliness
References

Executive Summary

Humans typically crave connections with others (community). It is part of a biological alarm system, along with hunger and thirst. Poor connections lead to loneliness, which adversely affects wellbeing.

Loneliness is a nagging, distressing feeling of disconnection from others, along with a desire for more satisfying social relationships. It adversely affects wellbeing. If it is persistent and severe (chronic), adverse wellbeing effects are potentially magnified greatly because of substantially elevated risk of a wide range of physical and mental (psychological and cognitive) health issues and premature death.

Loneliness is widespread. About 35-45 per cent of Australian adolescents and adults regularly feel lonely, and around 20-25 per cent experience chronic loneliness. They long to belong. The key to alleviating their feelings of loneliness is to improve social (or community) connections. The main requirement is to enhance the quality of social interactions, rather than the quantity.

While people experiencing chronic loneliness crave connections with others, they often have great difficulty making the meaningful connections they desire. This results from perception of others' aloofness, social exclusion linked to inter-personal and structural issues, not knowing how to connect, feelings of embarrassment, a tendency to withdraw, other behavioural effects that impede connection, and various physical, mental, and financial impediments. Therefore, help is often required to address these issues, so that desired meaningful social connections can be made.

Communities and their constituents have important responsibilities to help those who feel lonely make desired connections and come to feel they belong, laying a foundation for large wellbeing gains. As Christians, we should want to help, not just as individuals, but also as communities.

Representatives of many Anglican communities across southern Queensland have expressed interest in participation in a community-connections programme. Each Anglican community potentially could become a connections hub or join with others to form one within the relevant region (or district). These hubs could be linked to a digital-resourcing-and-connections hub that would extend the reach of the programme within and beyond regional communities and facilitate inter-hub cooperative activity.

Analysis of loneliness has revealed keys to addressing the problem effectively, efficiently, and fairly:

- finding people experiencing or at risk of loneliness
- encouraging acceptance of help, including via education on loneliness and social connection
- ascertaining what interests or motivates each person
- helping each person to find a welcoming, safe group with matching, meaningful interests
- addressing obstacles to meaningful participation
- ensuring personal autonomy or free agency of each person
- respecting privacy and confidentiality, and ensuring safety of everyone involved
- addressing perceived stigma
- recognising the complexity of the problem
- a community-based approach.

While having multiple hubs might appear to exacerbate the complexity of the task of addressing loneliness, it allows diversity in dealing with differing issues in hubs and surrounding communities. Variations in circumstances mean the appropriate mix of initiatives may differ between hubs.

An initiative of the Anglican Church SQ to help adapt ministry in the context of complexity provides a framework that would assist parish-based hubs to discern the scope and composition of loneliness-alleviation programmes suited to their circumstances. Each hub would do this in the context of the complex, multi-faceted nature of the loneliness problem; the interests, skills, and other resources of hub participants; the circumstances of the community encompassing the hub; and input sought and received from parties with an interest in the hub.

Globally, various mechanisms have been proposed and/or tried to address loneliness. Many approaches have been mentioned and some outlined and assessed in the body of this document to provide an indication of the variety and differing quality of mechanisms that have emerged from research and discussions so far. Approaches reviewed, with widely varying outcomes, are:

- an atomistic approach (AA)
- community-referral-and-connection (CRC)
- digital connections (DC)
- alleviating loneliness through helping others (HO)
- food-facilitated friendships
- support after loss of someone close
- tackling loneliness among adolescents and young adults
- English conversation groups for new immigrants
- natural connections
- third places
- tailored one-to-one support
- psychological support
- time banking.

None of these approaches should be perceived as a stand-alone scheme. AA is a precursor of an organised programme. Uniquely, CRC is a framework for finding people who feel lonely and helping them find places-to-belong. DC supports other schemes. Time banking is seriously flawed. The other devices help specific cohorts only but complement CRC. HO is a highly desirable programme component. Other ideas may emerge from the World Health Organisation's *Commission on Social Connection*, other analyses, and discernment in hubs. Packaging of complementary measures is essential, as tackling loneliness is a complex problem, reflecting many causes of feelings of loneliness and heterogeneous personal preferences and circumstances. Yet, packaging has been neglected.

It is intended to trial Brisbane Community Connections (BCC) in the city's inner suburbs. BCC will be framed by CRC, involve the regional community in addressing loneliness, and improve the current range of places-to-belong. BCC will start with a hub comprising nine Anglican communities and add several more later in an area approximated by Statistical Area, Level 4 – Brisbane Inner City.

Loneliness-alleviation programmes need to be properly resourced. For example, resourcing is needed to prepare guidance on interaction with vulnerable people, to train those who support others, and to facilitate discernment of the nature and extent of involvement of each parish-based connection hub in loneliness-alleviation initiatives. While programme volunteers can contribute greatly, additional resourcing may be required to support initiatives and volunteers, especially if initiatives are complex and have wide scope.

Discussions have been initiated with the Queensland Government, Brisbane City Council, Primary Health Networks, and non-government organisations about resourcing support. Interactions are ongoing. Potential assistance from other sources will also be investigated.

Craving Connections

Human beings typically crave community connections that are meaningful. This craving or longing to belong exists in every stage of life (Danvers, et al, 2023; Holt-Lunstad, 2022; Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010). Being human desirably is a shared experience, not an individual one (Mackay, 2024, p. 315).

Meaningful community (or social) connections involve <u>feelings</u> of belonging with others, involving, *inter alia*, feelings of being acknowledged, respected, appreciated, and included (Brown, 2012; Franklin, et al, 2019; Collier and Kay, 2020; Mackay, 2021b, 2024, p. 260; Greaves, 2022; Parkinson and Jensen, 2023a). Such connections also involve feelings of being needed, sharing with, and concern and caring for others, making the experience bilateral and/or multilateral. Moreover, meaningful community connections are accompanied by a sense of purpose (Mackay, 2024, p. 14; Chen, et al, 2021; Murthy, 2020, pp. 209, 216-218, 278; Hari, 2018, pp. 100-101; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, pp. 240-241).

The need for meaningful connections with others is part of a biological alarm system, along with hunger and thirst (Weiss, 1973, p. 37; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 9; Cacioppo, 2022, p. 130; Mackay, 2024, pp. 26-27). Failure to address any of these cravings causes distress, signalling that action is required. In each case, inaction leads to serious adverse effects on health and mortality.

Lack of meaningful community connections, which could be described as relational poverty, typically leads to feelings of loneliness, which may be felt as intensely as material poverty.¹ These feelings signal that effort to find and connect with community is imperative (Weiss, 1973, pp. 20-22; Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Badcock, et al, 2022; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 9).

If feelings of loneliness are allowed to persist, the risk of serious mental and physical illness and premature death is substantially increased. This has been well documented (Lim, et al, 2023; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 23-35; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2022, 2023a; Lim, 2021; Ending Loneliness Together, 2021; Smith and Lim, 2020; Murthy, 2020, pp. 12-14, 37-41; Holt-Lunstad, 2021, 2022; Cacioppo, et al, 2015; Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008).

Sociologist Robert Weiss (1973, pp. 16-22) recognised that connections with others and loneliness can have multiple dimensions or domains.² He attempted to distinguish between two syndromes: emotional loneliness – absence of a close emotional attachment; and social loneliness – absence of an engaging social network. He commented that there are undoubtedly other types of loneliness too.

Later, researchers grouped connections with others and loneliness under headings with wider scope, such as "intimate", "relational" and "collective". "Intimate" refers to "up close and personal" support and encouragement from "nurturing confidantes" (or the absence thereof) – the inner circle. "Relational" refers to involvement in (or unavailability of) high-quality family relationships and friendships formed in small special-purpose groups (including work teams and leisure-oriented sporting groups) – the middle circle. "Collective" refers to involvement (or otherwise) in larger groups or organisations, in which amicable interactions occur while feelings of meaningful

¹ Nick Cave (2024) observed that the "twin devils" of "loneliness and lack of meaning seem to inhabit the same dark orbit".

² Robert Weiss' (1973) book on loneliness triggered an upsurge of academic interest in loneliness and connections with others from the mid-1970s.

participation or contributions develop – the outer circle. These domains have "fuzzy" or imprecise boundaries. For example, high quality friendships ("relational" connections) could grow from involvement in "collective" activities, and high-quality friendships may become "intimate connections". Also, depending on occurrences, acquaintances and familiar strangers potentially could become part of one of the community connections domains (Ang, 2021; Murthy, 2020, chapter 7; Cacioppo and Cacioppo, 2012; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, pp. 80-82).

If unfortunate events or circumstances disrupt meaningful connections, even in only one of the domains, emotional stability is likely to be disturbed, and feelings of loneliness could occur. For example, bereavement or a couple splitting up would prejudice "relational" as well as "intimate" connections, because of disruption of social networks,³ and retirement and/or residential relocation could undermine "relational" and "collective" connections (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, p. 81).

In Australia, the average frequency of social contact has been declining for at least two decades. This has been observed in all age groups from 15 to 65+ years of age. The overall decline was around 13 per cent from 2001 to 2021 (Australian Institute for Health and Welfare, 2023a).

Recognition of the importance of social connections prompted the World Health Organisation, in late-2023, to form a *Commission on Social Connection*. Its purpose is to address loneliness as a pressing health threat, promote social connections, and accelerate scaling up and implementation of measures to build social connections and alleviate loneliness. The *Commission on Social Connection* will operate from 2024 to 2026 (World Health Organisation, 2023b; Krug, 2023).

Distinction between Loneliness and Social Isolation

Loneliness refers to a nagging, distressing <u>feeling</u> of a lack of connection to other people (community), accompanied by a desire for additional or more satisfying social relationships. Loneliness is <u>subjective</u>. Social isolation is distinct from loneliness. Social isolation refers to having <u>objectively</u> few relationships with others, group memberships, and social roles. It is characterised by infrequent social interaction (Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 9; Holt-Lunstad, 2022; Ending Loneliness Together, 2022; Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Perlman and Peplau, 1981). While social isolation is characterised by a dearth of connections with others of any type, loneliness involves a <u>feeling</u> of a lack of <u>meaningful</u> connections.

Loneliness may be episodic (transitory) or chronic (persistent and severe). Social isolation also may be transitory or chronic.

The proportion of people who experience loneliness in Australia is about double the proportion experiencing social isolation. Transitory loneliness is much more prevalent than chronic loneliness, and transitory social isolation is much more common than chronic social isolation. The proportion of all people who experience chronic loneliness is more than three times the proportion experiencing chronic social isolation (Lim, et al, 2023).

For some people, loneliness and social isolation co-occur. Social isolation may be a precursor to loneliness, being an intermediate state between loneliness and its various primary causes (triggers and risk factors – see Attachment A). Also, lonely feelings may lead to or exacerbate social isolation, by inducing withdrawal from social engagement or triggering other behavioural changes that tend to

³ See the sub-section on "Support after Loss of Someone Close" for further explanation of this phenomenon.

push others away (Cacioppo and Patrick 2008, pp. 16, 37, 44, 217). These responses in turn worsen feelings of loneliness, creating a vicious cycle.

Those in another category experience loneliness without being socially isolated. Indeed, people may feel lonely in a crowd.

There are other people who do not feel lonely, but they are socially isolated. If they are contented or at least not distressed in these circumstances (for example, because independence is valued), it is reasonable to question why their situation might be regarded as a cause for concern. Obviously, unwanted social isolation would be an undesirable state (Vasile, et al, 2024).

Another group – the largest one – comprises people who are neither lonely nor socially isolated at a particular time. They may (have) experience(d) loneliness or social isolation at some other time.

In popular discourse, loneliness and social isolation have often been conflated. Sometimes this has occurred in academic work too. Frequently, the terms have been grouped together (either "loneliness and social isolation" or "social isolation and loneliness") without adequate explanation of this practice. Sometimes the terms have been used in ways that suggest they are interchangeable. In each case, distinctions between the concepts have been avoided or blurred. Occasionally, the conflation of terms has been exacerbated by depicting loneliness as perceived or subjective social isolation.⁴ These practices have been sources of obfuscation and confusion.

Loneliness and social isolation appear to have been conflated for at least one of two reasons. First, conflation of the concepts may have provided a means of avoiding the issue of dealing with the difficulties of clarification and disentanglement of these concepts and their consequences. Second, reliance on a poorly supported assertion that the concepts <u>independently</u> raise risks of adverse effects on wellbeing has led to the practice of mentioning them together. However, there is evidence that the concepts are partly interdependent or interacting influences on wellbeing. This includes evidence regarding the role of loneliness as a mediator between social isolation and adverse effects attributed to that state (Beller and Wagner, 2018; Vasile, et al, 2024).

Unfortunately, conflation of the related, but distinguishable concepts of loneliness and social isolation has been an obstacle to clarification of the concepts and their relationship, and to identification of their causes and effects. This has impeded formulation of sound rationales for intervention, and selection or design of initiatives to mitigate adverse effects of these phenomena.

Loneliness, Social Isolation, and Wellbeing

Mental and physical health researchers have found that loneliness is an important cause of adverse wellbeing issues in all age groups. These start with negative feelings or psychic pain that may extend to adverse mental and physical health effects.

Based on the literature referenced in this paper, negative feelings or psychic pain may include:⁵

- a nagging sense of restless emptiness
- melancholy or pensive sadness

⁴ Referring to loneliness as perceived social isolation is misleading because loneliness invariably is a distressing state, while some people who are socially isolated are content or at least not distressed in that state.

⁵ Jason Gaboury (2020), who experienced loneliness for many years, referred to the "ache of loneliness" and described loneliness as "relational restlessness". Nick Cave (2024) depicted an "insistent feeling of loneliness" as "a melancholy that varies in darkness".

- gnawing mental discomfort
- despair or hopelessness
- feelings of abandonment and rejection
- perceptions of invisibility, and contributions to society being unrecognised or undervalued
- insecurity and self-doubt, including questioning of self-worth
- lack of enthusiasm and motivation, based on feelings of having nothing to look forward to
- feelings of boredom or aimlessness
- anger and frustration because of perceptions that no one understands or cares
- envy and resentment of others who seem to have fulfilling connections with others.

In the case of chronic loneliness, these distressing feelings are intense. The stress response to these feelings, with reinforcement from negative cognitive biases,⁶ substantially elevates the risk of a variety of serious physical and mental (psychological and cognitive) health issues. These include greater risk of stroke and cardiovascular disease, infectious diseases, inflammatory diseases, dementia, Alzheimer's disease, depression, anxiety, and cognitive impairment and decline. Strong feelings of loneliness undermine sleep quality and its restorative effects. They also accelerate health issues associated with ageing. These effects are consistent with chronic loneliness being potentially lethal. The increase in risk of premature death is substantial and comparable to or greater than that associated with obesity, heavy smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, and physical inactivity (Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 23-35; Hong, et al, 2023, 2024; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2022, 2023a; Holt-Lunstad, 2017, 2021, 2022; Lim, 2021; Ending Loneliness Together, 2021; Smith and Lim, 2020; Murthy, 2020, pp. 12-14, 37-41; Australian Psychological Society and Lim, M., 2018; Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2010, 2015, 2017; Cacioppo, et al, 2015; Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008).

Diminished capacity for self-regulation is another way in which feelings of loneliness can adversely affect health and mortality. It can do this by leading to behavioural changes, such as reduction of physical activity, neglect of good dietary behaviour, avoidance of precautionary health checks, and increased propensity to abuse alcohol and drugs (Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Hong, et al, 2024).

The related, but separable concept of social isolation also needs to be considered when analysing the effects of feelings of loneliness on wellbeing. Social isolation may be a precursor to feelings of loneliness and lonely feelings may be a precursor to social isolation, creating a vicious cycle.⁷ Researchers have found that both loneliness and social isolation are associated with adverse health and mortality outcomes (Hong, et al, 2023; Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2010, 2015; Steptoe, et al, 2013). However, typically they have examined loneliness and social isolation as separate constructs, rather than as concepts that may interact synergistically (Beller and Wagner, 2018; Vasile, et al, 2024).

Various reasons have been suggested to explain why social isolation could adversely affect health and mortality, independently of effects linked to feelings of loneliness. This could occur through

⁶ Negative cognitive biases refer to a tendency to see more threats, perceive negative outcomes, and remember negative things, inducing behaviour that leads to negative social outcomes - a self-fulfilling prophecy (Hawkley and Cacioppo, 2010; Hong, et al, 2024).

⁷ The complex relationship is illustrated by results of research by Alexander Danvers, et al (2023). They found that loneliness and social isolation were "weakly but significantly correlated". Specifically, social isolation was more likely to be associated with loneliness if more than 75 per cent of waking hours was spent alone, especially for older adults. Moderate time alone (25 - 75 per cent of waking hours) was associated with relatively low rates of loneliness. Little time alone was associated with elevated loneliness, indicating loneliness in a crowd and/or unsuccessful effort to make meaningful connections.

mechanisms relating to diminished ability to self-regulate, and risk and fear arising from isolation (Steptoe, et al, 2013; Xia and Li, 2018; Schrempft, et al, 2019; Hong, et al, 2023).

The mechanisms said to be associated with diminished self-regulation ability caused by social isolation include the absence of influence of others in respect of exercise, diet, medical checkups, adherence to medical advice, participation in groups/activities, and avoidance or curbing of substance abuse. However, these mechanisms seem to coincide with those linked to diminished capacity for self-regulation arising from feelings of loneliness. An apparent explanation is that social isolation and loneliness commonly co-occur.

The health and longevity of socially isolated individuals may also be subject to additional risk if alone in the event of a fall or another form of medical episode. Also, socially isolated individuals may be stressed by fear of being alone at the time of any fall, other medical emergency, or break-in. This stress may make them more susceptible to physical and mental health issues. Unfortunately, these mechanisms have not been clearly articulated.

The fear factor would obviously be unwanted by socially isolated people. However, it is not obvious why socially isolated individuals who are contented with their isolation could be concerned about adverse health effects of their isolation before health problems arise.

Research in Germany, Ireland, and the United States has indicated that if strong feelings of loneliness and a high degree of social isolation co-occur, adverse effects on health and mortality typically are greater than if loneliness and social isolation are not associated (Beller and Wagner, 2018; Ward, et al, 2021; Barnes, et al, 2022; Danvers, et al, 2023).

If feelings of loneliness are experienced in the absence of social isolation (loneliness among others or in a crowd), the adverse health and mortality effects of loneliness could be moderated by an influence with the grammatically awkward label, "positive affect". The concept of "positive affect" relates to the influence of positive emotions such as contentment, joy, engagement, excitement, satisfaction with achievement, and being interested. "Positive affect" provides a buffer against the adverse health and mortality effects of loneliness. It does this by creating some offsetting or countervailing effects and by providing opportunities for and hope of meaningful connections to others in groups/activities (Davidson, et al, 2022; Beller, 2023; Steptoe, 2023). Research in the United States among people aged over 60 years (Davidson, et al, 2022) and Germany among people aged over 40 years (Beller, 2023) indicated that "positive affect" had strong buffering effects against the adverse health and mortality effects of loneliness, at least among older adults, particularly men.

If social isolation is experienced without feelings of loneliness, adverse effects on health and mortality could occur, but the risk is much lower than if social isolation is accompanied by feelings of loneliness (Beller and Wagner, 2018; Ward, et al, 2021; Barnes, et al, 2022). The magnitude of adverse effects will depend on whether social isolation is wanted or unwanted. If it is wanted (for example, because independence is valued), there should be contentment in social isolation. Then, "positive affect" provides a buffer against any adverse health and mortality effects. This is indicated by research regarding people age over 65 years in Europe (Vasile, et al, 2024). If social isolation is unwanted, this buffer would be absent.

How the adverse effects of experience of loneliness without social isolation (loneliness in a crowd) compare with the effects of social isolation without loneliness is not clear (Beller and Wagner, 2018; Ward, et al, 2021; Barnes, et al, 2022). Presumably, the comparison will depend crucially on various factors, particularly: the countervailing influence of "positive affect" on adverse effects of loneliness

without social isolation; whether social isolation is desired; and the countervailing influence of "positive affect" on any adverse effects of wanted social isolation.

Mental and physical health issues, particularly poor subjective ratings of both physical and mental health, may contribute to both social isolation and loneliness, as well as the reverse occurring. As loneliness and social isolation also interact, effects tend to be tri-directional (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020, p. 49; Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023, pp. 37-38; Hong, et al, 2024).

Summing up, loneliness and social isolation are related and entangled phenomena, but they are distinguishable. They interact synergistically to adversely affect wellbeing. The larger are the adverse effects of loneliness, the larger are the adverse effects of social isolation. The adverse health and mortality effects of both loneliness and social isolation are strongest for people who are concurrently lonely and socially isolated. The adverse effects of each phenomenon are much weaker if the other problem is not an issue. Then, their relative importance depends on whether social isolation is a source of contentment or otherwise, and the moderating influence of any "positive affect" on adverse effects of loneliness or social isolation. Adding to the complexity of the entanglement, loneliness and social isolation have interdependent (two-way) relationships with adverse health effects.

In this document, the primary focus is improvement of social connections to alleviate loneliness and its adverse wellbeing effects, taking account of circumstances and ways in which social isolation sometimes intersects with loneliness to affect wellbeing. Conveniently, better social connections would not only alleviate loneliness but also unwanted social isolation, addressing cases in which these phenomena cooccur or one occurs without the other.

Incidence of Loneliness

Loneliness is a problem that has afflicted human beings since ancient times.⁸ Its prevalence has been prominent in popular culture, since Paul McCartney (1966) wrote, and The Beatles performed the song, *Eleanor Rigby*. Its words were inspired by Paul McCartney's personal encounters with people experiencing loneliness in the preceding decade.⁹ Insightfully, he asked:

"All the lonely people, where do they all come from? All the lonely people, where do they all belong?"

A few years later, sociologist Robert Weiss (1973, p. 9) observed: "Loneliness is much more often commented on by songwriters than by social scientists." Indeed, loneliness did not become the subject of serious analysis by academic sociologists and psychologists until interest was prompted by Robert Weiss' (1973) theoretical work on the nature and causes of the problem. In the past few years, loneliness has attracted considerable interest from governments, participants in the not-for-profit caring sector, and the popular media, as well as from academic researchers in neuroscience, psychology, and sociology.

Loneliness has not been ameliorated over the past 15 years by increasing digital connectivity, even though many believed it would facilitate meaningful connections. Indeed, there is evidence that

⁸ Jason Gaboury (2020) pointed this out, drawing attention to many Biblical stories of loneliness dating back 4,000 years.

⁹ Paul McCartney's story of his encounter with "lonely people" that inspired the words of *Eleanor Rigby* has been retold in an article by Ken Willett (2022a).

loneliness has increased substantially among those in the most-digitally-connected cohort, adolescents and young adults. These phenomena reflect several influences: reductions in occurrences of physically getting-together; declines in the quality of relationships as numbers of digital connections have risen; social-distancing and facade-facilitating aspects of digital communication; and feelings of exclusion triggered by misleading social-media depictions of funexperiences of peers (Murthy, 2020, pp. 101-120; Batsleer and Duggan, 2001; pp. 11-13; Parkinson, 2022; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 13, 19-20).

Over the past few years, several surveys have been undertaken in Australia to provide indications of the prevalence and intensity of feelings of loneliness. While the survey results have not been uniform, some common themes have emerged. About 35-45 per cent of Australian teenagers and adults regularly feel lonely, including 20-25 per cent of adolescents and adults who feel persistently, intensely (chronically) lonely. Around 51 per cent feel lonely at least one day a week. The incidence of chronic loneliness is highest in late teenage and young adult years. It is disturbingly high in all age groups from teenage years to middle age, but declines in later years, especially among those aged over 75 (Australian Psychological Society and Lim, M., 2018; Lim, Eres and Peck, 2019; Headspace, 2020; Ending Loneliness Together, 2021; Telstra, 2021; Relationships Australia, 2022b; Healthy Male, 2023b; Ending Loneliness Together, 2023a; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023a, b).

Feeling lonely is linked to personal and social circumstances, not just age, although age may influence personal and social circumstances. Loneliness tends to be greatest among those living alone, single parents, unemployed individuals, disadvantaged people (eg, those afflicted by disabilities or resources deprivation), LGBTIQA+ people, individuals suffering a mental health condition, people with long-term, adverse physical health conditions, those experiencing major life changes, people who are time-poor because of heavy responsibilities, and individuals in other circumstances conducive to social exclusion (left out, pushed aside or ostracised by others).¹⁰ So, loneliness is often entangled with other troubling issues (Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020; Smith, 2021; Haslam, et al, 2021; Barreto, et al, 2022; Badcock, et al, 2022; Barreto, 2022; Lim, et al, 2023; Barreto, et al, 2023; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023; Ending Loneliness Together, 2023a, 2024).

Chronic loneliness is a major public health issue (Mackay, 2024, pp. 38, 106; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 9-10; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023a; Ending Loneliness Together, 2022; Lim, 2021; Collier and Kay, 2020, p. 152; Murthy, 2020; Cacioppo and Cacioppo, 2018; Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2017, 2022; Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2010). This is a result of its disturbing prevalence (discussed in this sub-section), the severity of its adverse effects on the wellbeing of afflicted individuals (explained in the preceding sub-section), and adverse economic consequences. The latter include disruption of economic activity, a less productive and smaller workforce, and adverse fiscal effects, such as reduction of the tax base, and expansion of government health-funding obligations.

Importance of Improving Community Connections

Conventional medical intervention is an appropriate response for health issues that have been caused by or have contributed to loneliness, but not for unsatisfactory social (or community) connections or relationships that underlie feelings of loneliness. Improving community connections

¹⁰ It has been suggested that people born in countries in which English is not the principal language, and racial and ethnic minorities might also be particularly susceptible to loneliness, but this is disputed. For example, see Ending Loneliness Together (2024) and Lim, et al (2023).

– a "social response" – has been widely acknowledged as important for addressing feelings of loneliness and pre-empting their adverse health consequences (Haslam, et al, 2024; Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion, 2024; Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023; Wakefield, et al, 2022; Dingle and Sharman, 2022; Thompson, et al, 2022; Smith, 2021; Lim, 2021; Mackay, 2021b; Holt-Lunstad, 2021, 2022; Antonovsky, 1996). Improved social connections address lonely feelings and associated adverse effects on wellbeing. They do this directly by enabling feelings of belonging and providing opportunities for "positive affect",¹¹ and indirectly by reducing social isolation that intersects and/or interacts synergistically with loneliness to adversely affect wellbeing.

Moreover, a balance of giving and receiving support in social relationships provides long-term health and mortality advantages compared to a predominance of either giving or receiving, consistent with the bilateral or multilateral character of good social connections (Chen, et al, 2021). It has also been observed that good social connections are more influential in protecting against adverse health occurrences and premature mortality than poor social connections are in causing adverse health conditions and hastening mortality (Holt-Lunstad, 2021; Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2015).

Improving social (or community) connections refers to development of more meaningful or satisfying interactions with other people. In some cases, this may require an increase in the extent and diversity of a person's community involvement and networks, and in other cases it may involve establishing new connections to replace existing unsatisfying relationships. However, the most important requirement for more satisfying social connections is to enhance the quality of interactions with others, rather than the quantity (Murthy, 2020, pp. 9, 220; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, p. 240).

The quality of social interactions depends on how meaningful they are. The meaningfulness of social interactions and resulting connections reflects the depth of feelings of belonging with others, based on bilateral and multilateral sharing, trust, and caring; a sense purpose and contribution; and pleasure deriving from interaction (Mackay, 2021b, 2024, pp. 14, 260; Hall, Holmstrom and Totzkay, 2023; Chen, et al, 2021; Murthy, 2020, pp. 9, 209, 216-218, 220, 278; Brown, 2012; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, pp. 240-241). Engaging in small talk is unhelpful in developing friendships that result in feelings of belonging. It reduces closeness, rather than enhancing it (Hall, 2019).

Substantial commitments of time, as well as meaningful interactions, are required to realise feelings of belonging. This has been illustrated by an investigation in the United States with two focus groups. One part of the investigation focussed on adults who had relocated geographically. The other focus group comprised first-year university students. Both parts of the investigation provided estimates of the expected (average) amount of time required to be invested in meaningful interactions to support transition to closer friendships (Hall, 2019). A summary of the results of the investigation follows (Hall, 2019:

Transition	Relocated	1 st Yr Univ
Acquaintances to casual friends	94 hours	43 hours
Casual friends to friends	164 hours	57 hours
Friends to good/best friends	219 hours	119 hours

¹¹ The concept of "positive affect" is explained briefly in the section on Loneliness, Social Isolation and Wellbeing above.

The required investment of time and effort by each person to establish each relationship with another person is substantial. Clearly, the challenge of improving community connections is not amenable to a quick fix (Whetham, 2024).

Improving social connections is not only important for alleviation of feelings of loneliness, reducing associated social isolation, and pre-emption of a substantial elevation of risk of serious physical and mental health conditions and premature death. In communities, better social connections also can have positive synergistic effects on multiple important matters, including disaster responses, personal and community safety concerns, and economic outcomes, as well as on individual wellbeing (Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 39-43). One important personal safety benefit is a reduction of risk of various types of elder abuse – neglect and physical, sexual, psychological, social, and financial mistreatment (Queensland Council of Social Service, 2023, p. 7).

Why is Intervention Necessary?

As loneliness involves distressing feelings, and as there are numerous existing and potential opportunities for people to improve their community connections, it is reasonable to query why many people experiencing loneliness do not help themselves by seeking to access available connection opportunities. It is also appropriate to ask how those who experience transitory loneliness can allow it to develop into chronic loneliness. There are various reasons for these phenomena.

First, many people who feel lonely may not attempt to engage in social connection activities if they perceive that others are aloof, if they are shy and/or lack confidence, if they do not want to be a burden on others, or if they consider attempts to engage with others would signal that they feel lonely. They may wish to avoid signalling feelings of loneliness because of embarrassment resulting from a perception that a stigma is attached to loneliness as it suggests personal inadequacy or failure (Baretto, et al, 2022; Badcock, et al, 2022, pp. 40-41; Ending Loneliness Together, 2023a; Badcock, Preece and Badcock, 2023).¹²

Second, feelings of loneliness may induce negative or fearful attitudes and expectations (particularly if the feelings are chronic), leading to withdrawal, rather than efforts to make meaningful connections with others (Cacioppo and Patrick 2008). So, loneliness may result in retreat into social isolation, as well as social isolation being a source of feelings of loneliness, as outlined in the seventh reason below (Hong, et al, 2024).

Third, some people who feel lonely may be passively resigned to their condition. They may not perceive any way out of their circumstances, leading to lack of effort to connect meaningfully with others (Perlman and Peplau, 1981). This phenomenon and the previous one may make it difficult to identify people who feel lonely.

Fourth, chronic loneliness may disrupt a person's ability to self-regulate emotions, resulting in uncooperative or unhelpful behaviour, tendencies to lash out, harsh subjective assessments of the

¹² A survey in the European Union on loneliness undertaken by the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission and the Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion revealed that one in six respondents stigmatised loneliness, believing that people who feel lonely mostly have themselves to blame for their feelings. Higher proportions of males, young people and more affluent people stigmatised loneliness (Casabianca, Nurminen and Stepanova (2023). Data from the British Broadcasting Corporation Loneliness Experiment indicated that men, young people and people living in collectivist societies were more likely to stigmatise loneliness and to perceive more community stigma attaching to loneliness (Barreto, et al, 2022)

motives of others, perception of threats in benign social opportunities, and responses to others' attempts to interact that repel others. These phenomena tend to worsen and perpetuate feelings of loneliness. They also indicate that engaging with people experiencing loneliness could be difficult in many cases (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008; Masi, et al, 2011; Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020; Murthy, 2020, pp. 41-44, 156; Ending Loneliness Together, 2021; Telstra, 2021; Lim, 2021; Barreto, et al, 2022; Hong, et al, 2024).

Fifth, contact with others *per se* is not sufficient to alleviate loneliness. One reason is that people differ widely in their personalities and their views of what is interesting, engaging, and important.¹³ Consequently, preferences vary widely across individuals. Contact with others needs to be supported by alignment of perceptions of what matters or is of interest. In addition, perceptions of a welcoming atmosphere and safe surroundings are important. So, a combination of positive circumstances is necessary for development of a feeling of belonging or community connection.

Sixth, individuals who feel lonely may not be aware of specific opportunities to make meaningful connections with other people, and they may not know where to start looking and how to get involved.¹⁴ Such people will need help with correction of the informational deficiencies they face (Casabianca, Nurminen and Stepanova, 2023).

Seventh, loneliness may derive from social isolation created by various factors that are not easy to overcome without help from others. These factors could include health and associated mobility issues, ineligibility for a driver's licence, unsuitable transport facilities and availability, being time-poor because of caring responsibilities, and constraints of coercive control or domestic violence.

Eighth, social exclusion – being left out, pushed aside or ostracised by others – is a particularly concerning cause of loneliness that often requires intervention by third parties. Social exclusion can be linked to a variety of circumstances, including material deprivation, disability, language difficulties, job loss, bullying, and discrimination or stigmatisation for a variety of reasons, such as race, culture, gender, sexual orientation, and other attributes. Often, social exclusion results just from being different (Batsleer and Duggan, 2001, pp. 98, 104). Social exclusion can derive from "structural" mechanisms (relating to social, economic, regulatory, and other government-supported structures) or "interpersonal" factors (Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023). Typically, activation of these causes of social exclusion is context dependant. An individual may be affected by more than one source of social exclusion. Indeed, social exclusion may be a dynamic phenomenon because of causes interacting, and consequences activating other causes (Daly and Silver, 2008).¹⁵

¹³ Gender and cultural differences are just two of many influences on widely varying social preferences (Franklin, et al, 2019).

¹⁴ A survey on loneliness in the European Union by the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission and the Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion revealed that 17 per cent of "very lonely" people did not know what to do to reduce feelings of loneliness, even though they wanted to do something (Casabianca, Nurminen and Stepanova, 2023).

¹⁵ The importance of this reason for intervention can be illustrated by reference to the wicked problem of material deprivation or poverty. This problem is a cause of loneliness, because it impedes participation in groups and activities. Loneliness is a cause of poor health, independently of the direct adverse effects of poverty on health through diet, lifestyle, impeded access to health care (Meisters, et al, 2021). Poor health from poverty and loneliness is a financial drain, which exacerbates poverty. Both poverty and loneliness are impediments to working to escape poverty. So, loneliness plays a part in the poverty/health trap. Current economic and government structures maintain social (including economic) exclusion. Therefore, intervention is necessary.

Ninth, there may be various impediments to participation in groups engaged in activities of interest. These impediments may include social anxiety, shyness, the perceived stigma attaching to loneliness, feelings of inadequacy, financial constraints, and various factors contributing to social isolation or social exclusion. These obstacles often are difficult to deal with alone.

For these nine reasons, feelings of loneliness should not be deemed to be simply the responsibility of whoever experiences those feelings. Individuals who experience chronic loneliness need and should be provided with assistance from others to address their plight. Those suffering transitory loneliness should be assisted to avoid their distress becoming chronic. People at risk of experiencing loneliness also should be supported to help them minimise transitory loneliness and avoid chronic loneliness. Indeed, the responsibility for tackling feelings of loneliness should be accepted as a collective or community obligation (Ending Loneliness Together, 2024; Batsleer and Duggan, 2001, p. 18, 162-163, 169).

The existence of a strong case for intervention does not imply that paternalism is typically justifiable. Analysts focussed on self-determination theory and economic development have pointed out that enabling and maintaining personal autonomy or self-determination is very important for human well-being (Ryan, et al, 2019; Sen, 1999, pp. 11, pp. 283-284, 289-290).

Who Should Intervene?

A common answer to the question, "Who should intervene in response to the loneliness public health crisis?" is that government should take responsibility for alleviating loneliness. Consistent with this view, the Queensland Government's response to the report of a Parliamentary inquiry on social isolation and loneliness (Queensland Parliament, Community Support and Services Committee, 2021) was: declaration of an intention to formulate a government strategy; a state-wide trial of social prescribing, subject to positive results of an evaluation of the Mt Gravatt Community Centre's application of social prescribing (the *Ways to Wellness* programme); a proposal to develop an online induction course and resources for volunteers in loneliness-alleviation programmes; and an intention to seek Commonwealth Government funding support for Primary Health Networks to deliver initiatives to address loneliness and social isolation (Queensland Government, 2022a). In the second half of 2022, the Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy established an internal group to support this work. Since mid-May 2023, the responsible group has been included in the Department of Treaty, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships, Communities, and the Arts.

Externally visible Queensland Government activity has been limited since the release on 18 December 2022 of the Government's *Communities 2032 Strategy and Action Plan*, which incorporated statements of intent regarding alleviation of loneliness and social isolation (Queensland Government, 2022 b, c). The Government has allocated some funding through competitive-submissions processes from the *Stay Connected Fund*, the *Communities Innovation Fund*, and the *Seniors Social Isolation Programme*, for a few community-based loneliness-alleviation projects. Publicly available information on progress on other loneliness-alleviation initiatives foreshadowed in the Queensland Government's response to the Parliamentary inquiry on social isolation and loneliness and in the *Communities 2032 Strategy and Action Plan* has been slow to emerge. However, the Department of Treaty, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships, Communities, and the Arts advised that, in conjunction with Primary Health Networks (PHNs), it was undertaking a "feasibility study" of various social prescribing models, with the results to be provided to the incoming Government late in 2024. The involvement of Commonwealth funded PHNs in a "feasibility study" of social prescribing in Queensland and initiation of a social prescribing scheme by the Brisbane North PHN in the Caboolture-Kilcoy region suggests some indirect Commonwealth Government involvement in addressing the loneliness problem. Meanwhile, it is not obvious if the loneliness problem has received direct attention from the Commonwealth Government, and if local government authorities in Queensland have taken an interest in addressing loneliness.

Minimal government activity to address the important public health problem of loneliness is surprising because widespread experiences of loneliness have negative consequences extending beyond affected individuals to the community and the economy. These consequences derive from adverse effects on productivity, the size and structure of the workforce, the health system, taxpayers who provide resources for health services, potential beneficiaries of government services sacrificed to address increased demand for health services, and those having to bear higher health insurance premiums.

Governments have a responsibility to address loneliness indirectly by tackling "structural issues" that contribute to loneliness by enabling social exclusion. These issues include legislation, regulations, cultural norms, and community attitudes and prejudices that cause or facilitate discrimination and other forms of social exclusion (Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023). Other relevant issues for governments are aspects of the economic structure and the fiscal regime (comprising government expenditure and taxation settings) that entrench material deprivation for many people. As well as major fiscal reform to address material deprivation in society, fiscal measures should be deployed to address the community and economic consequences of loneliness.

As a first step, governments could fund provision of information to raise awareness of the nature and extent of the loneliness problem and the importance of social connection. In addition, they could formulate and disseminate guidance on appropriate responses to loneliness, and on coordination and packaging of complementary community-connections initiatives (Holt-Lunstad, 2023).

Any government programme to tackle loneliness directly would depend critically on individuals and communities providing relational support for those who feel lonely. While government could support loneliness-alleviation initiatives by communities and individuals, government activity would not be a suitable or desirable replacement for the warm relational support that individuals and communities can provide (Collier and Kay, 2020; Murthy, 2020, pp. 240-241). Appropriately, the Queensland Government has recognised the importance of community-based activities in the loneliness and social isolation elements of its *Communities 2032 Strategy and Action Plan* (Queensland Government, 2022b, c) and in its initial relatively small funding programmes to address loneliness and social isolation.

Communities and their individual members have responsibilities to help those feeling lonely make the connections they desire and need. As loneliness reflects a dearth of satisfying connections for afflicted people, it is a relational matter, making it an "interpersonal" issue, not just a problem for those with feelings of loneliness and governments. Loneliness should be perceived primarily as a problem for communities and their constituents to tackle (Ending Loneliness Together, 2024).

As Christians recognising the magnitude of God's grace, we want to be kind to people in distress, treating others as we would like to be treated (Matthew 7: 12) or loving our neighbours (broadly defined to include strangers) as ourselves as exemplified by the iconic example of unconditional

kindness, the Parable of the Good Samaritan in Luke 10: 25-37 (Willett, 2022b). A closely related principle is: "You received without payment; give without payment" (Matthew 10: 8 (NRSV)).

As compassionate individuals, we have much to offer in response to the relational poverty of people who feel lonely (Greaves, 2022). However, a community of compassionate people can be more effective than separate individuals in helping others overcome feelings of loneliness. This applies not only to the number of people who can be helped, but also to the amount and nature of attention given to each person experiencing loneliness (Willett, 2022a). A subsequent sub-section, Atomistic Approach, compares individual and community responses.

The Anglican Church Southern Queensland comprises more than 130 parishes plus 20 schools (150 communities) within broader local and regional communities. It is an extensive network. Adding other denominations would result in a network unrivalled in its representation in southern Queensland. This would also apply across Australia (Parkinson and Jensen, 2023a).

Over the past two years, representatives of many Anglican communities in diverse locations in southern Queensland have expressed interest in participation in a community connections programme to alleviate loneliness that was initiated and is being developed by the St John's Cathedral community. While loneliness has been observed in the various Anglican communities and the broader district and regional communities in which they are embedded, the circumstances of these Anglican communities differ, and they have varied capabilities.

The prevalence and serious consequences of loneliness provide opportunities for Anglican communities to reach into the larger regional or district communities in which they reside to help others and themselves in practical ways to develop meaningful relationships, the most effective way of alleviating loneliness. Pursuit of these opportunities combines loving our neighbours as ourselves and sharing the Gospel in practical ways relevant to our times (Whetham and Whetham, 2020, pp. 115-116).

Community-Connections Hubs

Each interested Anglican community potentially could become a community-connections hub within its broader district or regional community. Alternatively, for pragmatic reasons, such as the magnitude of membership, geographical area and/or the location of parishes, individual Anglican communities may join with other faith-based communities (Anglican or otherwise) and/or with secular entities to form joint-venture community-connections hubs. Even if secular entities do not become joint venture partners in a hub, their cooperation would be highly desirable in formulating a programme to alleviate loneliness, because of relevant services and opportunities they offer.

Hubs would focus on identifying people experiencing or at risk of loneliness, and helping them to connect with other people, with whom they could feel they belong. The comprehensiveness and intensity of this activity within each hub will depend on the extent of motivation and capabilities within the relevant hosting community.

The various hubs could be supported by and linked to a digital-resourcing-and-connections hub to extend the reach of the community-connections programme within and beyond regional or district communities that encompass hubs. The digital-resourcing-and-connections hub would make available relevant research material, provide input and feedback regarding proposed initiatives, advertise and facilitate access to initiatives, facilitate cooperation with relevant secular entities, and support inter-hub cooperative activity, including exchange of knowledge and ideas about loneliness-

alleviation frameworks and activities. These contributions would help to improve the performance of participating community-based hubs.

Discernment in Context of Complexity

Loneliness is a complex, multi-faceted problem. It involves interacting, contributing factors that differ between individuals with heterogeneous preferences and backgrounds (Yanguas, et al, 2018). A central insight of analyses of decision making in the context of such complexity (including uncertainty) is that complex problems typically are not amenable to simple solutions, simple responses are usually wrong, and neglect of complexity often leads to misdirected initiatives and seriously poor outcomes (Tinbergen, 1952; Hansen, 1955; Dixit and Pindyck, 1994; Kay, 2010; Senge, et al, 2004; Scharmer, 2016; Quiggin, 2019, pp. 343-344; Beaumont, 2019; Arthur, 2021). Consistent with this insight, there is no single, simple solution to feelings of loneliness for all afflicted people.

Complexity needs to be recognised and accommodated, rather than avoided or ignored. A complex, multi-faceted problem typically requires a multi-pronged response (Tinbergen, 1952; Hansen, 1955). This is relevant to the complex task of alleviation of loneliness (Badcock, et al, 2022, pp. 30, 36).

While having multiple community-connections hubs apparently adds to the complexity of the task of loneliness alleviation, it facilitates management of the task by allowing diversity of approaches to take account of differing circumstances. Variations in circumstances mean the appropriate mix of initiatives may differ between hubs.

An initiative of the Anglican Church Southern Queensland (organised by a team from St John's Cathedral) focussed on adapting ministry in the context of complexity provides a framework that could assist parish-based hubs to formulate loneliness-alleviation programmes suited to their circumstances. The initiative was designed to help parishes discern their future directions, programmes, and initiatives in the context of the prevailing complexity and the contributing underlying uncertainty. It is part of a *Resource Church* programme intended to help resource mission in the diocese. This programme was derived from a Church of England programme with the same name.¹⁶

The complexity-management initiative draws on cutting-edge techniques for dealing with complexity and associated uncertainty. It deploys the *Cynefin* framework, which facilitates emergence of contextually appropriate responses to complex problems through a process of patient, guided interaction of a diverse group of interested people (Snowden and Boone, 2007; Mind Tools Content Team, 2023).

The *Cynefin* framework is consistent with a conceptual approach to managing complexity known as *Theory U* (Senge, et al, 2004; Scharmer, 2016). It could be buttressed by economic approaches to managing complexity, such as:

- deploying multiple instruments to address multiple targets (Tinbergen, 1952; Hansen, 1955)
- explicitly recognising the value of information and keeping options open as long as possible (Dixit and Pindyck, 1994)
- explicitly embracing complexity and underlying uncertainty in analysis of responses to important problems (Arthur, 2021).

¹⁶ Jack Shepherd (2023a, b) has reviewed the *Resource Church* concept in depth.

Consistent with this discernment process, each hub would consider its involvement and formulate its programme in the context of:

- the multi-faceted nature of the loneliness problem
- the interests, skills, and other resources of participants in the hub
- the circumstances of the district or regional community encompassing (surrounding and hosting) the hub
- input sought and received from parties with an interest in the hub.

This paper on community connections to alleviate feelings of loneliness provides considerable background material that should be helpful in the discernment process. The work associated with this document could constitute a new *Resource Church* initiative supported by the existing one on adapting ministry in the context of complexity.

Key Requirements for a Community-Connections Programme

The preceding discussion of reasons for intervention and potential responders, and information gleaned from a review of literature on interventions to alleviate loneliness suggest various keys to effectively meeting objectives for alleviating (avoiding or overcoming) loneliness.¹⁷ They involve targeting improvements to community (or social) connections through:

- means of identifying or finding people experiencing or at risk of loneliness
- ways of encouraging them to accept help to alleviate loneliness, including via education on the nature, consequences and prevalence of loneliness, and the benefits of community connections for wellbeing
- ascertaining what interests, motivates or matters to each person, as circumstances and preferences vary widely across people
- helping each person find a welcoming and safe group (or groups) doing things that match that person's particular views of meaningful, worthwhile activities
- addressing obstacles to engagement or participation in groups of interest
- taking care to allow personal autonomy or free agency of each person
- respecting privacy and confidentiality, and ensuring safety of participants
- addressing perceived stigma associated with loneliness
- recognising the complexity of the problem
- a community-based approach.

Any programme applied to alleviate loneliness needs to be efficient, as well as effective. An efficient programme yields social benefits that exceed social costs, and the surplus it provides is greater than the surplus yielded by alternative programmes. Moreover, fairness or equity of outcomes needs to be considered to ensure the relative circumstances of disadvantaged people are not made worse.

¹⁷ For example, the literature review encountered the "EAR framework" suggested by Holt-Lunstad and Peressinoti (2023): "educate", "assess", and "respond". In this context, they stressed the "need" to "engage in shared decision making". The "assess" component of the "EAR framework" includes finding or identifying people who feel lonely or are at risk of such feelings. Separating out and highlighting this important requirement yields the acronym, "FEAR" ("find", "educate", "assess" and "respond"). Another example identified in the literature review is a set of three keys nominated by Gardiner, Geldenhuys, and Gott (2019): adaptability of interventions to the context, involvement of service users in design and implementation of interventions, and purposeful or productive engagement of those targeted by interventions.

These requirements recognise the complex, multi-faceted nature of the loneliness problem and the task of alleviating loneliness. This suggests that multiple complementary interventions or initiatives need to be combined to establish a programme to address loneliness effectively and efficiently.

Each initiative in a programme should make a positive contribution by alleviating loneliness in one or more cohorts, by addressing one or more issues underlying or exacerbating the loneliness problem and its alleviation, and/or neutralising shortcomings of initiatives that otherwise make desirable contributions.

The requirements described above could be used as criteria to guide the design of a multi-initiative programme, including selection of specific initiatives for inclusion in the programme. These criteria also could be deployed to undertake assessments of multi-initiative programmes.

Options for Hub-Based Community-Connections Programmes

Around the world, numerous schemes have been proposed and/or tried to address the loneliness problem. The range of proposed schemes is diverse. The range could include any arrangement that facilitates bringing people to together in a safe, meaningful way for a constructive purpose.

Several categorisations of initiatives or schemes to alleviate loneliness have been suggested (for example, see Berg-Weger, Cudjoe and Lyu, 2024; Jopling, et al, 2020; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, 2020; Gardiner, Geldenhuys and Gott, 2018; Mann, et al, 2017; Masi, et al, 2011). The labels given to categories and allocations to those categories differ. For example, Jopling, et al (2020) on behalf of the Campaign to End Loneliness in the United Kingdom nominated four categories of initiatives to alleviate loneliness: "connector services", "direct solutions", "gateway infrastructure", and "system-level approaches" (Jopling, et al, 2020a), while Mann, et al (2017) categorised initiatives as "indirect" or "direct", and allocated "direct" initiatives to four sub-categories: "changing cognitions", "social skills training and psychoeducation", "supported socialisation", and "wider community groups".

An indicative taxonomy drawn from various suggested categorisations of initiatives to address loneliness has been formulated for this paper. Five selected categories of loneliness-alleviation initiatives are outlined below.

"<u>Connector services</u>" are intended to identify and reach lonely people, understand the nature of each person' feelings of loneliness so that a personalised response can be offered, and help lonely individuals access potential places-to-belong,¹⁸ including assisting them to overcome practical and emotional barriers. Connector services need to be multifaceted.

"<u>Ad hoc connection opportunities</u>" are groups and activities that are potential places-to-belong for people in specific cohorts that provide opportunities for individuals to make and maintain connections with others. The range of these opportunities is extremely wide, reflecting a high degree of heterogeneity in human attributes, circumstances, and preferences. These opportunities and "connector services" complement each other.

¹⁸ In this paper, the term "places-to-belong" refers to groups or activities in which people can feel they have good quality relationships characterised by meaningful (strongly satisfying) involvement, engagement, and connection. It does not include or refer to the distinct concept of a sense of affinity to a location or event (Badcock, Preece and Badcock, 2023).

"<u>Targeted psychological therapy and education</u>" to help individuals change their thinking about interactions and relationships with others and improve their communication and other social skills. These initiatives are intended to help lonely people overcome mental barriers to making connections with others. They could support "connector services" and facilitate involvement in "ad hoc connection opportunities".

"<u>Supporting infrastructure</u>" facilitates access to potential places-to-belong and supports the operation of "connector services". It includes transport facilities, digital technology, sporting and other recreational facilities, community or public spaces and places, and readily accessible natural environments.

"Jurisdiction-wide approaches" refer to government and institutional efforts to encourage and facilitate formulation and implementation of initiatives to address loneliness. They could include awareness-raising activities to encourage action and reduce stigma in respect of loneliness; direct provision of resources for other types of loneliness-alleviation initiatives; efforts to address various forms of social exclusion (such as inequity/disadvantage and discrimination); publication of wide ranging directories of groups and activities in which people might feel they belong; encouragement of volunteering; and support for participation in sporting, creative/artistic, and environmental activity groups.

The broad combined coverage of these categories reflects the important insight that responses to feelings of loneliness should not be the sole responsibility of each afflicted person. Tackling loneliness is a collective responsibility, requiring bilateral and multilateral involvement. Many parts of the social and economic structure can contribute to or impede social connection and alleviation of loneliness (Holt-Lunstad, 2022). These influences typically interact. The importance of each category and its included initiatives tend to vary with the circumstances of afflicted individuals.

The Campaign to End Loneliness in the United Kingdom has provided 53 case studies of lonelinessalleviation approaches. These are spread across the Campaign's four suggested categories of initiatives (Jopling, et al, 2020a, b).

In Australia, Ending Loneliness Together (2023b) has been compiling information on "ad hoc connection opportunities" (or potential places-to-belong) currently available in various locations across the country. The first version of the directory of Australian connection opportunities was released on 26 March 2023. It has been updated as additional opportunities have been identified. Typically, the individual connection opportunities are narrowly focussed, tending to fall into the "ad hoc connection opportunities" category outlined above. Also, coverage of the range of connection opportunities is limited. Therefore, much more work is required.

Most of the loneliness-alleviation opportunities reported in the media are "ad hoc connection opportunities". Examples include: church communities and the service (helping), social, and activity groups they sponsor; service clubs (such as Rotary and Lions); single- and multi-focus charities; wild-life and environmental protection associations; other cause-focussed organisations; men's sheds; book clubs; groups socialising over refreshments; play groups; learning-focussed groups, historical and ancestral societies; community gardens; music-related groups; drama associations; floral art societies; art groups; sporting teams and clubs; social exercise groups; and other special interest groups.

Numerous connection opportunities and potential schemes to avoid or overcome feelings of loneliness have emerged from discussions with interested parties and from considerable research

activity while preparing this research/concept paper. Thirteen categories of initiatives have been selected for analytical scrutiny:

- an atomistic approach ("ad hoc connection opportunities" and potentially, "connector services")
- community-referral-and-connection frameworks ("connector services")
- digital connections ("supporting infrastructure")
- alleviating loneliness through helping others ("ad hoc connection opportunities")
- food-facilitated friendships ("ad hoc connection opportunities")
- support after loss of someone close ("ad hoc connection opportunities")
- tackling loneliness among adolescents and young adults (various categories of initiatives)
- English conversation groups for new immigrants ("supporting infrastructure")
- natural connections ("supporting infrastructure" and "connector services")
- third places ("ad hoc connection opportunities" and "supporting infrastructure")
- tailored one-to-one support ("ad hoc connection opportunities" and potentially, "connector services")
- psychological support ("targeted psychological therapy and education")
- time banking ("connector services").

Only one of these schemes – a community-referral-and-connection framework – would be suitable for deployment as an overarching programme by a hub or geographical grouping of hubs. Several mechanisms target specific cohorts. All potentially could complement other arrangements.

The lengths of outlines and assessments of the selected loneliness-alleviation initiatives below reflect the extent to which governments, non-profit organisations, and academic researchers have investigated these mechanisms and published information about them. Length does not necessarily reflect merit.

While some mechanisms have been assessed as having more merit than others, none of those incorporated in two lists above (including those described below) should be perceived as a standalone means of alleviating loneliness. Each of these mechanisms and other suitable arrangements not mentioned in this concept paper needs to be packaged or deployed in conjunction with complementary measures, recognising the complex, multi-faceted nature of the task of alleviating loneliness in the context of multiple potential causes of loneliness, and great diversity in human attributes, circumstances, interests, and preferences.

The arrangements described below, and others listed above provide an indication of the types and variety of community connections schemes for alleviation of loneliness that have emerged from literature reviews and discussions so far. The schemes or opportunities listed in this research paper do not comprehensively cover the range of potential options. They are meant to be indicative and to provide triggers for discernment processes, not to constrain their scope.

Other initiatives more suited to the specific circumstances of individual hubs or groups of hubs may emerge from discernment processes in various hubs. Also, additional insights regarding potential loneliness-alleviation arrangements may emerge from the work of the World Health Organisation's *Commission on Social Connection*, which was established in November 2023 (for three years, 2024-2026) to identify how best to address loneliness and social isolation by advancing social connection, and how best to marshal necessary policy and funding support for recommended mechanisms (World Health Organisation, 2023b; Krug, 2023). In the meantime, the outlines and assessments below could provide a foundation for the process of investigation of various categories of initiatives and how to package or team them to alleviate loneliness or facilitate belonging through social connection. This process should not neglect timing issues. To be helpful to a person experiencing loneliness, a group/activity not only needs to be safe, welcoming, and interesting for that person, but also it should be regularly accessible without long periods of unavailability. Unfortunately, too many groups/activities shut down during some or all school holiday periods, depriving some participants of the regular, undisrupted social connections that they need and crave (da Costa Roque, 2024).

Researchers and analysts have not yet arrived at a widely agreed view on the "best approach" to alleviate loneliness (Krug, 2023; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023a; Smith, et al, 2023; Holt-Lunstad and Perissinoto, 2023; Badcock, Preece and Badcock, 2023; Beckers, et al, 2022; Barnes, et al, 2022; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020, pp. 214, 218; Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 87; Yanguas, et al, 2018). This could be attributed to:

- deficiencies in analysis of nominated schemes
- the high degree of heterogeneity of people experiencing loneliness
- the narrow focus of most schemes that target or relate only to specific cohorts or issues
- investigation of individual initiatives in the absence of complements
- insufficient attention to formulation of overarching or organising frameworks, that incorporate mechanisms for finding people who feel lonely, as well as means of helping individuals to connect meaningfully with others
- inadequacy of consideration of packaging of complementary loneliness-alleviation measures to deal with the great diversity of people and the multifaceted nature of the task of alleviating loneliness.

The most surprising and common oversight in investigations of various loneliness-alleviation schemes has been the neglect of mechanisms to find people experiencing loneliness. Typically, researchers assess initiatives to alleviate loneliness without considering the availability and efficiency of related means of identifying subjects. People with feelings of loneliness people are not easily identified, as explained above, but they need to be found before they can be helped to connect with others with whom they can feel they belong. Paul McCartney recognised this nearly 60 years in a well-known piece of popular culture, the song "Eleanor Rigby" (McCartney, 1966):

All the lonely people, where do they all come from? All the lonely people, where do they all belong?

Three important principles of analysis of initiatives or interventions need to be stressed. First, interventions should be assessed comparatively (not in isolation) to guide selection of the "best approach". Second, consideration should be given to issues necessitating packaging of complementary initiatives to tackle loneliness: multiple potential triggers and risk factors for feelings of loneliness; substantial diversity of preferences of people, their backgrounds and their current circumstances;¹⁹ and the multiple dimensions of the loneliness-alleviation task. This insight is

¹⁹ In a similar context, Badcock, Preece and Badcock (2023, pp. 59-60) observed: "The application of the same intervention across all clients therefore misses opportunities to tailor an approach to the specific needs of each client. Moving forward, it will be useful to test modularised treatment programmes containing multiple components, where the weighting of each component, and the format of its presentation, can be customised for clients based on pre-intervention assessment results." Similarly, Joanna Hong, et al (2024, p. 10) suggested: "a multi-faceted intervention approach might be the most effective in trying to alleviate loneliness."

consistent with the widely accepted principle of policy and programme design that, efficiently addressing multiple issues simultaneously, requires deployment of multiple, complementary, targeted initiatives (Tinbergen, 1952; Hansen, 1955).²⁰ Of course, packages should be assessed comparatively with alternative packages and individual initiatives. Third, assessments should not focus solely on effectiveness (performance relative to a benchmark). They should also consider efficiency (all benefits relative to all costs for all parties) and equity or fairness (distribution of social benefits and costs). These principles have too often been neglected in investigations of initiatives to address loneliness, and in surveys of such investigations.²¹

Atomistic Approach

Effort by individuals, without collaboration with others, to help people who feel lonely could be described as an atomistic approach. Every motivated individual can make a difference in the lives of others (Willett, 2022a; Greaves, 2022; Murthy, 2020, pp. 237-238).

The disturbingly high proportion of people experiencing loneliness in Australia means that many encounters with others will inadvertently involve individuals who feel lonely. However, their feelings of loneliness will often not readily observable.

One version of an atomistic approach to loneliness alleviation would involve encouraging individuals in each hub to actively seek to notice people experiencing or at risk of loneliness (see Appendix A for indicators) in and outside the hub, and to engage with them to help pre-empt or overcome their feelings of loneliness. Being observant is the starting point. Little acts of kindness – as simple as being friendly – facilitate interaction. Then, listening intently and displaying a caring attitude are further acts of kindness that can help people feeling lonely recognise that someone cares, and that connection and belonging may have become easier (Mackay, 2024, pp. 274-275, 297; Batsleer and Duggan, 2001, pp. 124, 129).

Another initiative is to ask people experiencing loneliness to help with things for which they are equipped and in which they are interested. This can help them to feel they are needed, valued, wanted, welcome, and accepted, and therefore, they belong (Cacioppo, 2022, pp. 136-137). This important form of kindness to those who feel lonely is easily and often overlooked because it is not typically perceived to be a conventional way of helping to address loneliness.

Indeed, it is appropriate to be kind in all encounters. Acts of kindness typically will lift both parties, even if they do not feel lonely, and will provide a bonus benefit to those who are experiencing loneliness. Recruiting a small group in a neighbourhood or a church to initiate engagement through acts of kindness in relevant communities could spark the creation of a kindness and connection culture that provides a foundation for a community-connections programme to address loneliness.

An atomistic approach could be categorised as an "*ad hoc* connection opportunities" approach in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation initiatives discussed above.

²⁰ Kate Jopling, et al (2020a, pp. 12, 89) observed that different approaches could work together to address loneliness more effectively than individual initiatives, but apparently did not recognise the potential efficiency gains from packaging or teaming complementary initiatives.

²¹ For example, see the discussions of "interventions" by Berg-Weger, Cudjoe and Lyu (2024); Smith, et al (2023); Beckers, et al (2022), National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine (2020), chapter 9; Gardiner, Geldenhuys and Gott (2018); Mann, et al (2017), and work on evidence and gap maps by Welch, Ghogomu, Barbeau, et al (2023) and Welch, Ghogomu, Dowling, et al (2023).

Assessment of Atomistic Approach

Little acts of kindness are acts of friendship. They facilitate connection and feelings of belonging (Batsleer and Duggan, 2001, pp. 122-124, 129). They can be initiated by people who observe or experience feelings of loneliness. They benefit givers as well as recipients, as discussed in the subsection on Alleviation of Loneliness through Helping Others.

Involving a person who feels lonely in provision of assistance to others is likely to be a powerful mechanism for helping that person with loneliness, as researchers have confirmed (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, chs 13, 14; Charles and Wolfer, 2018, p. 16; Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020, p. 41; Productivity Commission, 2020, pp. 391-392; Murthy, 2020, pp. 163-168, 179-181; Lim, et al, 2021; Mackay, 2021b; Holt-Lunstad, 2021, p. 571; Cacioppo, 2022, pp. 136-137; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 21, 48). This is discussed in the sub-section on Alleviating Loneliness through Helping Others. Asking people experiencing loneliness to help others may be more effective in alleviating loneliness than offering to help people who feel lonely in other ways (Cacioppo, 2022, p. 136).

The example of individuals and small groups seeking to facilitate connections can positively influence others to support people experiencing loneliness, and to engage in acts of kindness more generally, as observed by psychology researchers (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, p. 225; Zaki, 2016, Mohemadali, 2020; Mackay, 2021a, p.241). The resulting growth of feelings of being cared for and respected will help create a sense of community and build a kindness and connection culture that will facilitate more connections and larger-scale and more-complex initiatives involving groups (Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 53). Communities can achieve so much more if motivated individuals support a team-based programme, as well as initiating individual activities to support those who feel lonely (Willett, 2002a, b).

An atomistic approach can be transformed into a kindness culture and team-based approach to help others as a by-product of informal, welcoming get-togethers supported by tea, coffee, and food after church services or at other times. The power of these simple activities has been evidenced by extensive research on religious organisations and practices in the United States. It was found that the "belonging" provided by such get togethers, rather than "believing", is the key influence on formation of a kindness culture and groups to help others (Putnum and Campbell, 2010, pp. 472-475).

Such communities, if welcoming, offer opportunities for each newcomer to connect with multiple people and develop feelings of belonging, particularly if existing participants are engaged in things that interest or matter to each newcomer (Smith, 2021). People in a welcoming community may also be able to facilitate connections with other communities that may help people feel they belong.

Simultaneously with direct action to alleviate loneliness, a community can lobby governments to provide resources to support this activity and to act to address "structural issues" that contribute to the major public health issue of loneliness. A local church community can perform the first of these functions, and to a limited extent, the second. A network of churches can pursue the second and third functions more effectively than a single, local church community.

An atomistic approach could be a valuable precursor and element of an organised lonelinessalleviation programme. While the stand-alone efforts of individuals are important, they can play a much more valuable role as an inspiration for and complement to an overarching lonelinessalleviation framework and other team-based approaches.

Community-Referral-and-Connection Framework

Community-referral-and-connection is an overarching or organising framework for a communitybased approach for targeting the important elements of an effective and efficient lonelinessalleviation programme. This mechanism has been categorised as providing "connector services" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches outlined above.

The community-referral-and-connection approach is based on a concept usually known as "social prescribing". This concept has attracted considerable and increasing attention in the academic and other literature on loneliness. Formulation of the concept was influenced by recognition that a substantial proportion of visits to GP clinics involved people in need of meaningful social contact and/or support from others in the community, rather than medical intervention, to improve their wellbeing (Sharman, et al, 2023; Oster, et al, 2023). The term "social prescribing" derives from the notion of "prescribing" potential cures of a social or relational nature that are more appropriate for people afflicted by loneliness than the standard medical practice of prescribing medication, psychotherapy, or counselling (Sharman, et al, 2023; Morse, et al, 2022; Wakefield, et al, 2022; World Health Organisation, 2022).

Social prescribing's origin can be traced back to 1984, when the Bromley-by-Bow Centre started to blossom as a multi-purpose, community-service hub from a nearly defunct parish of the United Reformed Church in the severely deprived Tower Hamlets area of East London. This hub was guided by the new rector, Andrew Mawson (now Lord Mawson OBE). In 1989, a GP practice was added to the Centre. GP and barrister Sam Everington (now Sir Sam Everington OBE) helped set up and participated in the practice. Subsequently, Sam Everington and Andrew Mawson developed and implemented the social prescribing concept over several years. Building on its earlier initiatives, the Bromley-by-Bow Centre established the United Kingdom's (UK's) first Healthy Living Centre in 1997 (Bromley-by-Bow Centre, 2023; NHS Resolution, 2023). Both the Bromley-by-Bow Centre and the Bromley-by-Bow United Reform Church continue to serve the local community. The Bromley-by-Bow Centre's social prescribing regime is complemented by the Church and the Centre's wide range of groups and activities from which people can make participation choices, depending on their preferences. These and other groups and activities in the wider community provide opportunities for feelings of belonging to develop.

Social prescribing is now well established as an all-age programme in the UK, which was the first country to integrate this concept into national health policy through the 2019 *National Health Service Long Term Plan*. Across the UK, the National Health Service provides funding to support social prescribing schemes complementing the activities of primary care networks. There are some differences between specific details of social prescribing in England, Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland.

Social prescribing is being trialled or deployed in at least 20 other countries, including Australia (Khan, Chiva Giurca, et al, 2023; Bertotti, Hayes, et al, 2022; Morse, et al, 2022; Husk, et al, 2020). In addition, the World Health Organisation (Western Pacific Region) has produced a toolkit to guide implementation of social prescribing (World Health Organisation, 2022). The toolkit has been complemented by a free online course presented by OpenWHO (World Health Organisation, 2023a).

In Australia, in November 2019, the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, the Consumers Health Forum and the National Health and the Medical Research Council Partnership Centre for Health System Sustainability (2019) held a roundtable event involving 33 participants from a wide range of entities to consider the appropriateness of applying social prescribing. Reflecting a shared desire for a shift from a focus on illness to a focus on wellness (indicating greater attention on prevention and early intervention) in Australia's health system, participants recommended incorporation of social prescribing into policy in all three tiers of government. They proposed that government funding be pooled to support planning and implementation of social prescribing pilot schemes across the country on a scale large enough to properly test the concept in Australian contexts.

While social prescribing has been discussed as a mechanism for improving wellbeing through lifestyle changes, skill development, and better access to services, it has attracted particular attention as a means of improving wellbeing by alleviating feelings of loneliness and pre-empting physical and mental health conditions and premature death caused by experiences of loneliness.

A local example of the application of social prescribing to alleviation of loneliness is the *Ways to Wellness* programme managed by the Mt Gravatt Community Centre (2023) since early 2019 in southern suburbs of metropolitan Brisbane (specifically Statistical Area, Level 4 – Brisbane South). This community-based approach was funded initially by Commonwealth and Queensland Government grants and subsequently has been funded by the Queensland Government. This programme and some smaller, partly relevant programmes in south-eastern Queensland were evaluated with positive results by psychologists at the University of Queensland (Sharman, et al, 2023).²²

In response to the report of a Queensland Parliamentary inquiry on social isolation and loneliness (Queensland Parliament, Community Support and Services Committee, 2021), which allocated a chapter to social prescribing, the Queensland Government advised that it intended to consider a state-wide trial of social prescribing after reviewing results of an evaluation of existing schemes in south-eastern Queensland by University of Queensland psychologists (Queensland Government, 2022a). Subsequently, the Queensland Government's *Communities 2032 Action Plan* stated (action 29): "Develop a social prescribing trial in Queensland informed by the evaluation of the *Ways to Wellness* programme and supported by key health professionals and systems" (Queensland Government, 2022c). In response to a query regarding the trial, a representative of the responsible government department advised in late November 2023 that scoping activity would be undertaken over 12 months to identify a range of social prescribing models to be considered for inclusion in a formal trial. Subsequently, the scoping activity became a "feasibility study" to be completed in late 2024. Nevertheless, since mid-2023, social prescribing schemes have been established in Oxenford, Hervey Bay, and northern Townsville with Queensland Government grants.

There are various existing and potential forms of the social prescribing process (Oster, et al, 2023; Muhl, et al, 2023a; Khan, Chiva Giurca, et al, 2023; Haslam, et al, 2024).²³ One version that could be suitable for some of the proposed hubs and that includes process elements that are widely regarded as important is described below. It is consistent with the results of an academic exercise to formulate internationally accepted conceptual and operational definitions of social prescribing

²² The *Ways to Wellness* programme derived from interactions between organisations comprising the Queensland Community Alliance (QCA), which is focussed on issues in the community. The QCA's membership includes faith-based groups (such as the Anglican Parishes of Logan and Mt Gravatt and the Social Responsibilities Committee of the Anglican Diocese of Southern Queensland), trade unions, community organisations and ethnic associations. After a decision was taken to address loneliness and social isolation, local politicians and University of Queensland psychologists were included in a working group established in August 2018 to consider solutions.

²³ See Khan, Chiva Giurca, et al (2023) for outlines of schemes in more than 20 countries.

through a discernment process designed to obtain a reasonable degree of consensus among experts (Muhl, et al, 2023b).

In the proposed version of a social prescribing framework, perceptive people with various skill sets and backgrounds identify people who might be feeling lonely or at risk of loneliness and refer them to a "community-connections hub". There, a "community-connections facilitator" listens attentively to and works closely with each person with feelings of loneliness to ascertain what interests and motivates that person and to identify activity groups within which feelings of belonging could ensue. The community-connections facilitator also engages with the person to identify and address obstacles to that person's involvement in groups of interest.²⁴ Members of those groups have the important task of welcoming newcomers and helping them to become involved in the group's activities so that they come to feel they belong.

The social prescribing framework proposed in this document incorporates a compatible version of the concept of "nature prescribing". This concept involves communing with nature, usually while connecting with others. It is discussed in a subsequent sub-section on Natural Connections.

Unfortunately, the name, "social prescribing", does not accurately reflect the essence of what is involved in well-designed examples of this type of loneliness-alleviation scheme. There are two reasons for this concern.

First, the word "prescribing" is inappropriate because it has been widely accepted that it is unhelpful to "prescribe" what a person who feels lonely should do. Personal autonomy or self-determination – avoidance of paternalism – is considered vital.²⁵ This follows from a central principle that instead of the focus being on "what is the matter with the person?", the focus is on ascertaining "what matters to that person".²⁶ The principle means working with the person experiencing loneliness to identify what matters to or interests that person and to link the individual with a safe, welcoming group with similar interests so that a feeling of belonging ensues (Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020, pp. 38-39; Queensland Parliament, Community Support and Services Committee, 2021; Morse, et al, 2022; Sharman, et al, 2023).

Second, the word "social" does not adequately reflect the multiple roles of members of the community. Those roles include identifying and referring relevant people for support, and then connecting them with and accommodating them in groups and activities in which feelings of belonging can develop.

The term "community-referral-and-connection" is preferred in this document for the selected version of the process habitually termed "social prescribing". The former term reflects the key

²⁴ The community-connections facilitator has been given a variety of alternative names, such as "link worker" (England and China), "community connector" (Wales), "wellbeing coordinator" (Singapore) and "wellbeing coach" (Netherlands) (Morse, et al, 2022).

²⁵ Self-determination theory literature has explained how important autonomy or free agency is for human well-being (Ryan, et al, 2019). The importance of autonomy has also been recognised by some medical practitioners (Veitch, 1972; Barry and Edgman-Levitan, 2012). The importance of free agency for human well-being has also been highlighted in the economic development literature (Sen, 1999, pp. 11, 283-284, 289-290.
²⁶ This catchphrase has been popularised by Dr Sir Sam Everington, a founder of social prescribing. Its origins can be traced back to Dr Robert Veitch (1972), who stressed that, in the relationship between physician and patient, there should be "a sharing in which the physician recognises that the patient must maintain freedom of control over his own life and destiny when significant choices are to be made." Interest among health care providers in the "what matters to you?" principle was boosted by an article on shared decision making in medical treatment in the *New England Journal of Medicine* in 2012 (see Barry and Edgman-Levitan, 2012).

features of the process, including its avoidance of paternalism, the involvement of community members in finding, referring, and embracing people experiencing loneliness, and the provision of "connector services".²⁷

There is potential to deploy a community-referral-and-connection approach in multiple communityconnections hubs (based on individual or groups of Anglican communities) in southern Queensland. Alternatively, hubs could support schemes of this type established by other entities, such as the Mt Gravatt Community Centre's well-established *Ways to Wellness* programme in Brisbane's southern suburbs, and the Primary Health Network Brisbane North's more recently established programme, *Social Health Connect*, in the Caboolture-Kilcoy area.

Community-referral-and-connection schemes could be linked via a common website and inter-hub cooperative activity. This would expand the range of potential referrers to each hub, provide each hub with a larger range of potential places-to-belong with which people who feel lonely could be connected, and share/transfer knowledge between hubs to improve their operation.

An important feature of the community-referral-and-connection framework is that it reaches beyond each community-connections hub to involve members of the district or regional community in helping other members experiencing feelings of loneliness (Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 24). It engages with a broad community base and attracts support from that base. So, it is effectively a community-supported scheme, not a narrowly focussed initiative supported solely from within a community-connections hub.

Community Referrers

Identification and recruitment of a range of suitable community referrers is a foundational element of a community-referral-and-connection system. Community referrers identify people whom they perceive to be experiencing loneliness or at risk of feeling lonely and refer them to a communityconnections hub that could assist them to make the meaningful connections they crave.

General medical practitioners (GPs) were the original referrers in the United Kingdom. Potentially suitable referrers of people to a community-connections hub now have much more diverse backgrounds. Referrals can be made by other health professionals, including psychiatrists, psychologists, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, and staff in hospital emergency and outpatients departments. Additional referrers may include other counsellors, social workers, in-home assistance assessors for government, in-home assistance service providers, community-service organisations, educators, clergy, family members, neighbours, acquaintances, service providers, and work colleagues. Also, people feeling lonely may self-refer (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, et al, 2019; Sharman, et al, 2023).

It is important that potential referrers are provided with information explaining that a communityreferral-and-connection framework is not meant to be either a triage service that advises on appropriate treatment for people with pre-existing mental and physical health issues, or a support service for people experiencing traumatic circumstances such as domestic or sexual abuse (Rice, 2023). The framework is simply focussed on helping people with, or at risk of feelings of loneliness to find groups/activities in which they can feel they belong. Accompanying issues need to be dealt with by professionals with appropriate expertise. Of course, those professionals may wish to refer people for assistance in addressing feelings of loneliness accompanying other issues.

²⁷ Kate Jopling, et al (2020a, pp. 19, 24) observed that social prescribing provides "connector services".

Referrers desirably should be equipped with guidelines to facilitate identification of people thought to be experiencing or at risk of loneliness, as indicators of loneliness are not widely available. The identification task is further complicated by a common reluctance to admit to feeling lonely and a tendency to withdraw from interaction with others.

A preliminary list of indicators that has been gleaned and compiled from the literature on loneliness has been provided in Attachment A. The indicators can be categorised as either leading or trailing indicators. It should not be assumed that they provide definitive evidence of loneliness.

Community-Connections Hubs and Facilitators

There is widespread agreement that community-connections facilitators (often referred to as link workers in Australia) are key personnel in community-referral-and-connection schemes hosted by community-connections hubs. A community-connections facilitator could connect a person who feels lonely to a group or range of groups in which that person could potentially have a feeling of belonging because of common interests and welcoming and safe-to-be-near participants.

In some cases, a community-connections facilitator may also consider that it is appropriate to connect a particular person to services to help with issues that are entangled with or exacerbate loneliness. These services may include disability support, assistance for seniors, domestic violence support, psychological and other counselling services, housing assistance, financial advice, and material assistance (Sharman, et al, 2022). Unfortunately, some of these services, notably cognitive behaviour therapy and social skills training, have mistakenly been regarded as substitutes for community-referral-and-connection, rather than as complements.

Essential elements of the task of connecting people who feel lonely with places-to-belong include (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, et al, 2019; Hassan, et al, 2023; Haslam, et al, 2024):

- working closely with each person to ascertain what interests or motivates or matters to that person and to identify groups through which the person could make meaningful social connections while being involved in things or activities of interest
- collaborating with each individual to identify psychological, logistical, financial, physical, and other obstacles to that person's involvement in selected groups and activities, and to formulate and implement actions to address impediments to the person's involvement
- monitoring and assessment of progress of each placed person, provision of any further support required to deal with unforeseen issues (possibly including trialling alternative or additional connections), and reporting back to the community referrer
- building relationships with many individuals and groups in local communities who could provide referrals or places-to-belong or both.

While all four of these elements are essential, their relative importance and difficulty will vary with the specific characteristics and circumstances of relevant people. In some cases, the most important and difficult element will be the first. This may extend into the third. In other cases, the second element will be the most important and difficult, because there may be multiple challenging obstacles to be overcome to allow involvement in selected groups or activities. Challenges in overcoming these obstacles may spill over into the third element. The second and third elements of the connection task may include accompanying people who feel lonely to visit potentially suitable communities and service providers. The fourth element's scope needs to reflect the diversity of characteristics and circumstances of people experiencing loneliness in local communities. In some cases, the nature and severity of impediments to participation (for example, difficult health and

mobility issues) may require that communities (or subsets thereof) and services be brought to relevant people, rather than the reverse (Lim, Eres and Vasan, 2020, p. 802).

In all cases, enabling and maintaining the autonomy or free agency of those being helped is an important underlying theme. Paternalism is not part of a sound community-referral-and-connection scheme.

Attributes required by community-connections facilitators include the ability and persistence to:

- build feelings of rapport, trust, safety, and respect for privacy and confidentiality
- listen attentively to and work closely with vulnerable, often-disadvantaged people to ascertain what interests or matters to them and to identify and address obstacles to their involvement
- network continuously to facilitate identification and involvement of potential referrers and places-to-belong, and to determine and document how they contribute.

Community-connections facilitators and their supporters within hubs need to compile and/or update directories of potential places-to-belong, and various other support services. This is a continuous process, as contact details change, new options emerge, other options disappear, and gaps in the directory catalogue or directory are revealed during the process of trying to match people to groups/activities. Potential places-to-belong and support services could be external or internal to an organisation managing a hub. Places-to-belong could include new groups established by the hub to plug a gap in the range of available potential places-to-belong, or for a variety of other purposes. Even if addressing loneliness is not a primary purpose of various groups in which people can feel they belong, it may be an important by-product.

Similarly, community-connections facilitators and their supporters need to build relationships with and catalogue potential referrers of people desiring social connections. Referrers could be external or internal to an organisation supporting a hub.

Typically, community-connections facilitators are paid personnel (Oster, et al, 2023). This applies in the *Ways to Wellness* programme operating in metropolitan Brisbane's southern suburbs, the *Social Health Connect* initiative in the Caboolture-Kilcoy region, the *Studio Village Social Prescribing* scheme in Oxenford, the *Connecting Communities: Social Prescribing for Health and Wellbeing* scheme in Hervey Bay, and *A Place to Belong* in Northern Townsville.

However, the role of a community-connections facilitator could be undertaken by a volunteer or group of volunteers (Lee, 2017; FitzGerald, ca 2022). This applies in two community-referral-and-connection programmes in the eastern suburbs of metropolitan Melbourne: the *Living Our Best Life* programme for people aged 60+ in the City of Knox initially, and later extending to Maroondah, Manningham, Whitehorse, and Yarra Ranges; and the *Access to Community (A2C)* programme for people aged under 65 in and around the local government areas of Boroondara, Yarra and Manningham (Community Houses Association of the Outer-Eastern Suburbs [CHAOS], 2023; Access Health and Community, 2023). The *Beyond Loneliness Soul Talk Project* in Adelaide is another programme that depends on volunteers to help people experiencing loneliness to make meaningful connections (Whetham, 2024).

Deploying a group of volunteers to undertake a community-connections-facilitation role instead of employing a person has several positive features. The volunteer route allows involvement of people collectively offering considerably more than a single employed person in respect of expertise, life experiences (including feelings of loneliness), local knowledge, and networks. It lowers financial

costs relative to capacity. It deploys underutilised resources. It provides benefits to volunteers (with added benefits to volunteers who are lonely). It reduces the dependency of a programme on external funding that may be short-term in duration and insecure. It reduces the risk of a community-connections facilitator experiencing burnout and/or feelings of isolation, as it provides peer support within the group (Sharman, et al, 2022). Importantly, help from volunteers may be more beneficial because of the stronger ethical underpinnings of support from volunteers, the greater strength of intrinsic motivation compared to extrinsic motivation, and the greater autonomy of volunteers (Titmuss, 1971, pp. 157, 246; Arrow, 1975, pp. 21-22; Ryan, et al, 2019; FitzGerald, ca 2022, pp. 17, 26).

In an all-volunteer model of community-referral-and-connection, coordination and supervision of volunteers involved in community-connections facilitation could be undertaken by one or more volunteers. In a hybrid model, volunteers could work with paid employees, with each category of personnel taking on responsibility for either coordination/supervision or community-connections facilitation or support functions or training or some of each. In the hybrid *A2C* and *Living Our Best Life* models, community-connections facilitators are volunteers, while programme coordination and supervision/support of volunteers are undertaken by paid employees.

A negative aspect of a volunteer-led model is that difficulties may be encountered in recruitment and retention of suitable volunteers.²⁸ This problem applies to a lesser extent in a hybrid model.

Community-connections facilitators will require training and other support. Also, programme coordinators will need to be trained to provide or arrange training for community-connections facilitators. Training is important for paid employees and volunteers (Haslam, et, 2024; Hassan, et al, 2023; Oster, et al, 2023). Its importance arises from the sensitivities and behavioural characteristics associated with those who feel lonely, the desirability of avoiding paternalism, the necessity of developing attentive-listening skills, and the safety of all participants, including those in potential places-to-belong.

The Diocesan Coordinator for a programme called *Creating Caring Communities*, an initiative of the Anglican Church Southern Queensland, has advised that course material for this programme could be adapted and imparted to volunteers in a community-referral-and-connection scheme involving various parishes. The programme includes provision of training courses for volunteers. These courses are conducted by several accredited presenters dispersed around southern Queensland. Supplementary material could be drawn from the World Health Organisation's (2023a) online social-prescribing course, and online training material for volunteers in loneliness-alleviation activities to be developed by the Queensland Government (2022a).

An attractive, alternative training option or source of insights is the course embedded in the *Beyond Loneliness Soul Talk Project* that is being trialled in Adelaide by the Life Café psychology practice. The course has been designed to train "community connectors", some of whom may have experienced loneliness themselves. Participants in the course learn about connecting inwardly through improved self-reflection, emotional regulation, empathy and compassion,²⁹ as well as

²⁸ While the difficulties associated with recruitment of volunteers have been worsening gradually over the past 30 years, the COVID-19 pandemic triggered a substantial additional drop in volunteering that has persisted.

²⁹ Neurobiological research has revealed that feelings of loneliness are associated with alterations in the structure and functions of parts of the brain that are involved in aspects of wisdom, including emotional regulation, self-reflection, empathy, compassion, and discernment (see Meeks and Jeste (2009) for an overview of aspects of wisdom and brain function). A strong and consistent inverse correlation has been

connecting outwardly with others, because both inward and outward connection are considered important for alleviation of loneliness. The training programme is meant to help each participant find a personal passion, purpose, and place, and to embrace four "pillars of connection": an understanding of loneliness; allocation of time to things that enable feeling valued, heard and seen; facilitation of meaningful connections; and identification of safe and accessible spaces that bring people together³⁰ (Whetham, 2024).

The training is delivered to groups of 8-20 people for one hour per week for three terms of 10 weeks (total of 30 weeks). It is supported by a bonus Soul Talk E-Course containing 30+ hours of material. Topic 1 (in term 1) of the course is labelled "Move Your Mindset". It is focussed on a personal quest to find a passion, purpose, and place. Topic 2 (in term 2) is labelled "Re-Story Your Life". It deals with moving from a chaotic mindset to contemplative and passionate mindsets, and to a life characterised by connectedness, hope, identity, meaning, and empowerment. Topic 3 (in term 3) is on "Soul Talk Skills". It is focussed on connecting with self and others, and on desirable behaviours, including ways of listening to and interacting with others. The free course, which is funded by the South Australian Government, was first trialled at a community centre in Adelaide in 2023-24 and conducted at two other community centres in 2024-25 (Whetham, 2024).

Paying community-connections facilitators and/support staff and/or coordinators of volunteers, and financing training of employees and volunteers require funding sources. If funding support from external sources, such as a government or private sector sponsor, cannot be arranged, service fees would be required.

Both recruitment of volunteers and pursuit of funding for employees to undertake a programme are demanding tasks. Both are ongoing activities because of turnover of personnel and uncertainty relating to funding-continuity. In the establishment and operation of a programme, the appropriate trade-off between these resourcing mechanisms needs to be considered.

Places-to-Belong

The directory of potential places-to-belong, from which a community-connections facilitator can suggest opportunities, needs to be large and varied to cater for the potentially widely differing preferences, interests, attributes, and circumstances of people experiencing loneliness. A wide-ranging directory would also facilitate multiple connections for people desiring more than one opportunity (Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 32; Jopling, et al, 2020b, p. 13).

There may be potentially suitable groups and activities already in existence. Relevant examples from a wide range of potential selections include: church communities; church-sponsored service, social, and activity groups;³¹ community-service clubs; single- and multi-focus charities; wild-life and environmental care/protection groups; other cause-focussed organisations; men's sheds; music-related (singing, instrumental, and dancing) groups; book clubs; play groups; social groups and activities linked to community/neighbourhood centres; groups socialising over refreshments; community gardens; floral art societies; arts and crafts groups; historical and ancestral societies; education-focussed groups; sporting teams and clubs; walking and running groups; indoor and

found between the personality traits of loneliness and wisdom, especially the empathy/compassion component of wisdom (Lam, et al, 2021; Badcock, Preece and Badcock, 2023).

³⁰ Ending Loneliness Together (2024, p. 41) argued that establishing a culture of connection is critically important for an effective response to chronic loneliness and that it is underpinned by the nominated four pillars of connection.

³¹ Charles and Wolfer (2018) explain how congregations can help avoid or address loneliness afflicting members.

outdoor exercise groups; and other special interest groups. The potential of groups and activities such as these to be places-to-belong is discussed in a subsequent sub-section on "Third Places". This term refers to anywhere other than home (first place) or work or education (second space), where people could benefit from being with others voluntarily and informally.

Some of these groups/activities or third places provide more than the wellbeing (including health) benefits resulting from feelings of belonging. Those based on physical activity provide additional health benefits through weight control and improvements to bodily functions. Activities that involve communing with nature provide further health and wellbeing benefits, as discussed in a subsequent sub-section on "Natural Connections".

Each hub or its sponsoring community could also consider and initiate establishment of new groups and activities in which people experiencing loneliness could feel they belong. Each community or hub could focus on adding offerings that satisfy two criteria.

First, they are of particular interest to sub-groups of lonely people seeking support or hub participants not experiencing loneliness but willing to help. Places-to-belong could be created for newcomers by building on common interests of people being supported by the hub or people within the hub that is providing support. So, people being helped could become helpers (Bhatti, et al, 2021).

Second, they plug gaps in the existing range of potential places-to-belong. Gaps refer not only to missing types of groups/activities, but also to times in the year, such as peak holiday periods, when community groups/activities typically shut down.

Existing and new offerings by hubs should include activities providing help to people in need, as volunteering to participate with others in such activities has been recognised as a potential place-tobelong for people experiencing loneliness (Tierney, et al, 2022; Turk, et al, 2022; Williams, et al, 2022; Nichol, et al, 2023). Recent research has emphatically confirmed that when people with feelings of loneliness participate in acts of service to others, they alleviate their own loneliness, as well as improving the wellbeing of others (Cacioppo, 2022; Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020, p. 41; Productivity Commission, 2020, pp. 391-392; Lim, et al, 2021; Mackay, 2021; Holt-Lunstad, 2021, p. 571; Charles and Wolfer, 2018, p. 16; Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, chs 13, 14). This is consistent with other psychological and economic research that has found that helping other people benefits givers at least as much as recipients (Ryan, et al, 2019; Ludden, 2017, p. 5; Frey, 2008, p. 86). These research results also are consistent with the Biblical insight, "It is more blessed to give than receive" (Acts 20: 35 NIV). The concept of "helping the lonely by helping others" has been considered in more detail below as a separate or complementary initiative targeting loneliness.

Essential requirements for potentially suitable places-to-belong include the overt acceptance and safety of participants. This means people in those places need to be inclusive, warm, caring, understanding, trustworthy, respectful of privacy and confidentiality, and must allow individual freedom of thought and action (Andrews, 2021, pp. 184-190, 193; Queensland Council of Social Service, 2023, pp. 22-28).

Other Considerations

Promotion is important to create awareness of the existence, functions, and benefits of any loneliness-alleviation mechanism, including a community-referral-and-connection scheme (Queensland Council of Social Service, 2023, pp. 29-31). Among schemes to alleviate loneliness, a community-referral-and-connection scheme is unique in that it promotes places-to-belong. It is self-

promoting only through the demonstration effect of helping people who feel lonely to participate in groups/activities in which they feel they belong. This helps build momentum, but it does not get the scheme started. Establishment of a scheme requires promotion, as well as organisational activity and resources. Informing potential referrers about the logic and benefits of a community-referraland-connection framework is an essential foundational activity. Referrers, some of whom may also be participants in places-to-belong, can promote the scheme to people whom they perceive feel lonely or are at risk of loneliness. Compilation of a large directory covering a wide range of potential places-to-belong is important for promotion of the scheme and for its effective and efficient operation.

Good collaborative relationships are critically important requirements for a successful communityreferral-and-connection regime (Haslam, et al, 2024; Hutchinson, et al, 2023; Thomas, et al, 2021). In each part of the community-referral-and-connection process, considerable time, investigational effort, and patience may be required to establish solid, enduring, collaborative relationships.

Obviously, there would need to be respect, trust, and collaboration between a social-connections facilitator and each person seeking help find a place-to-belong. To do this, it is essential to work sensitively and cooperatively with people, rather than doing things for them or prescribing what they should do (Bhatti, et al, 2021; Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, et al, 2019).

In addition, there would need to be trust and respect between potential referrers to a hub and the community-connections facilitator and other hub supporters. Feedback to regular referrers on those they have referred to a hub is likely to be important for maintenance of referrers' trust and continuation of referrals (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, et al, 2019).

Also, the community-connections facilitator would need to be confident that groups to which a person might be introduced to alleviate loneliness would be suitably welcoming, inclusive, understanding, supportive, and safe. Of course, members of these groups would want to be comfortable that people sent to them can be integrated with ease, and that the safety of all parties is not compromised.

The importance of good collaborative relationships extends to entities partnering to deploy a community-referral-and-connection programme. A fractious relationship between partners could undermine a programme's performance.

There are various ways in which a community-referral-and-connection scheme could be designed and administered and/or complemented by other mechanisms (Oster, et al, 2023; Haslam, et al, 2024). It is sensible to learn from the experience of others in Australian contexts, and consider various refinements, before settling on an initial programme design and management arrangements. Consistent with this observation, dialogues have been initiated with managers/coordinators of a few community-referral-and-connection programmes in operation in Australia: *Ways to Wellness* (southern suburbs of metropolitan Brisbane), *Social Health Connect* (Caboolture-Kilcoy), *Connecting Communities: Social Prescription for Health and Wellbeing* (Hervey Bay), *A Place to Belong* (northern Townsville), *Studio Village Social Prescribing*³² (Oxenford, northern Gold Coast), and *Access to Community (A2C)* and *Living Our Best Life* (eastern suburbs of metropolitan Melbourne). In addition, there has been considerable interaction with the initiator of the *Beyond Loneliness Soul Talk Project*

³² The *Studio Village Social Prescribing* initiative is focussed on women aged 55 years and over, because of a requirement of the Queensland Government's *Stay Connect Fund* from which Studio Village Community Centre (managed by Village Community Services Inc.) received a grant.

in Adelaide that currently incorporates some elements of a community-referral-and connection scheme and appears likely to add other elements in future.

The *Beyond Loneliness Soul Talk Project* is unique because a community-referral-and connection scheme is being built on the foundation of a training programme for "community connectors" (community-connections facilitators). In the initial version of the scheme, community connectors are "skilled friends" who share space and time with others and move the conversation from "small talk to soul talk" (from superficial to meaningful interactions) to facilitate connection with themselves and others. Graduates of the training programme are equipped to identify lonely people in their networks, work with them to ascertain what interests and motivates them, and then assist them to connect with others in potential places-to-belong. Essentially, individual "community connectors" operate as mini community-referral-and-connection services. Importantly, these programme graduates continue to be connected to the *Beyond loneliness Soul Talk Project* through a Community Connector Club, sharing stories and information about potential places-to-belong, and receiving support and encouragement from one another (Whetham, 2024).

Assessment of Community-Referral-and-Connection Framework

Community-referral-and-connection schemes have attracted considerable and growing support among psychologists, medical practitioners, and other parties concerned about the wellbeing issues arising from the prevalent problem of loneliness. This support is based on the intuitive (qualitative analytical) appeal of the community-referral-and-connection approach to addressing loneliness, and initial rudimentary quantitative assessments of that framework (Sharman, et al, 2023; Morse, et al, 2022; Dingle and Sharman, 2022; Husk, et al, 2020). Reasons for the intuitive appeal of communityreferral-and-connection programmes include the following.

A community-referral-and-connection framework is a mechanism for providing "connector services" in the form of an overarching or organising framework for alleviation of loneliness. It includes means of addressing three key issues in tackling loneliness: finding people who feel lonely; collaborating with them to identify places-to-belong; and facilitating access to a wide range of places-to-belong in the form of groups/activities that can cater for the preferences of highly heterogeneous people experiencing loneliness.

A community-referral-and-connection mechanism could be deployed for most age and other cohorts, including adolescent and pre-adolescent age groups. It is important to ensure that pre-adolescents, adolescents, and young adults are not neglected because of a common, but incorrect assumption that loneliness afflicts mainly elderly people. Unfortunately, young people, particularly those under the age of 16 years, have received less attention than older people, and have been underrepresented in "all-age" community-referral-and-connection programmes in the UK (Bertotti, Frostick, et al, 2020; Bertotti, Hayes, et al, 2022; Rice, 2023).

Components of a community-referral-and-connection mechanism are supported by various theoretical models that have been derived from work in different professional disciplines. While it is not apparent that the original scheme was originally based on any of these models (Evers, et al, 2024), some have been helpful in choosing between variants of the mechanism and guiding various refinements to it.

A community-referral-and-connection framework is supported by "social identity theory", which recognises that "social identity" – a sense of "we" and "us" – is salient in various contexts and at least as important as personal identity in shaping thinking, emotions, and behaviour. Consistent with social identity theory, the community-referral-and-connection framework and complementary

arrangements should help to initiate, build, restore, and sustain meaningful connections with others in groups or communities. Such connections should and can be made while maintaining a sense of autonomy. They should provide feelings of belonging or a sense of social identity through shared purpose, joint participation in activities, and receipt and provision of social support. The result is a "social cure" for feelings of loneliness and their adverse health consequences (Dingle and Sharman, 2022; Wakefield, et al, 2022; Haslam, et al, 2024; Evers, et al, 2024). Social identity theory's social cure approach to alleviation of loneliness seems to be compatible with the salutogenic model discussed next.

The theory of "salutogenesis" (health origins) is another intuitive support for the communityreferral-and-connection framework described in this document. Salutogenesis focuses on bases of good health, broadly conceived to incorporate wellbeing more generally (a positive perspective), in contrast to pathogenesis, which focuses on causes of poor health (a negative perspective). The salutogenic model involves three key concepts: a "sense of coherence", "resistance resources", and "stressors". A sense of coherence is deemed to be the key to health. When a "sense of coherence" is confronted by a "stressor", three important attributes of a "sense of coherence" are activated: a desire to understand the challenge ("comprehensibility"), motivation to respond and cope ("meaningfulness"), and the capability to marshal required internal and external "resistance resources" ("manageability"). A sense of coherence can be strengthened by lived experience in coping with stressors, and by initiatives to support comprehensibility, meaningfulness, and manageability (Antonovsky, 1996; Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion, 2024). If loneliness is a "stressor", a community-referral-and-connection scheme can provide external "resistance resources" (referrers, community-connections facilitators, and places-to-belong), improve perceptions and use of internal "resistance resources", and strengthen a weak "sense of coherence" (associated with moderate to severe feelings of loneliness) by contributing to "comprehensibility", "meaningfulness", and "manageability" (Wood, et al, 2021; Limarutti, Maier and Mir, 2023; Evers, et al, 2024).

Consistent with "self-determination" theory, the community-referral-and-connection framework outlined above eschews paternalism and advocates involvement of each lonely person in selecting potential places-to-belong and addressing impediments to linkage with those communities or groups. This is a highly desirable feature of that framework. The community-referral-and connection framework also attaches importance to other basic psychological needs highlighted by self-determination theory: feelings deriving from "relatedness to others", "competence" (building skills in things of interest) and "benevolence" (Ryan, et al, 2019; Bhatti, et al, 2021).

A published review of theories that seem to support social prescribing in some way documented eleven distinct theoretical formulations (Evers, et al, 2024). The review included the three theories outlined above, which appear to be particularly appropriate intuitive bases for a community-referral-and-connection framework among the eleven theories. Unfortunately, the review missed three important theoretical supports outlined below.

The Person-Environment-Occupation-Participation (PEOPP) model designed for occupational therapists is compatible with the community-referral-and-connection approach. Application of the PEOP model to address loneliness would centre it on the person feeling lonely, involve that person in identifying potential places-to-belong and addressing obstacles to participation, and have regard to various interacting circumstances, such as individual psychological and physical considerations, and community, societal, built, and natural environmental contexts (Johansson, Rapo and Nilsson, 2021).

The community-referral-and-connection approach described above is supported by "coproduction" theory (Hassan, et al, 2023; Hutchinson, et al, 2023; Thomas, et al, 2021).³³ The coproduction model applies to programmes that involve contributions from separate interested entities in the service-delivery process. Contributors include service recipients. Well-designed and well-executed coproduction has the potential to improve the efficiency of delivery of services through synergies arising from cooperative contributions (Ostrom, 1996).³⁴ The community-referral-and-connection framework described above is potentially an example of efficient coproduction, because the methodology activates efficiency-enhancing synergies. These are created by the framework:

- uncovering, attracting, and deploying underutilised resources and latent capacity from various sources in the wider community (unpaid referrers, voluntary community-connections facilitators, and places-to-belong) to address loneliness
- engaging lonely "clients" in identifying and scrutinising potential places-to-belong and in addressing impediments to involvement
- complementing various other means of alleviating loneliness
- releasing some resources for redeployment in the overstretched health system.

In addition, a carefully designed community-referral-and-connection scheme is an exemplar complex intervention targeting a complex problem (Wildman and Wildman, 2019; Bertotti and Husk, 2021). It is a multi-instrument (multi-component) regime that targets the various key requirements for a loneliness-alleviation programme outlined above. Moreover, it is designed to be complemented by other schemes targeting various cohorts, such as the mechanisms discussed in subsequent subsections. Unfortunately, too many reviews of loneliness-alleviation options have mistakenly considered variations of the community-referral-and-connection concept and other initiatives as substitutes or stand-alone schemes, without investigating how they could be packaged so that they complement each other in addressing loneliness. However, such investigations are important. For example, the success of a community-referral-and-connection regime would depend critically on the range and quality of potential places-to-belong with which people who feel lonely could be linked (Jopling, et al, 2020a, pp. 24, 30; World Health Organisation, 2022).

A programme design that incorporates a community-referral-and-connection framework and complementary schemes appropriately recognises the multi-faceted nature and complexity of the loneliness-alleviation task. Therefore, it provides a basis for efficient targeting of the various requirements of loneliness-alleviation and is consistent with long-recognised principles of programme design. Of course, the multiple components need to function well for the complex intervention to be effective and efficient (Husk, et al, 2020, p. 319; Tinbergen, 1952; Hansen, 1955).

Community-referral-and-connection also needs to be complemented by advocacy of government action to address "structural" mechanisms of social exclusion (a cause of feelings of loneliness)

³³ In the UK, coproduction has also been widely perceived as a means of improving health care services, particularly through involvement of new forms of care other than traditional health services (Felipe, et al, 2017).

³⁴ The concept of "coproduction" and its potential to activate synergies has been attributed to Elinor Ostrom. She formulated the concept in conjunction with her husband Vincent Ostrom and others at Indiana University in the late 1970s (reflected in Parks, Ostrom, Ostrom, et al, 1981). The concept of efficiency-improving coproduction was part of the foundation for Elinor Ostrom's work on cooperative management of natural resources by multiple users that pre-empts wasteful overexploitation. This work led to her being awarded the Nobel Prize in Economic Sciences in 2009. While she did not use the term "coproduction" in her groundbreaking book, *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions of Collective Action* (Ostrom, 1990), the concept of efficiency-improving coproduction was evident in this work.

based on social, economic, regulatory, and other structures for which governments are responsible. These mechanisms include material deprivation, disability, language difficulties, macroeconomic policy settings, and discrimination or stigmatisation for a variety of reasons, such as race, culture, gender, sexual orientation, and other attributes (Evers, et al, 2024; Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023).

Because a community-referral-and-connection regime reaches beyond hubs to engage members of district or regional communities in helping other members experiencing feelings of loneliness, it can provide benefits to a broad community base. This includes not only people experiencing loneliness, but also others who help alleviate the affliction of those who feel lonely.

Despite the intuitive appeal of community-referral-and-connection as a mechanism for alleviating loneliness, an impediment to its adoption in some hubs could be a desire for a much simpler response to the complex problem of loneliness. However, simple solutions that are sound are rarely available for complex problems.

A related obstacle could be constraints on resources available to establish and support a communityreferral-and-connection framework, and to address any gaps or deficiencies in the range of potential places-to-belong. The resource costs include not only financial allocations, but also the value of the services of volunteers in their best alternative use (opportunity costs). Resource costs will not be low because some people experiencing loneliness may need considerable support in identifying and accessing potential places-to-belong. In addition, follow-up support may be prolonged because the time and effort required to build friendships is typically substantial as indicated by results of research (Hall, 2019) outlined in a preceding sub-section on Importance of Improving Community Connections.

Adequate resourcing through external funding and/or recruitment and retention of volunteers is a critically important requirement for establishment, maintenance, and longevity of a community-referral-and-connection framework. Lack of resourcing would let down supporters and potential beneficiaries of the framework.

In the United Kingdom, where community-referral-and-connection schemes have been widely deployed, numerous quantitative assessments of various schemes have been undertaken. These assessments have covered large and small schemes involving a diversity of approaches, targeted issues, and targeted populations. Elsewhere, where deployment of community-referral-and-connection is in its infancy, it appears that few assessments have been undertaken (Herrmann, et al, 2021; Reinhardt, Vidovic and Hammerton, 2021). This is certainly applies in Australia.

Many quantitative assessments have considered outcomes only. Some have considered costs as well as outcomes. The included outcomes and costs have differed between studies. The quality of studies has varied widely.

Decreases in loneliness, and improvements in social connections, mental health, and overall wellbeing following deployment of community-referral-and-connection frameworks have been widely reported. However, some studies have focussed mainly or exclusively on physical and mental health outcomes, without consideration of loneliness. Most outcomes have been measured over short periods of time, even though it may take years for health effects of loneliness alleviation to become clear.

An example of a local study focussed solely on outcomes was an investigation of communityreferral-and-connection (social prescribing) frameworks in five localities in metropolitan Brisbane and the Gold Coast. The investigation was based on a comparative longitudinal survey of 63 clients of these schemes and 51 regular GP patients (not selected randomly), and interviews with 15 clients of the Queensland schemes and 15 community-connections facilitators (link workers) drawn from 10 schemes in Queensland, New South Wales, and Victoria. The longitudinal survey had three contact times during a period of 18 months: on commencement, after 8 weeks, and at the end of the survey period. It was ascertained that after 18 months, there had been significant reductions in feelings of loneliness and distress, and significant improvements in perceived health compared to the starting point and the comparison group. The interviews revealed that the magnitude of these effects was strongly influenced by the members of groups to which clients were connected and by the quality of relationships developed between community-connections facilitators and clients (Sharman, et al, 2023). Obviously, the assessment period was not sufficiently long to reveal medium- and long-term health benefits of the community-referral-and-connection schemes included in the assessment.

Another example of a study focussed solely on outcomes was an investigation of a communityreferral-and-connection scheme operating in Nottinghamshire and supported by the UK National Health Service. This longitudinal study found significant improvements in quality of life after about four months that were sustained after another two to five months. The authors concluded that community-referral-and-connection works (Wakefield, et al, 2022). It is noteworthy that the assessment period was too short to capture medium- and long-term health benefits of alleviation of loneliness.

An important insight emerged from a recent investigation concerned only with a limited range of outcomes in a specific cohort. The results of the study suggested that the appeal of community-referral-and-connection as a framework for alleviating loneliness and consequential health issues should <u>not</u> be construed as meaning that this scheme can be viewed as a basis for curing serious health issues that already exist when the framework is put in place. Those medical issues typically will require medical responses. The review covered eight UK and US studies that considered health outcomes over periods of three to 24 months from community-referral-and-connection programmes for adults being treated for multiple medical conditions while living independently. It was reported that there was limited evidence that these programmes had positive effects on the physical and mental health of such people in the assessment timeframes. Loneliness was not a primary focus of any of the eight studies. Only three considered social connection as a secondary outcome. They did not report improvements in social connection (Kiely, et al, 2022).

Quantitative assessments ideally should include all relevant social benefits and social costs. Most of the quantitative assessments of community-referral-and-connection programmes that considered a range of outcomes and costs yielded positive results, even though assessment periods were not long enough to include medium- and long-term health effects (Kimberlee, et al, 2022; Polley, et al, 2022; Bickerdike, et al, 2017).

An example of a large, credible quantitative study including and comparing social benefits and costs was one undertaken in respect of a national programme conducted by the British Red Cross. A social benefit/cost ratio of 3.42 was estimated, but because the results were sensitive to the valuation of subjective wellbeing, a 95 per cent confidence interval was estimated. Its range of social benefit/cost ratios was from 2.4 to 4.45 (Foster, et al, 2021). This relatively attractive estimated social benefit-cost ratio range was obtained even though the assessment period was too short to pick up medium- and long-term health benefits.

Young people were the focus of a quantitative study of a community-referral-and-connection pilot programme in Sheffield over a period of 6 months. The age range was 11-24 years with an average

age of 17 years. The gender split was reasonably balanced. Just over half of the young people had longstanding physical and/or mental illness. The estimated social benefit/cost ratio of 5.04 for the Sheffield youth programme was above the average (3.19) estimated for similar adult community-referral-and-connection programmes in other locations in England by assessment teams with the same core group from the University of East London (Bertotti, Frostick, et al, 2020). Medium- and long-term health benefits of loneliness alleviation would not have been captured by the Sheffield youth study and the core team's similar adult studies because of short assessment periods.

The quantitative results of many assessments appear to endorse the qualitative analytical (intuitive) support for a community-referral-and-connection approach, and the considerable enthusiasm for implementation. However, there has been some criticism of many quantitative studies, even though critics often have acknowledged the promise of a community-referral-and-connection approach. Typical criticisms related to short assessment periods, incomplete benefit ranges included in assessments, neglect of costs in many studies, inadequate economic rigour or guidance, and insufficient use of randomised controlled trials or matched controlled trials (Bickerdike, et al, 2017; Costa, et al, 2021; Herrmann, et al, 2021; Reinhardt, Vidovic and Hammerton, 2021; Kimberlee, et al, 2022). However, opinion is divided on the practicality of randomised or matched controlled trials for a complex intervention like community-referral-and-connection (Kimberlee, et al, 2022).

An additional complication is that schemes described as social prescribing (community-referral-andconnection) have been heterogenous, covering a wide spectrum of designs and different purposes (Reinhardt, Vidovic and Hammerton, 2021; Sandhu, et al, 2022). Quantitative analysis ideally should compare various versions of community-referral-and-connection having the objective of alleviation of loneliness, and comparative analysis should extend to any other mechanisms that could be reasonably regarded as alternative overarching frameworks for addressing loneliness.

Some analysts have argued that methodological issues have meant that the quantitative evidence produced so far is insufficient to endorse or reject community-referral-and-connection approaches to alleviation of loneliness. They have proposed additional quantitative analyses that address methodological issues that have undermined the credibility of many past quantitative studies (Bickerdike, et al, 2017; Husk, et al, 2020; Costa, et al, 2021). Other analysts have noted that the available quantitative studies generally support community-referral-and-connection programmes, and that some methodological improvements, such as longer assessment periods and consideration of broader ranges of benefits, would tend to reinforce the prevalence of positive outcomes (Kimberlee, et al, 2022). Still, the evidence base for community-referral-and-connection schemes needs to be improved before it can properly validate the widespread enthusiasm for application of this approach to loneliness-alleviation.

Digital Connections

Digital technology provides historically unsurpassed opportunities for people to interact with others. Therefore, digital technology appears to offer considerable potential as a means of alleviating Ioneliness. Paradoxically, however, the potential of digital connections to alleviate Ioneliness has not been realised despite increasing digital connectivity over the past 15 years. Indeed, Ioneliness has increased substantially in the most-digitally-connected cohort, adolescents and young adults (Gaboury, 2020, pp. 104-105; Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, pp. 11, 105; Parkinson, 2022; Hall, Pennington and Merolla, 2023; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023a; Mackay, 2024, p. 106). It has been found that loneliness in Australia is correlated with social media <u>addiction</u>. The latter problem is most common among adolescents and younger adults, and declines with age (Ending Loneliness Together, 2023a).

A trend of declining physical-presence (space-sharing) social connections and breakdown of community that commenced in the late 1960s (Putnum, 2000; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023) has not been reversed or halted by increasing digital connectivity (Franklin, et al, 2019, p. 130; Gaboury, 2020, pp. 104-105, 148; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023a). Also, digital connections apparently have not provided adequate substitutes for space-sharing connections (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, pp. 259-260; Hari, 2018, pp. 95-98; Franklin, et al, 2019, pp. 135-136; Gaboury, 2020, p. 87; Hall, Pennington and Merolla, 2023; Holt-Lunstad, 2023; Mackay, 2024, pp. 25-27).

There are various reasons why rising digital connectivity does not appear to have reduced the prevalence and degree of loneliness (Murthy, 2020, pp. 101-120, 220; Brennan, 2021; Parkinson, 2022; Beckers, et al, 2022; Coates, 2023a; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023; Mackay, 2024, pp. 25-27, 106-113, 299):

- substitution of digital connections for space sharing or physically getting together
 (connections "in real life"),³⁵ and consequent deterioration of the <u>quality</u> of relationships,
 because, inter alia, digital connections are more likely to be superficial, lack the richness and
 subtlety of space-sharing interaction including genuine eye contact, and short-cut the
 getting-to-know-each-other process that is an important part of development of meaningful
 relationships based on common interests and purposes
- feelings of social exclusion triggered by cyberbullying and misleading depictions of interesting, exciting, fun-experiences of peers on social media
- the social-distancing and facade-creating opportunities allowed by digital connections that facilitate a form of withdrawal from community
- absence of or limited digital connectivity for people who lack sufficient resources, are otherwise disadvantaged, or have been left behind in taking up digital technology and knowledge of how to exploit its potential (eg, older people).

Nevertheless, digital connections appear to have unrealised potential to help alleviate loneliness. There are various arguments that have been offered to support this view.

First, digital interaction may be perceived as a safer, less stressful way of exploring potential connections than through space-sharing. Second, the weakening of visual, auditory and contextual signals in digital interaction, might induce more sharing of stories and feelings, leading to deeper relationships. Third, digital interaction is more likely to alleviate loneliness if the main reason for engaging in it is to reduce feelings of loneliness or obtain a feeling of belonging (Shah and Househ, 2023). Fourth, digital interaction is better than no interaction. Fifth, the potential of digital interaction of digital interactions to help alleviate loneliness may be unlocked by encouraging the application of digital technology to initiate meaningful connections through arrangement of physical-presence involvement with others for a common purpose. Sixth, digital interactions can help maintain relationships established through physical-presence interactions (Murthy, 2020, pp. 114-120, 220; Beckers, et al, 2022; Hall, Pennington and Merolla, 2023; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 51; Berg-Weger, Cudjoe and Lyu, 2024).

³⁵ The term "in real life" or the acronym "IRL" has often been used to distinguish reality from something happening digitally or online.

Physical presence is the preferred form of engagement with others to address loneliness (cultivate feelings of belonging) according to available research results (Mackay, 2024, p. 77; Hall, Pennington and Merolla, 2023; Hall, Holmstrom and Totzkay, 2023; Reed, 2023; Grangie, 2022; Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 57). Forms of digital interaction that are not simply superficial could usefully <u>complement</u> engagement involving physical presence or provide backup when there are major impediments to space sharing. These forms could include online communities, and video-conferencing tools that allow virtual social gatherings or other common-purpose gatherings (Brennan, 2021; Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, pp. 111-113; Coates, 2023a; Mackay, 2024, p. 77; Berg-Weger, Cudjoe and Lyu, 2024).

Realisation of the potential of digital connections to play a useful role in alleviation of loneliness might also be facilitated by setting up a digital-resourcing-and-connections hub in the form of a website and apps to supplement the functions of community-based hubs. This digital facility would contribute by:

- providing articles and other useful material on the nature, significance, and consequences of loneliness
- including a link to access "social connectedness" or "belonging" surveys, such as a shortform questionnaire linked to the UCLA loneliness scale
- helping those feeling lonely to move towards meaningful, durable community connections (and feelings of belonging) based on space sharing with other people
- providing information about existing physical-presence groups and activities (such as those outlined below), categorised by type of activity and geographical area
- facilitating access to services available to address issues that tend to complicate feelings of loneliness
- extending the connective reach of community-based hubs
- facilitating inter-hub cooperative activity, including exchange of knowledge and ideas about loneliness-alleviation initiatives, and thereby helping improve the collective and individual performance of hubs.

An obstacle to realisation of the full potential of digital connections to play a useful role in alleviation of loneliness is that some people have been reluctant or unable to take advantage of available digital technology. These phenomena are most common among older people or others who lack resources, respectively.

The use of digital connections to support initiation and development of meaningful connections with others is consistent with the categorisation of digital technology as "supporting infrastructure" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches discussed above.

Assessment of Digital Connections

Digital technology is a "two-edged sword". There is a danger that it could lead to fleeting and/or superficial connections. Alternatively, it could facilitate meaningful, enduring connections. So, it is important to encourage reorientation of online activity towards making meaningful connections involving physical presence.

Digital technology provides opportunities for people who feel lonely to subtly or overtly signal desires for meaningful connections with others, and to take steps in that direction. Consequently, it could help with the task of finding people experiencing or at risk of loneliness.

In relation to finding potential places-to-belong, digital technology facilitates exploration for and investigation of options by those who feel lonely. One direct approach would involve compilation

and uploading of relevant material to a digital-resourcing-and-connections hub focussed on alleviation of loneliness.

Unfortunately, a tendency of people who are chronically lonely to withdraw socially or behave in ways that could put others off might impede self-initiated digital connections. In such cases, digital technology could be deployed by those seeking to help people feeling lonely. These supporters could digitally access information to facilitate appropriate connections.

It has been incorrectly assumed that adolescents and young adults will welcome lonelinessalleviation initiatives that have digital components or bases. In the United Kingdom, a survey of young people aged 16-24 years who self-identified as feeling lonely found that participants had reservations about initiatives being entirely online or having digital components (Eager, et al, 2024).

There are some other impediments to realising the potential of digital connections as a means of alleviating loneliness, in addition to the perverse effects outlined above. While adolescents and adults aged under30 years are the most-digitally-connected cohort, disadvantaged people may not have access to suitable digital technology. Also, some older people lack access because of fear of technology, not knowing how to start, or some form of disadvantage (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020, p. 193).

An evidence and gap map of digital interventions to alleviate loneliness and social isolation among older adults covered 200 articles (103 primary studies and 97 systematic reviews) that considered effects of such initiatives. Interventions were allocated to five categories (Welch, Ghogomu, Barbeau, et al, 2023):

- improvement of social skills training in use of digital technology to facilitate communication and access to information
- enhancement of social interaction facilitating digital connections with family, friends, and helpers in the community
- improvement of access to health and social care support
- facilitating digital access to cognitive training/therapy
- multi-component interventions incorporating a mix of the those above.

The compilers of the evidence and gap map classified 72 per cent of investigations as "critically low quality" and only 2 per cent as "high quality". They did not identify digital interventions considered to be effective or ineffective (Welch, Ghogomu, Barbeau, et al, 2023).

The evidence and gap map did not provide a separate category for initiatives focussed on application of digital technology to facilitate meaningful connections through arrangement of physical-presence involvement with others for a common purpose. There was no mention of initiatives that could be categorised in this way. Also, the compilers of the evidence and gap map did not mention how digital interventions might positively complement other initiatives to alleviate loneliness. These are major oversights in the literature and/or in the compilation of the evidence and gap map.

The compilers of the evidence and gap map noted that none of the 200 articles assessed the effects of lack of access to and knowledge of digital technology. This is an important gap in the literature on digital connections to alleviate loneliness and social isolation among older adults (Welch, Ghogomu, Barbeau, et al, 2023).

In any event, the digital connections concept would not be suitable as a stand-alone device for alleviating loneliness, as it requires support from other mechanisms to be effective. However, it could be a valuable complement to an overarching loneliness alleviation framework, such as the

community-referral-and-connection scheme outlined above, and to various initiatives providing potential places-to-belong for those who feel lonely, such as those discussed in subsequent subsections in this document (Rice, 2023). A digital-resourcing-and-connections hub in the form of a website and apps could provide: educational material regarding loneliness and its consequences; an explanation of the structure, role, and functions of a community-referral-and connection framework; and a directory setting out information about potential-places-to-belong.

Alleviation of Loneliness through Helping Others

An oblique, but very powerful means of facilitating community connections for those who feel lonely is to involve them as volunteers in groups focussed on helping other people. People experiencing loneliness could be given opportunities to join existing groups in hubs and in the communities encompassing them. Alternatively, they could be invited to participate in new groups established by a hub to help others. Indeed, people feeling lonely could be involved in setting up new helping groups.

Getting people who feel lonely involved in helping others could be categorised as "ad hoc connection opportunities" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches provided above. In that taxonomy, general encouragement of volunteering to help others has been categorised as a "jurisdiction-wide" initiative.

The range of potential helping opportunities is limited only by the combined imaginations of organisers of helping groups. Local examples of such groups include branches of Anglican Mothers Union that are involved in various activities to help others, *Trinity Pantry* organised by Holy Trinity Anglican Church in Fortitude Valley to support people in difficult circumstances, and a *Thread Together* partnership involving St Andrew's Anglican Church at Indooroopilly and Anglicare Southern Queensland that supplies people in need with new clothes that otherwise would have been dumped by clothing enterprises.

Volunteers to help others could be recruited within and outside a loneliness-alleviation hub by a combination of information dissemination, open invitations, direct targeting, and a community-referral-and-connection scheme. The third and fourth methods would help to ensure that the group includes some people suspected of being lonely or at risk of loneliness, and those methods are more likely to be successful in recruiting lonely volunteers and alleviating their feelings of loneliness. The latter occurs because volunteers can be informed individually why they have been asked or invited to participate, indicating they are valued and needed, and thereby cultivating a sense of self-worth and belonging (Cacioppo, 2022, p. 136). In addition, direct targeting and a community-referral-and-connection scheme can address informational deficiencies about where and how to volunteer to help others.

Recruitment of volunteers to help others could include young adults, adolescents, and preadolescents, who could work with older adults or with peers. An example of young people helping peers is the *We-Dine-Together* initiative in schools in the United States that is discussed in the subsection on Food-Facilitated Friendships below.

Within parish-based hubs, feelings of loneliness could be perceived as an invitation to improve connections or friendship with God and other people (Gaboury, 2020, pp. 10-12, 147-159; Whetham and Whetham, 2020, p. 115) – to love God and love your neighbour, broadly defined to include the stranger (Luke 10:25-37; Matthew 22: 36-40; Mark 12: 28-34). These connections can be facilitated by delving into the scriptures to review many stories about others who moved closer to God in their

loneliness (documented in Gaboury, 2020), and to be reminded that it is more beneficial to give than to receive (Acts 20: 35). The latter can be confirmed by action, as research by psychologists and economists has shown (Holt-Lunstad, 2021; Ryan, et al, 2019; Ludden, 2017, p. 5; Frey, 2008, p. 86).

Loneliness of helpers is alleviated because of an opportunity to collaborate and connect with others on a cause that is genuinely meaningful to those helpers, and to work and interact with and make a difference in the lives of people in need. These experiences typically provide a feeling of belonging and a sense of purpose. The benefits of connecting with other helpers and people receiving help are combined with the satisfaction of seeing up close how the results of those connections have improved the circumstances of all people involved.

A wide range of helping opportunities is desirable to cater for the widely different circumstances, interests, and preferences of potential volunteers. There are likely to be existing opportunities in all communities. Also, there are likely to be niches that parish-based hubs could identify and consider filling. The range of opportunities can be increased not only by establishing new helping schemes, but also by tailoring roles within schemes to suit individual volunteers. These tailored roles may change over time as personal preferences and feelings change in response to helping experiences (Williams, et al, 2022).

Some of the people being helped by these initiatives may have felt lonely or may have been in danger of becoming lonely, as well as having been experiencing a need that was the primary focus of the helping response. Their feelings of loneliness may be alleviated through connections formed with other people being helped or with helpers, or because of improvements in their ability to relate to others and to feel they belong. An example of the last category is the participation of St Gabriel's (Carindale) in the nationwide *Kids Hope* programme. It involves an adult mentoring the same child for one hour each week. The programme has been shown to produce positive changes in various aspects of the lives of mentored children. A review of a similar programme in the United States found that these changes included a greater sense of belonging with peers, alleviating (risk of) loneliness (Murthy, 2020, p. 177).

Assessment of Alleviation of Loneliness through Helping Others

There is substantial evidence from recent research that involving people (including adolescents) who feel lonely in activities to help others simultaneously alleviates feelings of loneliness, enriches the lives of those with whom those experiencing loneliness collaborate, and improves the circumstances of those being helped (Cacioppo and Patrick, 2008, chs 13, 14; Charles and Wolfer, 2018; Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020, p. 41; Productivity Commission, 2020, pp. 391-392; Murthy, 2020, pp. 163-168, 179-181; Lim, et al, 2021; Mackay, 2021b; Holt-Lunstad, 2021; Cacioppo, 2022, pp. 136-137; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, pp. 21, 48). This finding is indirectly supported by other psychological and economic research that has shown that those who help others benefit as much or more than the people they help (Holt-Lunstad, 2021; Ryan, et al, 2019; Ludden, 2017, p. 5; Frey, 2008, p. 86). These research results are consistent with the Biblical insight, "It is more blessed to give than receive" (Acts 20: 35 NIV).

Further support for these findings has been provided by neurobiological research that feelings of loneliness are associated with alterations in the structure and functions of parts of the brain that are involved in aspects of wisdom, including emotional regulation, self-reflection, empathy, compassion, and discernment.³⁶ A strong and consistent inverse correlation has been found between the

³⁶ See Thomas Meeks and Dilip Jeste (2009) for an overview of literature on the neurobiology of aspects of wisdom.

personality traits of loneliness and wisdom, especially the empathy/compassion component of wisdom (Lam, et al, 2021; Badcock, Preece, and Badcock, 2023).³⁷ This strengthens the case for finding ways of involving people experiencing loneliness in activities that help others.

The focus on volunteering to help others, rather than just volunteering, is intentional. Volunteering to help others is "other-oriented volunteering", while other forms of volunteering may be "self-oriented volunteering". Of course, "other oriented volunteering" is much more likely to benefit others than "self-oriented volunteering". In addition, researchers have found that the health and well-being benefits that volunteering to help others provides to "other-oriented volunteers" substantially exceed the benefits that volunteering delivers to those engaged in "self-oriented volunteering" (Yeung, et al, 2018).

Inviting people experiencing loneliness to help others is a much more effective way of alleviating their loneliness than trying to help them directly in some other way. This is so because being asked for assistance signals that the person is valued, needed, wanted, and accepted, rather than invisible (Cacioppo, 2022, p. 136). Moreover, those who ask people to help others can address the important obstacle of not knowing where and how to start volunteering. Research by Volunteering Queensland (2024, pp. 4, 32) has revealed that 23.3 per cent of people surveyed who were not volunteering said they had never been asked or were unsure how to volunteer. This composite obstacle was the second ranking reason for not volunteering after "no time". The latter reason suggests that the opportunity cost of time (the value of time in alternative uses considered more important) was deemed to be too high to warrant allocating time to volunteering.

A "virtuous cycle" of helping others and social connection has been observed. Helping others improves community connections, and better community connections tend to induce more helping (Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 21).

Helping groups should include young people, who could collaborate with their peers or with (older) adults. Adolescents and young adults experience loneliness as much or more than older adults. They can benefit from helping others as older adults do. Young people can be valuable helpers of other young people. In addition, volunteering by young people to help others can facilitate future employment.

The doing and purposeful features of helping others may make it easier for lonely people to become involved in groups undertaking such activities than in groups that are mainly relational. These considerations are relevant to facilitation of connections by young people (Parkinson and Jensen, 2023b).

The social benefits of helping people experiencing loneliness through their involvement in helping others outweigh the social costs. Volunteers signal by their involvement that benefits accruing to them exceed costs to them, or that they consider they are morally obliged to become involved because their participation yields social benefits in excess of social costs. Targets of helping activities receive benefits without incurring costs, provided that the help is provided in a way that is not condescending, demeaning or otherwise harmful.³⁸ Indeed, nett benefits to those in both the

³⁷ While loneliness is associated with adverse physical and mental health, wisdom is associated with better mental and physical health (Lam, et al, 2021).

³⁸ Marcel Mauss (1925, 1990, pp. 83-84), among others, argued contentiously that that all giving is selfinterested and is based on expectations of reciprocity or reciprocal responses to the giving of others that reflect cultural or societal norms. He also argued that unconditional giving is demeaning and wounding to recipients. The first claim has been disputed by many credible analysts, such as Adam Smith (1759); Richard Titmuss (1971), Edmund Phelps (1975), Kenneth Arrow (1975), Partha Dasgupta (2005), Paul Collier and John

helped and helper categories depend on people in both categories having autonomy or free agency (Ryan, et al, 2019).

Unfortunately, helping activities of various types are *ad hoc* patches of light, not comprehensive loneliness-alleviation programmes. A wide variety of helping groups and other interest/activity groups will be required to appeal to the varying preferences of different people. Also, these *ad hoc* initiatives typically do not have in-built arrangements for finding people who feel lonely and encouraging them to join other helpers. These drawbacks could be addressed by linking various helping groups and other interest/activity groups through a digital-connections mechanism and a complementary, overarching loneliness alleviation framework, such as a community-referral-and-connection scheme, both of which are outlined above. In this context, helping groups could be important elements of a loneliness-alleviation programme.

Establishment of schemes that involve people experiencing loneliness in helping others is an important way of increasing the potency of a community-referral-and-connection regime and a digital-resourcing-and-connections mechanism. Helping schemes are potentially satisfying places-to-belong with which people who feel lonely could be connected by a community-referral-and-connection regime (Tierney, et al, 2022; Turk, et al, 2022; Williams, et al, 2022; Nichol, et al, 2023). Also, a digital-resourcing-and-connections mechanism could guide those with feelings of loneliness to schemes in which they can help themselves by helping others.

Food-Facilitated Friendships

Open invitations to attend regular, organised get togethers over meals or snacks with tea/coffee provide opportunities for people (at risk of) feeling lonely to create new friendships and consolidate previous connections. Key requirements for success of such events are an inclusive culture and discouragement of cliques.

Examples of such initiatives are *Coffee on Wednesdays* at St John's Anglican Cathedral in central Brisbane,³⁹ *Coomera Craft Circle* at St Matthew's Anglican Church in the northern Gold Coast, *Thursdays at St Mark's* at The Gap Anglican Church in Brisbane, *The Well Community Café* operated by Freshwater Anglican Parish in Deception Bay, *Cuppa with Company* at Christ Church Anglican Church in Childers, the *Eating with Friends* programme in various locations in Australia, the *Chatty Café* concept offered at venues across Australia, and *We Dine Together* in numerous schools in the United States.

Coffee on Wednesdays (COWS) attracts regular and occasional attendees for conversation, a range of cakes and snack foods, and tea and coffee. Everything is free. *COWS* is open to everyone. *COWS* embraces people who are lonely and others who are not. It creates and cements connections. It is scheduled on Wednesdays from 10 am to 2 pm.

Kay (2020), and Hugh Mackay (2021a), who observed much unselfish giving. The second claim has been heavily qualified by many analysts, such as James Buchanan (1975), Romand Coles (1997), Steve Corbett and Brian Fikkert (2012), Al Barrett (2018), Brian Fikkert and Kelly Kapic (2019a, b), and Richard Ryan, et al (2019), who have explained that helping does not hurt recipients if it is not simply focussed on a short-term quick fix, it accepts that humanity is characterised by heterogeneity, and it involves working closely with and ensuring personal autonomy of people being helped (including listening attentively and learning from them), rather than telling them what to do or doing things for them. Romand Coles (1996) referred to such giving as "receptive generosity".

³⁹ St Paul's Anglican Church in Ipswich also offers COWS.

Coomera Craft Circle members get together fortnightly for a "cuppa and chat". Participants take turns to provide food for these gatherings. Members also knit and crochet items for the St John's Crisis Care ministry for the homeless based in Surfers Paradise and for indigenous children in foster care with Anglicare SQ on the Gold Coast. A survey of participants revealed that none became involved to do craft work. Many participants are from the wider community. Backgrounds and circumstances of participants are varied, but many were lonely when they joined. Participants have coalesced into an effective mutual support group, as well as a providing help to disadvantaged people outside the group (Creed, 2022). This group could also be cited as an example of the concept of people experiencing loneliness helping others that was discussed in the previous sub-section.

Thursdays at St Mark's is a very informal opportunity for members of the wider community of The Gap to get together for company and conversation over tea, coffee, and biscuits in air-conditioned comfort. Attendees are welcome to bring, knitting, mending, or artwork. *Thursdays at St Mark's* is scheduled from 9.30 am to 12 noon on Thursdays. It reflects a strong focus on addressing loneliness in the parish's vision and mission plan.

Freshwater Community Café operates in conjunction with the Freshwater Anglican Op Shop (9 am to 2 pm) on Wednesdays. Both are staffed by volunteers. The core mission of the community café is to provide a space where people can come to meet, share food and coffee/tea together, support each other, and promote community initiatives. The café sells barista coffee, tea, milkshakes, snack foods (such as muffins), and light lunches at reasonable prices. "Suspended Coffee" is available for those unable to pay. Gifts of coffee (donated anonymously) are represented by hanging tags that can be unhooked and presented to receive a cup of coffee or tea without charge. Live music is another feature of the *Freshwater Community Café*.

Cuppa and Company is a community-of-care initiative underpinned by the belief that no one should be lonely. It is scheduled on Tuesday mornings from 10 am to 12 noon. Coffee, tea, and food are provided free of charge to attendees. Christ Church members contribute food. Board games, cards, and craft activities appeal to some participants, but chatting over morning tea/coffee is the main activity. About two-thirds of attendees have not previously been members of the Christ Church congregation (Barker, 2023).

Eating with Friends was started in 2000 in Tasmania in response to concerns expressed by *Meals on Wheels* volunteers about people eating alone, and associated feelings of loneliness. It now operates in 34 Tasmanian communities (Neighbourhood Houses Tasmania, 2022). It has also been adopted elsewhere, for example, the East Creek Community Centre in Toowoomba (Ending Loneliness Together, 2023b).

The *Eating with Friends* programme aims to promote "social eating" to encourage connections with others. The programme operates in three formats, with each recovering costs from participants. A community-based model involves community groups and volunteers organising and hosting a meal at a local community venue. An eating-out model features visits to cafes and restaurants, or volunteers hosting a meal and outsourcing meal preparation. Under a school model, students organise and host a meal at their school or a community venue. Nutritious food is featured to encourage good eating habits (Neighbourhood Houses Tasmania, 2022; Beyond Blue, 2023).

Chatty Café Scheme Australia (2023) encourages hospitality venues and community-focussed groups to participate in building friendly social connections over beverages and food to contribute to alleviation of loneliness and social isolation. The *Chatty Café* concept was initiated in the United Kingdom and subsequently spread elsewhere. In southern Queensland there are *Chatty Café* venues

in Maleny (10.30 am to 12 noon, Tuesdays in Maleny Library), Albion in Brisbane (Carriage Brasserie in Clayfield retirement village, 10 am to 12 noon, second and fourth Friday in each month), Carindale in Brisbane (Carindale Café in Aveo retirement village, 10 am to 1 pm first and third Friday in each month) and Varsity Lakes on the Gold Coast (AIRspresso, 10 am to 11 am fortnightly on Fridays). Each venue provides a "chatty table or tables". To encourage conversations, some venues allocate "chatty volunteers" (trained by *Chatty Café Scheme Australia*) to "chatty tables". Typically, participants buy beverages and food for themselves at the venue, but in the case of the Maleny Library, the local Lions Club provides refreshments. The Lions Club also recruits "chatty volunteers".

We-Dine-Together was initiated by a lonely boy who noticed that other students at his high school in Florida also seemed to be lonely and this was apparent at lunchtimes. He recruited two other boys to help address this matter. If they noticed someone who seemed to be lonely, they would invite that person to join a *We-Dine-Together* group at lunchtimes. The group grew quickly to more than 50 students. Feelings of loneliness were alleviated. Friendships developed beyond lunchtimes. Subsequently, *We-Dine-Together* clubs were established in many other schools (Murthy, 2020, pp. 270-271). A similar concept *No One Eats Alone* has been incorporated into Beyond Differences' broader school-based loneliness-alleviation programme (Beyond Differences, 2024).

The food-facilitated friendships concept could be funded by participants or from other sources. Funding requirements will depend on the nature of and venue for events.

Initiatives applying the food-facilitated friendships concept have been characterised as "*ad hoc* community connections" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches offered above.

Assessment of Food-Facilitated Friendships

Programmes intended to facilitate friendships over beverages and meals or snacks are likely to be helpful devices for alleviation of loneliness. However, there are negatives to be considered.

Inclusivity suggests accommodation of food intolerances and low-budget events or events that are free for participants. Lavish events are not necessary to facilitate social connections. Low-budget offerings make it easier for sponsors to support frequent free or nominally priced events.

Inclusivity also suggests that the focus should be on connections, not on consumption. Desirably, arrangements will be sensitive to eating disorders that may induce some self-exclusion.

The food-facilitated friendship concept does not include structured processes for finding people experiencing loneliness and at risk of feeling lonely. It relies on informal mechanisms such as word-of-mouth, individual motivation, and simple advertising.

The concept is a niche initiative. Although every bit helps, niche programmes need to be teamed with a range of other initiatives that in aggregate can significantly alleviate loneliness. These events could be promoted through a digital-resourcing-and-connections mechanism and linked with a broader-based programme under an overarching framework, such as community-referral-and-connection. The narrowly focussed events and broader-based initiatives would be complementary.

Support after Loss of Someone Close

Bereavement of a partner is a widely recognised trigger for feelings of loneliness. Loss of a close friend and a relationship breakdown are also loneliness triggers (see Attachment A).

These traumatic separations not only obliterate an "emotional" or "intimate" connection, but also may disrupt other connections in a pre-existing social network. The latter may result from new feelings of awkwardness or discomfort from being different to or no longer sharing experiences with those in the network with partners or other continuing close connections. Also, such feelings may arise because the pre-existing social networks had been established by the lost partner or close friend. So, a traumatic separation may also lead to a fading of former friendships, adding to the suffering associated with the loss of someone close (Weiss, 1973, pp. 77, 95-96, 145; Collier and Kay, 2020, p. 45).

Groups could be established to help these people make friends based on shared experiences. In the United Kingdom, *Minus-One Groups* have been established to help bereaved people establish friendships with others with similar experiences. These groups have flourished (Collier and Kay, 2020, p. 45).

Age UK Oxfordshire initiated *Late Spring*, a bereavement support programme for people over 60 years of age. About 25 groups were established in Oxfordshire. Age UK has also established bereavement support groups across the United Kingdom.

Late Spring provides opportunities to meet twice a month for coffee/tea, cake, conversation, and peer support. Group facilitators guide discussion and ensure inclusion. Before initial attendance, a prospective participant receives a telephone call from a group facilitator to gain an understanding of the new participant's circumstances, convey information about *Late Spring*, and ensure the participant knows someone at his/her first meeting with the group (Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 44).

A similar concept has been initiated by St Gabriel's Anglican Church in Carindale, Brisbane. There, senior women meet for morning tea once a week, work together on craft products for sale at a monthly market in the church grounds to raise funds to help others, and check on the wellbeing of those present and missing. They are seeking ways of involving others in similar circumstances in the surrounding community.

The ideas underlying these support and friendship groups could be extended to those who have experienced loss of close friends or relationship breakdowns. Separate groups may be appropriate to accommodate people experiencing different types of loss. Possible group names could include *Phoenix* or *Next-Step*.

The idea of providing support to those who have lost someone close could be listed under "*ad hoc* connection opportunities" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches offered above.

Assessment of Support after Loss of Someone Close

Support and friendship groups or similar concepts would help address loneliness triggered by bereavement or relationship breakdowns. This is indicated by a survey of participants of the *Late Spring* programme (Jopling, et al, 2020a, p. 45).

However, these groups are likely to be imperfect substitutes for loss of someone close, particularly in the short term (Weiss, 1973, pp. 18-19; 227-228). However, with time, they can provide bases for transition to satisfying new connections with others.

Of course, these groups are narrowly focussed. Nevertheless, they can assist people in cohorts in which risk of loneliness is high.

People who have lost others close to them should not be hard to find. There are multiple avenues for finding potential participants and allowing them to find a bereavement (or other loss) support programme. However, encouraging involvement could be challenging in some cases.

A missing element in the concept is a process for connecting relevant people to others with whom they can feel they belong in addition to those in their local *Next Step* group.

These groups could be promoted through a digital-resourcing-and-connections mechanism and linked with broader-based community-referral-and-connection schemes. These initiatives would be complementary.

Tackling Loneliness Among Adolescents and Young Adults

Loneliness afflicts adolescents as well as adults. The incidence of chronic loneliness is highest in late teenage and young adult years, even though each young person may be surrounded by a crowd at school or university. Loneliness in adolescent years affects learning. Also, adolescent loneliness tends to continue into adult life and may lead to adverse behaviour in adult years (Murthy, 2020, pp. 244, 252, 264; Batsleer and Duggan, 2021; Murthy, Holt-Lunstad, et al, 2023, p. 34).

Social exclusion is a prominent cause of adolescent loneliness. It may result from bullying (being a victim or perpetrator) or from snubbing of those who have a disability, are different in some other way, appear shy, or are newcomers (Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, chs. 8, 9).

Other important influences on adolescents' feelings of loneliness are the stresses of various developmental and educational transitions that may be encountered within just one decade. Developmental transitions include puberty, discernment and revelation of sexual orientation, pursuit and collapse of romances, identity formation, and individuation from family. Educational transitions include moving from primary school to high school, changing schools, moving from high school to tertiary education, or from high school to the workforce on a fulltime basis. Young adults may experience feelings of loneliness following the transition from tertiary education to the workforce. Some transitional stresses may be exacerbated by accompanying changes in residential circumstances, and in extreme cases by being a refugee. Many transitions involve breaking established connections and having to make new connections. This may provide openings for social exclusion (Shah and Househ, 2023; Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, ch. 7).

Resource deprivation and shame associated with poverty restrict ability and inclination to share experiences and connect socially with others in ways that are not (self) destructive. This is manifested in a much higher incidence of loneliness among young people who experience poverty than among others in the same age cohort (Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, ch. 4). Poverty could be categorised as a mechanism of "structural" social exclusion (Barreto, Qualter and Doyle, 2023).

When potential initiatives to address feelings of loneliness among young people are being scrutinised, it is important to consider how to deal with fear of stigmatisation. This could be a major impediment to participation if their struggle with loneliness becomes known to peers or others who lack empathy because of poor understanding or cultural norms (Eager, et al, 2024; Rice, 2023Ellard, et al, 2023; Shah and Househ, 2023).

Most analyses of initiatives to alleviate loneliness have focussed entirely or predominantly on things that can be done to address loneliness among older people, particularly retirees (Eccles and Qualter, 2021; Shah and Househ, 2023; Eager, et al, 2024; Berg-Weger, Cudjoe and Lyu, 2024). In addition, most of the initiatives previously considered for young people have been targeted at those deemed

to be "at risk", such as young people with experience of autism or police attention (Eager, et al, 2024). Neglect of loneliness among other young people is not warranted.

The literature on initiatives to alleviate loneliness experienced by adolescents and young adults is relatively small. Nevertheless, at least six categories of initiatives have been found in that literature. Some categories overlap with others.

Community-referral-and-connection has not been prominent in published material on alleviation of loneliness among young people. However, it performs the important functions of "connector service" and an overarching or organising framework for a package of initiatives. It is just as applicable for young people as for older people (Bertotti, Frostick, et al, 2020; Bertotti, Hayes, et al, 2022; Rice, 2023; Anderson, 2024).

Digital connections have attracted considerable interest in surveys of initiatives to address loneliness among young people. It has often been assumed that adolescents and young adults will be highly receptive to loneliness-alleviation initiatives that have digital components or bases. However, a survey in the United Kingdom of young people aged 16-24 years who self-identified as feeling lonely found that participants had reservations about initiatives being entirely online or having digital components (Eager, et al, 2024). Analyses of the suitability of deployment of the "supporting infrastructure" of digital connections to address loneliness experienced by young people have yielded mixed results. It seems that digital support is most likely to be helpful if it is used to facilitate space-sharing (physical-presence) interactions.

Social support groups have been prominent in reviews of measures that could be deployed to address or pre-empt experiences of loneliness by young people. They could be arranged to help young people with life transitions. They would facilitate sharing of experiences, provision and receipt of advice, and establishment of friendships (Ellard, Dennison and Tuomainen, 2023). They could be included under the broader heading, *"ad hoc* connection opportunities".

Encouragement of social interaction, particularly in purpose-focussed groups, is another commonly suggested measure for pre-empting and addressing loneliness among young people. This measure is based on recognition that bringing together young people with shared interests and goals increases the likelihood of forming friendships (Eager, et, 2024). It could be incorporated in the broader category, "ad hoc connection opportunities".

Giving and receiving help from peers has been recognised as a mechanism for addressing loneliness among young people. Sometimes, this has simply involved small acts of care and kindness. Giving and receiving are foundations for friendships and opportunities to belong (Batsleer and Duggan, 2021, pp. 69, 122-124, 129, 175). This approach, which involves *"ad hoc* connection opportunities", has been neglected in most overviews of initiatives to address loneliness among young people.

Targeted psychological therapy and education were typically included in reviews of measures to deal with loneliness experiences of young people. They are meant to help young individuals change their thinking about interactions and relationships with others and improve their communication and other social skills. These psychoeducational activities could support a "connector service" and facilitate involvement in "ad hoc connection opportunities".

These initiatives could be deployed outside of, as well as within educational environments. In both contexts, packaging of measures or a multifaceted approach is required to facilitate tailoring to individual preferences and circumstances that vary greatly between people (Eager, et al, 2024; Eccles and Qualter, 2021). Ideally, organisation or selection of approaches to help young people

deal with loneliness should be preceded by seeking input from and actively listening to them on how the structures of their daily lives lead to loneliness, on what is important or of interest to them, and on their views on the suitability of various responses.

An example from the United States of a multifaceted initiative to address adolescent loneliness is the Beyond Differences programme that has been deployed in more than 10,200 schools. This programme seeks to address social exclusion of young people aged 11 to 14 years, recognising that breaking down social exclusion alleviates loneliness, and this has positive longer-term consequences for those who come to feel they belong. The programme offers a variety of initiatives to address social exclusion. They include training high school students to go into schools to talk to other students aged 11-14 about the pain of social exclusion, and how they can come together with others to prevent this suffering. The initiatives also include professional development for educators, and encouragement of parents to communicate with their children about the benefits to all parties of being kind and inclusive through sharing space (being physically present) and in online interaction with those who seem to be left out. Three widely promoted national sub-programmes are No One Eats Alone, Know Your Classmates, and Be Kind Online. Each sub-programme is promoted during an Annual Day of Action (Beyond Differences, 2024; Murthy, 2020, pp. 244-250). The Beyond *Differences* programme incorporates elements from three categories of initiatives outlined above: "social support groups"; "encouragement of social interaction, particularly in purpose-focussed groups"; and "giving and receiving help from peers".

An example of a loneliness-alleviation concept conceived by adolescents is the *We-Dine-Together* initiative described under the Food-Facilitated Friendships sub-heading above. A similar concept *No One Eats Alone* has been incorporated into the broader school-based programme conducted by *Beyond Differences.* The narrower and broader schemes incorporate the same elements from three categories of initiatives outlined above.

An example from the United Kingdom of an overarching or organising framework for a package of initiatives for young people is the deployment of social prescribing (community-referral-and-connection) focussed on young people in Cumbria and Lancashire. Bernardo's, the United Kingdom's largest children's charity, conducts the programme in Cumbria, and partners with Primary Care Networks (PCNs)⁴⁰ and an Integrated Care Board to provide the service in Lancashire. The Cumbrian programme is funded by Bernardo's and four PCNs. The service in Lancashire is funded by local PCNs, with a short-term top up from an Integrated Care System.⁴¹ These programmes connect young people with groups/activities in local communities, and with additional activities/groups organised by the social prescribing service provider. They incorporate nature prescribing, as communing with nature has been found to provide particularly beneficial effects on the health, cognitive performance, and feelings of wellbeing of young people (Rice, 2023).

Assessment of Tackling Loneliness Among Adolescents and Young Adults

Loneliness and underlying social exclusion experienced by young people have often been overlooked in superficial discussions of loneliness. This is surprising because the incidence of feelings of loneliness is relatively high in adolescents and young adults. The neglect of loneliness in this large cohort has long-term adverse consequences.

⁴⁰ A PCN is a group of GP practices working closely together and aligned to other health and social care staff and organisations to provide integrated services to the local population.

⁴¹ An Integrated Care System is tasked with bringing heath and care systems together.

It is important to include initiatives to alleviate loneliness among adolescents and young adults in a package of measures targeting loneliness alleviation more generally. The initiatives should include pre-adolescents as they transition to adolescence.

The following commendable principles to guide initiatives have been gleaned from a UK survey of young people who self-identified as feeling lonely (Eager, et al, 2024).

- Formulate initiatives to help young people cope with many life transitions during adolescence and their early adult years.
- Genuine involvement of young people in formulation and implementation of initiatives (coproduction) is highly desirable.
- Packaging of initiatives or a multifaceted approach is desirable to enable tailoring to fit in with widely varying individual preferences and circumstances.
- Space-sharing or in-real-life interactions with others are necessary.
- Participation should be enjoyable for young people.
- Positive language and a focus on reduction of stigma are important.

The involvement of young people in helping other young people is particularly worthy of promotion. It provides benefits to those in both groups. It also helps to build a culture of service among young people within and outside of school communities (Batsleer and Duggan, 2021).

These and other "ad hoc connection opportunities" for loneliness among young people should not be regarded as stand-alone initiatives. They need to be complemented by other categories of initiatives. A connection mechanism is particularly important, because simply providing opportunities for social support or social connection is not enough to create meaningful connections. A broadly-based, overarching framework and "connector service", such as a community-referral-and-connection scheme, would be a highly desirable complement to various potential paces-to-belong or opportunities to address feelings of loneliness among young people (Rice, 2023; Anderson, 2024). This should incorporate natural connections, as discussed in a subsequent sub-section with that title. Also, initiatives could be promoted via a digital-resourcingand-connections facility, another broadly-based complement. The more broadly based initiatives could guide young people to places-to-belong outside of educational institutions.

It is important to advocate government action to address "structural" mechanisms of social exclusion (resulting from social, economic, regulatory, and other structures for which governments are responsible). Poverty (including the associated problem of lack of opportunities) is a pertinent example of a structural issue requiring corrective action by governments.

English Conversation Opportunities for Immigrants

In a predominantly English-speaking country, inability to converse with ease in the English language is an acknowledged contributor to feelings of loneliness. It impedes meaningful connections with English speakers. It is a source of embarrassment. It can lead to withdrawal, rather than effort to connect. It makes the task of seeking employment very difficult. Unemployment is an additional impediment to connections with others and consequent feelings of belonging.

The language problem is particularly common among refugees. It greatly magnifies the adjustment issues they face in a new country with a different culture.

TAFE classes are available to help people wanting to learn English as a second language. However, they need to be supplemented by vernacular conversations, as teachers of English as a second language often have stressed to their students. Provision of opportunities for vernacular conversations is highly desirable.

Helping new arrivals to learn to speak English is arguably the kindest form of assistance that can be provided. It makes their lives easier and facilitates connections and feelings of belonging (Duerden, 2018, p.166). This type of initiative could be categorised as "supporting infrastructure" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation schemes suggested above.

Examples of initiatives to help newcomers learn to speak English are the discussion opportunities at St John's Cathedral each Thursday afternoon and St Andrew's, South Brisbane, on Thursday evenings. The sessions are not English classes. They are designed to help people to improve their spoken English through conversations in relaxed, informal settings. Typically, attendees are encouraged to discuss topical matters that vary from week to week. The St Andrew's offering extends to a subsequent light meal and chatting, with an optional Bible study afterwards.

There is potential to expand these initiatives help refugees through arrangements with groups that support refugees in various ways.

Another option is to incorporate language practice with social activities in which people learning English as a second language can participate as equally as possible with those for whom English is a first language. These activities should be designed to encourage attentive listening and learning by individuals in both groups.

Assessment of English Conversation Opportunities

Provision of English conversation opportunities to immigrants for whom English is a second language is an oblique way of alleviating loneliness among such people. It facilitates connections, rather than guiding or arranging them.

Connections are facilitated by making interaction easier and by making it easier to obtain employment which provides opportunities for interaction. Consequently, provision of English conversation opportunities should be an important aid to community connections for a relatively small segment of the population comprising one sub-set of those who feel lonely. This measure could play an important niche role in a broader loneliness-alleviation programme.

This intuitive result seems to be partly contradicted by a finding based on Australian data that people from non-English-speaking countries were more at risk of transitory (episodic) loneliness than people from English-speaking backgrounds, but counterintuitively less at risk of chronic loneliness (Lim, et al, 2023). However, this data set also indicated that unemployed people and those engaged in home duties or study without paid work were much more at risk of both episodic and chronic loneliness than those in full-time employment. Better English should reduce these risks by facilitating employment and interaction with English speakers.

An important requirement of a scheme to provide English conversation support is that it is designed to allow participation of people learning English as a second language as equally as possible with those for whom English is a first language. This will help avoid people in the former category feeling devalued.

This initiative lacks an inbuilt means of attracting people desiring to improve their English conversation skills. Potentially, a digital-resourcing-and-connections facility and a community-referral-and-connection regime could help with this.

Natural Connections

Over the past 20 years, researchers have undertaken considerable work on the human-health effects of the practice of communing with nature. In Japan, this practice has been labelled "shinrin-yoku", which translates into English as "forest bathing". It refers to being in nature and connecting with it through all senses. The Japanese Government began to promote "shinrin-yoku" more than 40 years ago (Li, 2022).

There is a growing body of evidence that communing with nature positively affects mental and physical health, and wellbeing more generally for people of all ages (Li, 2022; Siah, et al, 2023; Nguyen, et al, 2023; Ivers and Astell-Burt, 2023; Rice, 2023; Litt, et al, 2024). This applies to green-space activities (in land-based, vegetated locations, such as bushland, forests, parks, and horticultural spaces) and blue-space activities (in or near water, including the ocean, lakes, rivers, streams, and adjacent areas, including beaches and sandhills).

There are various sources of these positive wellbeing effects of communing with nature. The calming, relaxing, distracting, and sensory contributions of green space and blue space improve wellbeing directly, and positively contribute to wellbeing indirectly through benefits to physical and mental health (Li, 2022). Physical activity in green and blue spaces has positive health effects, and these significantly exceed benefits of similar activity in other places (Siah, et al, 2023). Moreover, communing with nature increases the likelihood of participation in physical activity (Rice, 2023). Community (or social) connection that is facilitated by being in green and blue spaces improves wellbeing directly by reducing feelings of loneliness. Then alleviation of loneliness results in longer-term improvements in wellbeing through better physical and mental health. In addition, it has been suggested that sharing green space and blue space with other people and with animals, even without direct human interaction, might still reduce loneliness with positive health consequences (Astell-Burt, et al, 2022).

Activities involved in communing with nature include walking, running, cycling, caring for and protecting plants and creatures, artistic pursuits, chatting in natural surroundings, and just being there for sensory experiences or to meditate. Most of these activities can be enjoyed in prearranged groups, facilitating community connections. Also, communing with nature separate from a pre-arranged group can present opportunities to connect socially. For example, dog walkers often meet and chat when their dogs insist on getting up close and personal, and walkers may stop to marvel and chat when someone sights interesting wildlife, such as channel-billed cuckoos, tawny frogmouths, pheasant coucals, brush turkeys building nest mounds and nipping at dogs' heels, or koalas climbing trees, eating leaves, snoozing and ambling between trees (all viewable in parkland in Whites Hill Reserve and vegetated space adjacent to Salvin and Bulimba Creeks in the Brisbane suburbs of Camp Hill, Carina Heights and Carindale).

Researchers have observed that the wellbeing benefits of meaningful social connections (feelings of belonging with other people) and physical exercise are magnified by connecting with nature through multiple senses (feelings of belonging in nature). This applies in green space and blue space.

The benefits of communing with nature have prompted advocacy of "nature (green and blue) prescribing". This term refers to a health or social professional recommending that a patient spends

time in nature. These recommendations have often included activities involving physical activity and/or social connection in nature. So, nature prescribing may intersect with or be incorporated in a community-referral-and-connection framework (Litt, et al, 2024; Ivers and Astell-Burt, 2023; Rice, 2023; Nguyen, et al, 2023). Nature prescribing would be an example of "connector services" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches formulated above.

A review of 92 studies of applications of nature prescribing, indicated that this mechanism resulted in significant improvements in physical and mental health measures in various age groups. Effects tended to be strongest when the recommended nature exposure and associated activity came from a health or social professional with a pre-existing connection to patients. Most of the studies covered prescriptions of nature exposure in groups in combination with an activity suited to each patient's circumstances, making the prescriptions compatible with those in a community-referral-and-connection scheme (Nguyen, et al, 2023).

Researchers have also suggested provision of more green and blue spaces and better maintenance and support of those areas to improve human health and feelings of wellbeing through various avenues, including alleviation of loneliness. They have also proposed that green space and blue space be provided more equitably (Astell, et al, 2022; Nguyen, et al, 2023; Rice, 2023). Improving access to green space and blue space would be an example of "supporting infrastructure" in the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches provided above.

Assessment of Natural Connections

Research results indicate that communing with nature (shinrin-yoku) can improve human health and wellbeing. While it appears that green and blue spaces also help alleviate loneliness, further investigations are needed to confirm this and to ascertain the characteristics of those whose feelings of loneliness are likely to be alleviated. An obvious attraction of communing with nature is that it potentially can provide health and wellbeing benefits directly, as well as indirectly through alleviation of loneliness.

While researchers have suggested multiple pathways by which green and blue spaces alleviate loneliness, there is not yet a model that coherently brings these thoughts together. A systematic review of the available research evidence indicates that, on balance, green and blue spaces provide protection against loneliness. However, this is not a supported by all relevant research, and the quantum of evidence remains small (Astell-Burt, 2022). It is important to remember that when activities are undertaken in groups in green space or blue space, the group activity in those areas could contribute more to loneliness-alleviation than just being in those spaces.

Green and blue spaces and activities/groups that use those spaces can be important components of a catalogue of potential places-to-belong for people experiencing loneliness. Like other potential places-to-belong, green and blue spaces and groups that use those spaces vary in their appeal to different individuals, as people have highly heterogeneous interests, preferences, demographics, personalities, and backgrounds. It follows that, while opportunities to commune with nature can help alleviate loneliness experienced by some people, availability of such opportunities does not constitute a universal or stand-alone mechanism for tackling loneliness.

Similarly, nature (green and blue) prescribing can be only a part of an overarching framework for alleviating loneliness. This applies because nature prescribing focusses only on connecting people with potential places-to-belong involving green and blue spaces, rather than with a much broader range of potential places-to-belong.

Communing with nature and nature prescribing would be most valuable as loneliness-alleviation mechanisms when teamed with a range of complementary initiatives. This could be facilitated by incorporating the function of helping people to commune with nature in a community-referral-and-connection framework. Doing this would help promote green and blue spaces as places-to-belong and would broaden the scope of the framework and the range of potential places-to-belong with which to connect people to improve their health and wellbeing.

Connection of people with green and blue spaces and activities/groups that use those spaces requires that impediments to accessing them be addressed. Obstacles may include the weather, inequitable geographical distribution of green and blue spaces, lack of facilities in those spaces, transport issues, and financial constraints. Advocacy effort will be required to obtain "supporting infrastructure", such as shelter, toilets, water supply, rubbish bins, walking and cycling paths, road access, and parking areas. Then, a community-referral-and-connection scheme can guide people who would benefit from communing with nature to suitable serviced areas and help to address any residual obstacles to involvement in suitable activities in those spaces.

Third Places

The concept of a "third place" refers to somewhere other than home (first place) or work or education (second space), where a person can benefit from being with others voluntarily and informally. The "third place" concept was formulated by Ray Oldenburg (1989), an urban sociologist. He nominated eight characteristics of a "third place", which he also described as the "great good place":

- neutral ground participants having little or no obligation to be there
- a leveller unimportance of socioeconomic status
- conversation being the main activity typically light-hearted and good-natured interaction
- accessible and accommodating easy to get there, get in, and feel satisfied
- regulars providing a positive tone, mood, and welcome that are attractive to newcomers
- low profile wholesome, unpretentious, accepting, and inclusive
- playful mood absence of tension and hostility
- home away from home feelings of warmth, belonging, and revival.

Commonly cited examples of third places include churches (including their helping activities), community centres, clubs with various foci, parks (of various types), playgrounds, gyms, sports centres, libraries, book shops, hairdressers, coffee shops, and cafés (Oldenburg, 1989, 2000; Oldenburg and Christensen, 2023; Murray, 2024; Volpe, 2024; Jing, et al, 2024). Ray Oldenburg (1989, 2000) believed that third places could be described as happy hangouts at the heart of a community.

Ray Oldenburg (1989, 2000) considered that third places can provide a sense of belonging through social or community connections, thereby alleviating loneliness. He also believed third places are important for civil society, civic engagement, and democracy.

Recently, there has been considerable interest in how, as potential places-to-belong, third places can contribute to the alleviation of loneliness. This has been observed in government reports, media articles, and academic publications.⁴²

The concept of third place overlaps with opportunities to connect with others discussed in preceding sub-sections headed "Alleviation of Loneliness through Helping Others", "Food-Facilitated Friendships", "Support after Loss of Someone Close", and "Natural Connections". Also, third place incorporates many other "ad hoc connection opportunities" mentioned above, such as: service clubs; single- and multi-focus charities; wild-life and environmental protection associations; other cause-focussed organisations; men's sheds; book clubs; play groups; learning-focussed groups, historical and ancestral societies; community gardens; music-related groups; drama associations; floral art societies; art groups; sporting teams and clubs; social exercise groups; and other special interest groups. Of course, a wide variety of opportunities is desirable because people differ greatly in their preferences in respect of third places, reflecting differing interests and circumstances.

Three categories of third places have been suggested: communitarian, commercial, and digital (Wexler and Oberlander, 2017). <u>Communitarian</u> third places are cause- and/or mission-driven groups attending to societal problems, or simply opportunities to enjoy being with others while exercising bodies, minds and talents. They connect people by bringing them together for a common purpose. They could be resourced by governments, volunteers, donors, participants, or a combination of those entities. Communitarian third places benefit users, volunteers, donors, and society-at-large. <u>Commercial</u> third places are operated to generate income, but also bring people together. They benefit owners, workers, and users. <u>Digital</u> third places rely on technology, software, digital platforms, and social media to connect people. They benefit users, technology and digital service providers, and advertisers. Digital third places are analysed in the Digital Connections sub-section above.

The third-place concept overlaps with the "supporting infrastructure" category, as well as the "*ad hoc* connection opportunities" category, in the taxonomy of types of initiatives to address loneliness suggested above.

Assessment of Third Places

It is important that potential places-to-belong be numerous and widely varied to cater for the highly heterogeneous interests, preferences, demographics, personalities, and backgrounds of the many people who feel lonely or are at risk of experiencing loneliness. Ease of access is also important.⁴³

The concept of a third place appears to encompass a wide range of potential places-to-belong for people experiencing loneliness. However, too often, proponents of third places as means of alleviating loneliness have neglected to apply Ray Oldenburg's eight criteria for third places.

⁴² A recent example of nomination of third spaces as means of alleviating loneliness is the report of an ACT parliamentary inquiry into loneliness and social isolation (Australian Capital Territory, Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Education and Community Inclusion, 2024, pp. 21-24). There have been numerous recent journalistic pieces on third spaces and loneliness. Two examples are Allie Volpe's *Vox* article, "If you want to belong, find a third place" (Volpe, 2024), and Josey Murray's *Wondermind* article, "Are third places the cure for loneliness?" (Murray, 2024). The role of third places in alleviating loneliness has also attracted academic interest. For example, Graham Ellender and Michael Bonner (2021) focussed on necessary conditions for third places to be effective in alleviating loneliness, and Jing Jing, et al (2024), investigated the role of third places in alleviating loneliness are supported by findings of a study of the role of third places in alleviating loneliness

experienced by older people in Stockholm (Jing, et al, 2024).

Inter alia, Ray Oldenburg's (1989) criteria emphasise that potential third places need readily accessible facilities to enable interpersonal connections. These facilities include suitably equipped internal and open spaces, and convenient transport services. In addition, it needs to be made explicit that the third-place criteria include being welcoming and non-judgemental, ensuring safety (physical and emotional), and promoting meaningful connections (Ellender and Bonner, 2021). Some doubt has been expressed about many of the commonly cited examples of third places satisfying these criteria, particularly those relevant to facilitating and promoting meaningful connections (Ellender and Bonner, 2021). It seems that many third places have been assumed, rather than demonstrated, to be potential places-to-belong.

On the other hand, it has been asserted, rather than demonstrated, that some categories of third places are not potential places-to-belong that could alleviate feelings of loneliness. For example, it has been claimed that commercial third places, open spaces, and churches are not suitable as places-to-belong (Ellender and Bonner, 2021), but the supporting reasoning is flimsy. Specifically, doubt was raised about commercial third places because of the profit motive associated with the price system leading to biases against and exclusion of some people, but this system provides a revenue stream to support third places. It was asserted that open spaces were not suitable as they tended to be used for solace and solitude, but they provide opportunities to converse and do things with others as explained in the previous sub-section on Natural Connections. Religious institutions were criticised for combining evangelism with care, but no reason was given for concern about evangelism. In any event, the churches involved in the community connections programme discussed in this document want to help those struggling with feelings of loneliness simply because they are suffering. Evangelising is not a motive.

In addition, it appears that assertions that commercial places, open spaces, and religious institutions are unsuitable as places-to-belong may have been influenced by neglect of the important insight that each type of third place will be attractive to some people but not others. Indeed, third places need to numerous and widely varied to cater for the widely differing preferences of highly heterogenous people, as emphasised above.

While ensuring a large, highly varied offering of readily accessible third places is a necessary condition for effective and efficient loneliness alleviation, it is not a sufficient condition. As explained in a preceding section of this paper, research has indicated that people experiencing loneliness, particularly those who are chronically lonely, often experience difficulties linking with third places by themselves, even when they see/hear or read media reports about third places being avenues to meaningful connections.

Third places need to be complemented by other measures. Suitable "connector services" are required – mechanisms to identify the "invisible" people experiencing loneliness, assist them in finding third places, and help them address obstacles to participation. A community-referral-and-connection framework would satisfy this need. Third places and a community-referral-and-connection framework could also be complemented by a digital-resourcing-and-connections mechanism. The latter mechanism could provide support by documenting and promoting third places.

Resources are needed to provide, maintain, and facilitate access to the infrastructure that is part of or supports existing or potential third places. Sometimes the infrastructure is a byproduct of other activities, so that provision of a third place has only incremental resource requirements. For example, church premises and community centres can be used for multiple purposes at zero or low incremental cost. Unfortunately, some existing third places may underperform as loneliness-

alleviation devices because of poor supporting facilities/infrastructure. For example, transport access might be limited, or parks might lack access to drinking water and/or toilet facilities. If supporting infrastructure is inadequate, the social benefits and costs of upgrading it to help address loneliness should be estimated and compared, not neglected.

Tailored One-to-One Support

It has been suggested that people reporting feelings of loneliness could be offered tailored one-toone support to provide them with opportunities to converse with others and formulate plans to overcome their distressed feelings. One-to-one support could be provided by various means and in various locations. The nature of the required interaction would depend on the preferences of each person supported.

Examples of one-to-one support are the Australian Red Cross' *TeleCHAT* and *TeleYARN* (for indigenous people) programmes, the *FriendLine Call* telephone service provided by Friends for Good in Australia, telephone conversation services provided by The Silver Line in partnership with Age UK, the *Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme* funded by the Australian Government, and a *Reconnections* scheme piloted by Age UK Herefordshire and Worcestershire.

The *TeleCHAT and TeleYARN* programmes are based on the view that conversations can make all the difference to an individual who feels lonely. The Australian Red Cross assigns volunteers, after vetting and training, to a person experiencing loneliness, after which the person is telephoned on a weekly or fortnightly basis.

The *FriendLine Call* telephone service was hosted by Friends for Good Inc., with funding from the Commonwealth Government for five years until mid-2024 under the *Seniors Connected Programme*. This national service was available to people over 18 years of age from 10am to 8pm, seven-days a week. Free and paid call options were available. There was no charge for conversations with the trained volunteers. From late-July 2022, *FriendLine Call* was supplemented by an online chat service, *FriendLine Chat*, between 6 pm and 8 pm, Monday to Friday. The purpose of *FriendLine (Call* and *Chat*) was to help alleviate loneliness, not to address crises (Friends for Good, 2023).

The *Silver Line Helpline* is a free, seven-day, 24-hour free telephone conversation and listening service for people aged over 55 years of age, especially those feeling lonely or isolated. The Silver Line's partner, Age UK provides a free regular telephone *Friendship Service* for over-60s, who are matched with volunteers, based on their interests, for a weekly chat (The Silver Line, 2022; Age UK, 2022; Murthy, 2020, pp. 131-132; Duerden, 2018, pp. 37-38).

The Australian Government's Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme (Community Visitors Scheme before 1 July 2023) involves visits by volunteers at least 20 times a year to people receiving Government support through a Home Care Package or subsidised residential aged care. Visits are social in nature. They could incorporate activities additional to chatting. The aim is to provide "friendship and companionship". The Australian Government funds community-based organisations, such as Anglicare Southern Queensland (Anglicare Southern Queensland, 2023) to recruit and train volunteers and arrange for them to visit people qualifying for the scheme (Department of Health and Aged Care, 2023).

The *Reconnections* scheme deployed volunteers and paid staff to converse with individuals feeling lonely on a one-to-one basis weekly over a period of six months. Conversations were meant to help people who feel lonely gain confidence, find purpose in their lives, and make plans to address

feelings of loneliness. Guidance was provided by reference to the "five ways to wellbeing": connections with people around them; being physically active; taking notice of natural surroundings and what is happening in the world; learning new things; and engaging in acts of kindness or giving. The last of the five ways was deemed to be the most effective (Campaign to End Loneliness, 2020, pp. 39-41).

Initiatives focussed on provision of tailored one-to-one support could be regarded as "*ad hoc* connection opportunities" according to the taxonomy of loneliness-alleviation approaches provided above. Some of these initiatives could also operate as "connector services".

Assessment of Tailored One-to-One Support

Tailored-one-to-one support programmes do not incorporate arrangements for finding people experiencing loneliness. Also, these schemes lack a methodology for connecting people with feelings of loneliness to groups and activities in which they can feel they belong.

Reference to the "five ways to wellbeing" in the *Reconnections* pilot scheme appears to be a sound foundation for conversations. However, the process of transition from principles to action was not articulated.

While conversations in the *TeleCHAT/TeleYARN*, *FriendLine Call*, *FriendLine Chat*, *The Silver Line Help Line*, Age UK's *Friendship Service*, *Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme*, and *Reconnections* schemes apparently were valued by lonely participants, it is not known if they were transformational.

The programmes involving physical-presence (space-sharing) discussions, such as the *Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme*, offer considerably greater potential to alleviate loneliness than telephone conversations or other electronic interactions (Hall, Holmstrom and Totzkay, 2023; Reed, 2023; Grangie, 2022; Brennan, 2021). Restriction of the *Aaed Care Volunteers Visitors Scheme* to people on Home Care Packages or in subsidised aged care neglects other people experiencing loneliness. So, the scheme is too narrowly focussed.

The *FriendLine Call* service has apparently encountered difficulties in managing calls. It has been reported that 77,263 calls were answered from July 2020 to January 2023, and 297,977 calls were missed. The shortfall in calls answered was attributed to difficulties in recruiting volunteers and a call management system that gave priority to returning callers over first-time callers. Apparently, 42 per cent of calls answered were from 14 people who averaged 2,300 calls during the review period from July 2020 to January 2023, an average call rate of 17 per week (Armstrong, 2023). Presumably, Friends for Good tried to rectify these problems.

Unfortunately, connections arising from one-to-one support schemes may lead to temporary, artificial, and superficial interactions, rather than prolonged and meaningful connections based on common interests and mutual support. Also, such support may be perceived to be patronising.

These issues are more likely to occur in relation to telephone (and other electronic) conversation schemes than physical-presence (space-sharing) interactions. Superficial interactions in physical-presence contacts, such as in the *Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme*, could be minimised by matching interests as in the case of Age UK's friendship service and applying the approach in the *Reconnections* scheme of linking conversations to "five ways to wellness". The latter approach would involve focussing conversations on helping people experiencing loneliness to connect with groups/activities that will give those people purpose in their lives, to make plans to address feelings of loneliness, and to gain confidence.

Neglect of these issues and the resource commitment required for one-to-one support schemes mean they could be ineffective and inefficient means of creating meaningful connections. Tailored one-to-one support would be improved by space-sharing interactions, carefully matching interests, and focussing conversations to aid connections. Then, the refined initiative could be rolled into a community-referral-and-connection programme to help connect people experiencing loneliness with groups and activities or communities in which they can feel they belong.

Psychological Support

In reviews of potential interventions to alleviate loneliness, targeted psychological support mechanisms feature prominently. Various approaches have been mentioned.

The psychological interventions discussed most frequently are cognitive behavioural (enhancement) therapy and social skills training. They could be undertaken separately or together. These services can be delivered individually or in groups. They could involve space-sharing or online support (Masi, et al, 2011; Mann, et al, 2017; Gardiner, et al, 2018; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, 2020; Eccles and Qualter, 2021; Beckers, et al, 2022; Ellard, Dennison and Tuomainen, 2023).

Cognitive behavioural therapy could be applied to address maladaptive social cognition or cognitive biases affecting people experiencing loneliness. Cognitive barriers to connections with others could include stigma, mistrust, and fear of negative evaluations by others. Targeted cognitive behavioural therapy may help relevant people reframe their thoughts about interactions and relationships, their perceptions of the views and motives of other people, and their expectations regarding potentially overcoming feelings of loneliness. This intervention may facilitate formation of meaningful relationships.

Social skills education is intended to improve communication and other interpersonal skills, and confidence to interact with others. It could include conversational tips and guidance on interpretation of non-verbal social cues. Help to improve social skills is intended to facilitate interaction and development of meaningful relationships.

Delivery of these services in groups, rather than individually, is advantageous. This is the case because it allows interaction between participants and identification with a group, both of which facilitate connections with others (Dingle and Sharman, 2022).

Applied cognitive behavioural therapy and social skills education could complement a communityreferral-and-connection framework by helping to overcome some obstacles to involvement in potential places-to-belong and subsequent formation of meaningful connections with others. Psychological support initiatives are not stand-alone mechanisms for alleviation of loneliness, as they do not incorporate means of finding people with feelings of loneliness, identifying potential places-to-belong, and linking relevant people and places.

There are other, newer psychological interventions specifically focussed on loneliness alleviation that have received much less attention. A local example is *Groups 4 Health*, which was devised by psychologists at University of Queensland. This programme addresses some of the issues neglected by cognitive behavioural therapy and social skills education as means of alleviating feelings of loneliness.

Groups 4 Health is underpinned by social identity theory, which recognises that there are various contexts in which "social identity" – a sense of "we" and "us" – is salient and at least as important as

personal identity in shaping cognition (thinking), emotions, and behaviour. While *Groups 4 Health* is not framed as cognitive behavioural therapy in group settings, the two approaches have some aspects in common: psychoeducation, goal setting, problem solving, and some social support (Dingle and Sharman, 2022; Haslam, et al, 2019). *Groups 4 Health* extends "targeted psychological therapy and education" tentatively into provision of "connector services".

Groups 4 Health involves five 1.5-hour sessions over eight weeks for a group of five to nine participants and two facilitators with training in psychology and programme delivery. The programme is supported by a course manual and a workbook. The first session ("schooling") is focussed on the health benefits of participating in and helping to manage social groups. The second session ("scoping") helps participants with visualisation of their psychological resources and involvement in social group networks, and with gap identification. The third session ("sourcing") is about formulating strategies to identify and strengthen existing group networks and involvement with them. Session four ("scaffolding") is on formulation of a plan to make new social group connections and improve existing connections. The fifth session ("sustaining") is about assessing how networks have changed during the programme, addressing problems, and reinforcing key messages to underpin maintenance of progress (Dingle and Sharman, 2022; Haslam, et al, 2019).

Assessment of Psychological Support

The psychological support mechanisms described above could make useful contributions to a rounded package of loneliness-alleviation measures. Cognitive behavioural therapy and social skills training could contribute by addressing some potential obstacles to connections with others. The *Group 4 Health* scheme contributes further by providing important information about the benefits of involvement in groups, by helping with planning of connections, and by providing these services in group settings.

None of these mechanisms is a stand-alone loneliness-alleviation device. They are only partial solutions – small useful pieces in a large, complex puzzle. Their contributions are most valuable as complements to other measures.

Quantitative effectiveness assessments of cognitive behavioural therapy, social skills training and *Groups 4 Health* as loneliness-alleviation mechanisms have yielded positive results (Masi, et al, 2011; Mann, et al, 2017; Gardiner, et al, 2018; Haslam, et al, 2019; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, 2020; Beckers, et al, 2022; Dingle and Sharman, 2022). However, these mechanisms and any with which they have been compared in the assessments, are narrowly focussed. They have not been assessed in comparison with or as part of packages of complementary measures.⁴⁴

An important missing element of each mechanism is a clear set of arrangements for finding people experiencing loneliness. These people must come forward themselves or be found and referred before they can be supported.

Also, each of these schemes addresses only a part or some of the components of the important task of connecting people experiencing loneliness with groups and activities in which they can feel they belong. They need to be supported by measures that address the other components.

⁴⁴ None of the assessments found in this investigation addressed cost-effectiveness or benefits compared to costs (benefit-cost analysis).

Psychological support mechanisms would complement a rounded package of loneliness-alleviation measures. Such a package needs to include a suitable overarching or organising framework, such as a community-referral-and-connection scheme.

Time Banking

The concept of time banking was originated by Teruko Mizushima, in 1973. It was prompted by observation of the adversity and insecurity experienced by Japanese people during and after World War 2. The concept was embodied in an organisation called Volunteer Labour Bank. It was later renamed Volunteer Labour Network, after the Japanese Government prohibited the use of the word "bank" in descriptions of the scheme. In the United States from the early-1980s, the concept was noted by Edgar Cahn, a human rights lawyer and social justice advocate. He advanced the concept as a self-help, modified-market scheme in response to Reagan-era assaults on welfare and social programmes. Cahn perceived deficiencies in both the market and welfare systems as means of advancing public wellbeing. The modified-market feature of time banking facilitated depiction of the scheme as compatible with the Reagan administration's optimistic ideological position that a wide range of public problems could be amenable to market solutions. Cahn conceived and trademarked the terms, "time bank" and "time dollars" (Cahn, 2004; Cahn and Gray, 2015; Wilson, 2016; Boyle, et al, 2022; Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022).

An alternative to Edgar Cahn's depiction of time banking by some proponents is that it integrates volunteering with a means of promoting reciprocity. Consistent with this portrayal, in the UK, time banking has frequently been described as "volunteering with a twist" (Glynos, et al, 2023). This alternative depiction shifts attention away from the modified-market and self-help features of time banking and towards a quasi-volunteering (to help others) interpretation.

Time banking has been promoted by proponents as a mechanism that improves the wellbeing of participants and the functioning of society. More specifically, it has variously been claimed that time banking reduces inequality, improves the efficiency of allocation/use of resources⁴⁵ by mobilising underutilised resources and building social capital, ⁴⁶ and improves social connections and inclusivity (reduces social exclusion), thereby alleviating loneliness (Cahn, 2004; Coote, et al, 2008; Ozanne, 2010; Cahn and Gray, 2015; Ozanne and Ozanne, 2020).

Participants in time banking earn time credits by providing eligible services to others (individuals or the community). Participants do not have to earn time credits before accessing services from others. They can incur time debts. Participants use earned, borrowed, or donated credits to pay for

⁴⁵ Improving the efficiency of resource allocation/use refers to deployment of available (including underutilised) resources in ways that increase nett social benefits or improve the wellbeing of the community's constituents. This is a central focus of microeconomics, natural resource economics, and public economics/finance.

⁴⁶ The origins of the term, "social capital", can be traced back to the early-twentieth century. However, related notions had emerged from the work of political economy theorists of the Scottish Enlightenment in the eighteenth century. The concept of social capital attracted growing academic interest from the late-1980s (Putnum, 2020, pp. 19-20; Productivity Commission, 2003, p. 6). Different interpretations of the concept have emerged from the work of sociologists, political scientists, and economists. Each version is characterised by lack of precision. Discussions of social capital often radiate a "warm glow". However, some analysts have recognised that social capital can have a "dark side" for individuals and societies. For discussions of this elusive, polysemic, vague concept, see Putnum (2000), readings in Dasgupta and Serageldin (2000), Glaeser, et al (2002), Bowles and Gintis (2002), Productivity Commission (2003), Dasgupta (2005), Daly and Silver (2008), and Creed (2022).

services provided by other participants or corporate and institutional donors. Alternatively, credits may be given away by not recording services provided or by donating them to assist someone, rather than accumulated for redemption by the earner of the credits. Services are usually provided to and redeemed from different entities (Cahn, 2004; Coote, et al, 2008; Ozanne, 2010; Cahn and Gray, 2015; Burgess and Durrant, 2019).

Typically, credits are based on time applied, not the market value of the time. In other words, all hours of eligible service by all participants are valued equally. However, a small minority of time banking regimes have allowed different valuations of various services.

In some time-banks, credits earned may be exchanged for participation in group events arranged by management. These events would need to be funded by participants or through third-party grants or donations.

Time banking is usually supported by online platforms and time brokers/advisors. These facilitate the linking of service providers and users. They also assist in administration of the system. The platforms and staff need to be funded by participation fees and/or external contributions (eg, donations or government grants).

Although time banking was not considered in any of the taxonomies of loneliness-alleviation approaches reviewed for this paper, the scheme's proponents presumably would consider that it provides "connector services".

An on-line time banking platform potentially could be integrated with a digital-resourcing-andconnections hub supporting a multi-initiative community-connections programme. This would facilitate operation of time banking in parallel with various loneliness-alleviation initiatives.

Assessment of Time Banking

Promoters of time banking have asserted that it is a sound mechanism for increasing social connections and inclusion, thereby alleviating loneliness; for reducing inequity; and for improving the efficiency of allocation/use of resources (Cahn, 2004; Coote, et al, 2008; Ozanne, 2010; Cahn and Gray, 2015; Timebanking UK, 2017). However, it has received mixed reviews from academics in various fields. They had been induced to scrutinise time banking by substantial promotion of the concept over the past 25 years. In recent years, the results of considerable academic scrutiny of time banking have been predominantly negative.

Typically, claims of loneliness alleviation have been supported by reference to interviews and anecdotes, as Ozanne and Ozanne (2020) did to support their claim that time banking provides emotional, cognitive, and material support to participants. Indeed, it has been reported that many participants were initially attracted to time banks partly because of their community nature and opportunities to make social contacts (Ozanne, 2010; Ozanne and Ozanne, 2016).

A review of a time banking scheme in Cambridgeshire in the UK found anecdotal indications that it was helpful in increasing confidence and community and social participation and reducing loneliness among disadvantaged people with little or no history of volunteering. For several of these people, the scheme facilitated a transition into paid employment, but that transition typically ended or greatly reduced involvement in the scheme (Burgess and Durrant, 2019).

Prominent proponents of time banking have claimed that it improves the efficiency of resource use/allocation by mobilising unutilised labour and skills. To advance this view, since the late-1990s, they have described time banking as a form of "coproduction" (Cahn, 2004; Coote, et al, 2008). The

concept of coproduction had been formulated by Elinor Ostrom and colleagues in the late 1970s to refer to programmes that involve contributions from separate entities, including service recipients, in the service-delivery process (articulated in Parks, Ostrom, Ostrom, et al, 1981). Ostrom explained that the design and execution of service-delivery programmes could potentially be improved by involving all interested parties, particularly service recipients. Resulting synergies would yield more efficient outcomes (Ostrom, 1996). Time banking's proponents have asserted that time banking would yield these positive effects.

Proponents of time banking have also claimed that it improves the functioning of communities (and hence the efficiency of resource use/allocation) by building social capital through reciprocity, enhancement of trust, and increased community engagement. They have also linked these mechanisms with loneliness alleviation (Cahn, 2004; Coote, et al, 2008; Ozanne and Ozanne, 2016).

An example of time banking's claimed role in community engagement is that a time banking network could facilitate preparation of local emergency plans for natural disasters and post-disaster clean-up, repair, reconstruction, and other support services. The supporting argument is that time bank participants offer local communications networks, knowledge, and expertise that could be more effective and nuanced than offerings of a one-size-fits-all approach associated with top-down bureaucratic processes. This view was articulated by two marketing academics, who were researching a time bank at Lyttleton Harbour (11 km from Christchurch) when the Canterbury region of New Zealand was hit by earthquakes in late-2010 and early-2011. They produced a glowing report on the earthquake-response activities of time bank members and their communication networks, based on interviews and news reports (Ozanne and Ozanne, 2013, 2016).

Another claim made in support of time banking is that it avoids perceived perverse outcomes (such as demeaning and/or dependency-creating consequences for recipients) from unconditional giving to help others. This purported feature of time banking is based on the portrayal of the concept as a self-help scheme based on coproduction and reciprocity (Cahn, 2004).

Several lines of criticism have been directed at claims that time banking is a suitable mechanism for alleviating loneliness, building of social capital, and improving the efficiency of resource allocation and use. These criticisms include questions about the viability of time banking. Various objections to time banking have been outlined below.

The structure of time banking has resulted predominantly in instrumental or commercialised use of the mechanism (Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022). Consequently, time banking yields only temporary, one-to-one, transactional connections, rather than the meaningful, enduring bi-lateral and multilateral relationships required to alleviate loneliness (Griffiths, et al, 2022; Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022). The scheme does not have inbuilt mechanisms for finding those who feel lonely and connecting them with welcoming, safe places-to-belong in which participants have similar interests and motivations. Few real friendships are formed and carried into everyday life outside the structure of the time bank and such friendships have sometimes been actively discouraged (Wilson, 2016). It follows that the claim that time banking is an important tool for alleviation of loneliness is dubious.

Indeed, it has been observed that time banking is not a suitable instrument for alleviation of loneliness arising from social exclusion and disadvantage. One reason is that many participants in time banking are not socially excluded and/or disadvantaged (Valor and Papaoikonomou, 2019, p. 139). Another reason is that for participants afflicted by social exclusion and/or disadvantage, these circumstances have been moderated only marginally by time banking. Moreover, time banking does not deal with the causes of social exclusion and disadvantage and tends to perpetuate them by complying with, rather than disrupting the status quo of undue veneration of the market system as a problem solver (Wilson, 2016).

Apparent expansions of reach and scope of time banking have been achieved at the expense of such schemes being "hollowed out" (Glynos, et al, 2023). This has occurred because benefits imputed to time banking often have actually been largely attributable to group events/activities and traditional volunteering opportunities created by managers of time banking schemes to attract and retain members and/or compensate for low levels of person-to-person exchanges (Kubinakova and Courtney, 2018; Ozanne and Ozanne, 2020; Naughton-Doe, et, 2021; Gregory, 2021).⁴⁷ Over time, there has been a tendency for time banking to be subsumed by more traditional forms of volunteering, particularly if time banking is managed by an organisation that deploys volunteers in its activities (Glynos, et al, 2023). These phenomena suggest that it would be more appropriate to focus solely on providing opportunities for people experiencing loneliness to participate with others in safe, welcoming groups with purposes that appeal to those seeking a place to belong. Such purposes would include volunteering to help others unconditionally and linking those in need of support with volunteer helpers.

Time banking is an attempt to commercialise kindness through deployment of a modified market mechanism based on indirect transactional reciprocity. Its proponents have spuriously asserted or implied that genuine kindness will be boosted by market exchange or transactional activity inherent in time banking. Acts of kindness tend to encourage recipients to reciprocate directly, or indirectly by helping third parties, because of feelings of obligation entangled with social norms. However, transactions typically do not trigger kind acts. The reciprocity induced by kindness – social reciprocity – is very different to the reciprocity involved in transactions – market exchange or transactional reciprocity (Murthy, 2020, pp. 99-100, 164, 216-217; Burgess and Durrant, 2019; Putnum, 2000, pp. 134-147; Titmuss, 1971, pp.210-212). Time banking's focus on transactions denies participants (lonely or otherwise) the documented benefits of unconditional giving or kindness. This may discourage participation by people wanting to give unconditionally (Ozanne, 2010). As well as eroding the amount of giving, the focus on transactions is likely to undermine the freedom or right to give, and the sense of community or inclusion in society (Titmuss, 1971, pp. 198-199, 239, 242-243, 245). Nevertheless, genuine kindness is not accompanied by an expectation of getting something in return. Doing something to get something is transactional and it is self-serving (Mackay, 2024, p. 270).

Proponents' depiction of time banking as volunteering integrated with a means of promoting reciprocity ("volunteering with a twist") is misleading. The concept of volunteering referred to by proponents of time banking differs substantially from traditional volunteering. Time banking changes the focus of volunteering from unconditionally helping those in need, to provision of benefits to service providers (Wilson, 2016; Griffiths, et al, 2022; Glynos, et al, 2023). The form of "volunteering" involved in time banking cannot validly be categorised as "other-oriented volunteering". At best, the "volunteering with a twist" in time banking can be categorised as "self-orientated volunteering". Researchers have found that "self-oriented volunteering" delivers substantially less health and well-being benefits to these "volunteers" than the health and well-being benefits that "other-oriented volunteering" provides to volunteers focussed on helping others (Yeung, et al, 2018). In any event, time banking's reorientation of focus from helping others

⁴⁷ However, Lee Gregory (2021) pointed out that group events/activities organised by management of time banks have typically been more appealing to women than men.

unconditionally to returns to service providers is inconsistent with the central Christian principle of treating others as we would like to be treated (Matthew 7: 12) or loving our neighbours (broadly defined to include strangers) as ourselves as exemplified by the unconditional kindness in the Parable of the Good Samaritan (Luke 10: 25-37). This Christian principle is closely related to another: "You received without payment; give without payment" (Matthew 10: 8 (NRSV)). This injunction endorses social reciprocity associated with "other-oriented volunteering", but not transactional reciprocity associated with "self-oriented volunteering".

It is misleading to claim that time banking is justifiable on the basis that it avoids perverse outcomes (such as demeaning and/or dependency-creating effects) that are perceived by some to result from helping others unconditionally. As explained in a sub-section above on Alleviating Loneliness through Helping Others, the possibility of perverse outcomes of helping others can be avoided by engaging in "receptive generosity":⁴⁸ accepting that people are different, and patiently working with and ensuring the free agency of people in need of help, rather than doing things for them or telling them what to do (Buchanan, 1975; Coles, 1997; Sen, 1999; Corbett and Fikkert, 2012; Barrett, 2018; Fikkert and Kapic, 2019a, b; Ryan, et al, 2019). Moreover, the commercial orientation of time banking wholly or partly sacrifices the observed benefits of soundly based volunteering to help others unconditionally that accrue bilaterally (one-to-one help) or multilaterally (working with others to help those in need).

Claims that time banking builds social capital through reciprocity, enhancement of trust, and increased social engagement are dubious (Gregory, 2021). Social capital is linked to social reciprocity, not the transactional reciprocity promoted by time banking. Trust is an important prerequisite for time banking transactions (Dasgupta, 2005; Valor and Papaoikonomou, 2019). It has not been demonstrated that time banking brings or builds trust. Time banking involves fleeting, transaction-related engagement, not meaningful, enduring connections with others (Griffiths, et al, 2022; Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022). Time banking should not be credited with social engagement associated with group events/activities and volunteering opportunities created by managers of time banking schemes to attract and retain members and/or compensate for a paucity of time banking transactions.

Claims that time banking can play an important role in preparations for, and responses to natural disasters were based on interviews and news reports in Lyttelton Harbour near Christchurch in New Zealand in the pre- and post-earthquake period, April 2009 to December 2012 (Ozanne and Ozanne, 2013, 2016). The activities of, and grant funding for Lyttelton Harbour time bank and its members were not compared with the activities of, and grant support for other community organisations and their members in Lyttleton Harbour and elsewhere in earthquake-affected areas in New Zealand's Canterbury region. As a result, it was not possible to ascertain whether disaster-related services provided by the time banking community could reasonably be deemed superior to those of other community organisations in the context of the Canterbury earthquakes in 2010-2011, having regard to any differences in grant funding arrangements. It is notable that the Lyttelton Harbour time bank is no longer operating (Project Lyttelton, 2024).

The modified market mechanism of time banking is unlikely to improve the efficiency of resource allocation/use. Several issues are relevant. First, claims that time banking builds social capital are dubious, as discussed above. Second, time banking is ill-suited to addressing a social target of alleviation of loneliness, as previously documented. So, there is an inefficient mismatch between a target and the instrument deployed to achieve it (Tinbergen, 1952). Third, equal valuation of hours

⁴⁸ The term was put forward by Romand Coles (1997).

by all contributors overencourages participation by people providing low-value services and discourages participation by those who could provide high value services (Boyle, et al, 2022). Fourth, unresolved network interdependency effects (participation depending on the participation of others) deter participation, impeding efficiency (Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021; Kakar, 2020). Fifth, asymmetric availability of information between providers and users of services impedes trust in service quality, discouraging transactions and distorting the pattern of offerings – a "market-forlemons" problem (Akerlof, 1970). Sixth, the quality of services may be less than those provided as acts of unconditional kindness, as the latter are more likely to have strong ethical underpinnings, and be intrinsically and autonomously motivated (Titmuss, 1971, pp. 157, 246; Arrow, 1975, pp. 21-22; Ryan, et al, 2019). Seventh, simply labelling time banking as a form of coproduction does not make it economically advantageous or efficient. One issue is that there is at best only a tenuous link between time banking and the original concept of coproduction (Burgess and Durrant, 2019). A second issue is that various conditions need to be satisfied for coproduction to yield efficiencyenhancing synergies in the service-delivery process (Ostrom, 1996, p. 1083). However, various aspects of the structure of time banking schemes are inimical to efficiency as explained above, and as illustrated by various failings in effectiveness and administrative efficiency outlined below.⁴⁹

Time banks have been managed paternalistically. This has impeded initiation of person-to-person exchanges (Wilson, 2016; Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021). Paternalistic management has appeared in various forms. Activities have been constrained because of concerns about trust and risk issues. In some cases, unconditional giving has been discouraged by scheme management, as well as by the scheme's design, which is focussed on self-oriented transactional reciprocity. Participants have sometimes been pushed into group events. Further, managers have excluded some types of work from eligibility for time credits. Excluded categories typically include looking after children and other family and home-related work, even though non-commercial performance of this work has been cited as a reason for time banking by its proponents. These excluded services are typically associated with women, who ironically dominate participation in time banks (Wilson, 2016; Wilson-Thomas, 2021).

Trust and safety issues are challenges for time banking (Valor and Papaoikonomou, 2019, pp. 147-148). Trust issues relate to the negotiability or acceptability of time credits and confidence in those providing services. In the absence of trust, mutually beneficial exchanges or transactions will be discouraged, distorted, or not be repeated (Akerlof, 1970; Dasgupta, 2005). Safety issues will tend to have similar effects. Concerns about trust and safety have contributed to paternalistic management of time banks (see above) and high costs (see below) or low levels of person-to-person exchanges (Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021).

Low levels of engagement by members of the relevant community have resulted in many requests for services by credit holders being unfulfilled, while many other potential suppliers have experienced difficulties connecting with users (Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022; Ozanne and Ozanne, 2020; Burgess and Durrant, 2019); Valor and Papaoikonomou, 2019). In some cases, this has led management to engage in resource-intensive efforts to engineer transactions (including recruitment of corporate and institutional donors of services to be acquirable with time credits), and to organise

⁴⁹ Edgar Cahn, who originated the term, time banking, and was the most prominent proponent of this mechanism for about 40 years, claimed that time banking is a form of coproduction, and warned, "Coproduction is clearly vulnerable to co-option and exploitation" (Cahn, 2004, p. 25). This warning is ironic as Cahn co-opted, distorted, and exploited the original concept of coproduction (see Parks, Ostrom, Ostrom, et al, 1981; Ostrom, 1996) to give credence to his advocacy of time banking, disregarding his own warning and failing to acknowledge the source and substance of the original concept.

group activities to avoid resource costs of engineering transactions and compensate for low exchange activity (Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021; Burgess and Durrant, 2019).

Time banking is a relatively costly scheme. Confusion and conflicts in relation to volunteering and reciprocity concepts and departures from conventional volunteering and market arrangements have elevated costs of promoting time banking and recruiting and retaining participants (Glynos, et al, 2023). Also, administration costs of time banking systems are relatively high because of documentation issues, difficulties of arranging person-to-person exchanges, and pressures to manage trust and safety issues (Perez-Vega and Miguel, 2022, p. 333; Boyle, et al, 2022). This has led to trade-offs between management of trust and safety issues, and levels of person-to-person exchanges (Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021).

Many time banking schemes have survived for relatively short periods and/or at a small scale (Boyle, et al, 2022; Naughton-Doe, et al, 2021; Valor and Papaoikonomou, 2019, p. 137). Some have failed or struggled to take off. In other cases, after an initial period of growth in participation and transactions, both typically have declined steadily as members have dropped out or engaged in less transactions, and as considerable difficulty has been encountered in recruitment of new members (Glückler and Hoffmann, 2022). The reasons for these patterns are linked to various other issues outlined in this section.

Independent quantitative assessments of time banking as a loneliness-alleviation mechanism, a means of building social capital, and an efficiency-enhancing mechanism are difficult to find. Unfortunately, the material that was found during a literature search did not provide credible support for claims by time banking's proponents that the scheme delivers substantial nett benefits.

A semi-quantitative investigation of the operation of six UK time banks was undertaken by researchers from the Universities of Sheffield and Bristol. They analysed operational data over a period of 12 months, undertook semi-structured interviews with 13 staff members, and surveyed 84 time-bank members through focus groups, interviews and questionnaires that included open questions. The researchers found that performance fell far short of proponents' hype. During the investigation period, the numbers of person-to-person exchanges were small. By the time the article was published in August 2020, three of six time banks in the investigation had folded, and two of the others had abandoned person-to-person exchanges in favour of group activities. Reasons identified for this poor performance included paternalistic management, and the resource-intensive tasks of safeguarding participants, managing risk, and facilitating person-to-person exchanges (Naughton-Doe, et al, 2020).

Starting with the presumption that improving social connections would improve health (one category of benefits from alleviating loneliness), Lee, et al (2020) undertook a systematic review of analyses of the impact of time banking on public health outcomes. Most of the studies (31 of 38) were assessed to be of low quality, because of a variety of deficiencies. Also, many were judged to be too small to provide generalisable insights or outcomes of direct relevance to the review. While the authors noted a consistent narrative of improved mental health and wellbeing, they concluded that the overall evidence of direct health impact was neither reliable nor generalisable and there was limited evidence of economic benefit. They warned that the boundaries between research and advocacy are often blurred, and that research results published by advocates should be treated with caution.

Timebanking UK (2017), an advocacy and support group for time banking programmes in the United Kingdom, has published a quantitative evaluation of five time-banking schemes in London. An extraordinary social benefit-cost ratio of 10.1 was claimed.

Timebanking UK (2017) reported that it used records and questionnaires, supported by software and nominated outcomes provided by HACT Social Value Insight. It was revealed that reports of outcomes by participants were dominated by two of 16 outcomes: "regular volunteering" (36.5 per cent) and "regular attendance at community/voluntary group(s)" (40.5 per cent), which together accounted for 77 per cent of "outcomes measured". The third ranking "outcome measured" was "frequent moderate exercise" at 3.6 per cent, followed by "high confidence" at 3.3 per cent. No information was provided on valuation methodologies, valuation of specific outcomes, protocols to avoid double counting and misattribution of benefits, and other methodological features of the evaluation.

Obviously, the estimated benefits of attendance at "community/volunteer groups" should not have been attributed to time banking. It was not revealed whether the term "volunteering" in the report referred to "other-oriented" or "self-oriented" volunteering or both. Also, it is not apparent that any procedures were implemented to:

- assess the existence and strength of any causal link from time banking to "volunteering"
- differentially value different forms of "volunteering"
- avoid misattribution of benefits.

Because of the extraordinary vagueness of the report, the lack of data, the absence of any meaningful explanation of methodology, lack of information on the credentials of those who undertook the evaluation, and the unavailability of any independent review of the evaluation, there is considerable doubt regarding the credibility of the extraordinary social benefit-cost ratio of 10.1 declared by the report.

An apparently positive assessment of time banking was provided by social researchers at University of Gloucestershire (Kubinakova and Courtney, 2018). However, a careful review of the assessment revealed that this was not the reality.

The University of Gloucestershire researchers assessed the *Fair Shares* scheme for the entity managing the scheme. The *Fair Shares* scheme includes various volunteering opportunities and group activities along with time banking. The executive summary and the body of the report stated, "Time credits and exchanges (time banking elements) are not seen as (the) driving element" (Kubinakova and Courtney, 2018). The case studies and discussion indicated that volunteering and group activities were the source of the benefits of the *Fair Shares* scheme.

The evaluators of the *Fair Shares* scheme estimated a social benefit-cost ratio of 1.04 for the programme. This is a marginal result. The social benefit-cost ratio was based on undiscounted estimated benefits and costs over a period of three years. Therefore, the corrected benefit-cost ratio is likely to be less than 1.04 and the social rate of return (an annual rate) would be low compared to a reasonable foregone social return on alternative uses of the investment in the programme.

Neither proponents nor critics of time banking as mechanisms to alleviate loneliness have analysed time banking as an alternative or a complement to a community-referral-and-connection programme. It is apparent that time banking would not be a suitable replacement for community-referral-and-connection as a provider of "connector services" or as an overarching/organising

framework for alleviation of loneliness. It is not apparent that time banking would be suitable as a complement to a community-referral-and-connection scheme and various other mechanisms, such as those outlined and/or mentioned above.

Other Options

The existence of potential "places-to-belong" is a necessary condition for alleviation of loneliness. However, it is not a sufficient condition. Other requirements are mechanisms for finding people who feel lonely and connecting them to groups/activities in which they can feel they belong ("connector services"). The connecting function has multiple elements. These include linking people who feel lonely with those who will work with them to find groups/activities where they can feel they belong and will help them overcome obstacles to their ongoing involvement.

A community-referral-and-connection regime provides an overarching/organising framework and "connector services" that incorporate the mechanisms required to find people who feel lonely and connect them to places-to-belong. There may be credible alternatives to a community-referral-and-connection regime that are worth considering as an overarching framework. However, none emerged from the considerable research and analysis underpinning this research/concept paper.

There will be various other initiatives to help sub-sets of people experiencing loneliness ("ad hoc connection opportunities") that could be teamed with an overarching framework. Several categories of such initiatives have been discussed above. Generally, they involve creating potential places-to-belong.

Further investigations will be required to identify and assess various additional options. This applies to overarching frameworks and initiatives that could be subsumed in an overarching framework.

Ending Loneliness Together (2023b) has started to document information on initiatives to alleviate loneliness in specific cohorts at various locations across Australia. The compilation of initiatives so far is at best indicative only. Typically, the inclusions are *"ad hoc* connection opportunities" or potential places-to-belong, not connection mechanisms or overarching frameworks for alleviation of loneliness.

Additional loneliness-alleviation options could emerge from discernment processes in communityconnections hubs. They may be specific to circumstances of an individual hub or may be applicable to multiple hubs. Also, additional insights regarding potential loneliness-alleviation arrangements might emerge from the work of the World Health Organisation's *Commission on Social Connection* during its term, 2024-2026.

It is desirable to maintain flexibility and keep options open for as long as uncertainty remains about the most appropriate approach, and final decisions on matters of detail have not become necessary. This would apply even after implementation has commenced, as new insights could emerge during the establishment process that suggest sensible refinements. Closing-off options before it is necessary can be costly (Dixit and Pindyck, 1994; Kay, 2011).

Resourcing

Community-connections programmes to alleviate loneliness need to be properly resourced. Volunteers can make important contributions to resourcing of such programmes. However, additional resourcing is likely to be required to support volunteers involved in various initiatives. Partnerships with entities having compatible aims and ways of operating would potentially expand access to resources and resulting capacity to undertake loneliness-alleviation programmes. Of course, realisation of this potential will depend on good collaborative relationships.

Critically important elements of any successful loneliness alleviation programme are the individuals in communities with whom people experiencing loneliness can connect and feel they belong. These individuals offer a friendly smile, a warm greeting, and an attentive ear. They are inclusive. They actively welcome new people into their social groups. They are not cliquish. They act this way voluntarily. In any community-based group (including church communities), encouragement to engage in such behaviours is rarely superfluous.

People who recommend an individual perceived to be feeling lonely to a group to which the person could feel they belong or who refer such a person to a community-connections hub need to be perceptive. Otherwise, referrals could be inappropriate, misdirected and/or could overload a hub to the detriment of all parties.

Particularly important resourcing requirements include training, information, and guidance for volunteers in programmes targeting alleviation of loneliness. This support relates to appropriate ways of interacting with vulnerable people, and discernment regarding the nature and extent of involvement of each parish-based community in operation of a community-connections hub. Some tentative indicators of loneliness that could be used in training of people involved in a loneliness-alleviation programme have been listed in Attachment A.

In the case of a community-referral-and-connection framework, resourcing decisions need to take account of the time, effort, and patience necessary to build good collaborative relationships between referrers to hubs, personnel in hubs (including community-connections facilitators), and groups to which people who feel lonely could be connected within or outside of hubs. This resourcing need is additional to that associated with identification and cataloguing of potential referrers to hubs, and groups to which people experiencing loneliness could be connected (Thomas, et al, 2021, pp. 7-8).

Potential sources of resources to supplement and support the activities of volunteers include the Queensland Government, local government authorities, the Commonwealth Government, and private sector entities. Rationales for government funding of a community-connections programme are that the scheme would improve the wellbeing of people who feel lonely, enhance productivity, and reduce pressure on and resourcing requirements for the GP network, the medical specialist network, the hospital system, and the Medicare regime.

The Queensland Government was perceived to be a logical starting point for resourcing support. It has funded the *Ways to Wellness* (loneliness-alleviation) programme since 2019. In mid-2022, in response to the report of a parliamentary inquiry on social isolation and loneliness (Queensland Parliament, Community Support and Services Committee, 2021), the Queensland Government committed to preparation of a loneliness and social isolation strategy, consideration of a state-wide trial of "social prescribing" after reviewing results of an evaluation of *Ways to Wellness* by University of Queensland psychologists, and development of online training material for volunteers in programmes that help prevent and address loneliness and social isolation in Queensland communities (Queensland Government, 2022a).

On 18 December 2022, the Queensland Government released its *Communities 2032 Strategy and Action Plan*, incorporating statements of intent regarding alleviation of loneliness and social isolation (Queensland Government, 2022 b, c). The Government also issued guidelines for "large" and "small"

Communities Innovation Fund grants to help incorporated, not-for-profit community-led organisations provide innovative responses to social isolation and loneliness. "Large" grants could be up to \$200,000 per year for three years from April 2023, with the programme to be fully completed by 30 June 2026. "Small" grants could be up to \$50,000 for one year from April 2023, with the initiative to be fully completed by 30 June 2024. Additional funding rounds for "small" grants were to be available in 2024-25 and 2025-26. As foreshadowed in the Queensland Government's 2022-23 budget, \$4 million was committed for *Communities Innovation Fund* grants over four years.

In 2023, two of five "large" grants over three years were awarded to neighbourhood/community centres in northern Townsville (North Townsville Community Hub, Inc., total \$535, 122) and Hervey Bay (Hervey Bay Neighbourhood Centre Inc., total \$533,772) to fund social prescribing (community-referral-and-connection) schemes complemented by some small activities to facilitate social connections in specific cohorts. Three other "large" grants were provided to institutional applicants to support initiatives to assist Indigenous people make social connections.

Consideration is to be given to lodgement of an application on behalf of St John's Cathedral for a "small" grant from the *Communities Innovation Fund* in 2025-26. For 2024-25, grants up to \$50,000 for 12 months were restricted to support for innovative initiatives that respond to social isolation and loneliness among culturally and linguistically diverse people and communities in Queensland. The nominated total pool for "small" grants in 2024-25 is \$200,000. Compliance with the narrow focus of small grants in 2024-25 would have distracted from establishment of the much broader programme envisaged in this research paper.

In September 2023, discussions were initiated with the Communities division of the Queensland Department of Treaty, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships, Communities, and the Arts regarding the Queensland Governments expressed intention to consider a state-wide trial of social prescribing (community-referral-and-connection) following consideration of the published results of an evaluation of the *Ways to Wellness* programme by University of Queensland psychologists. Results of the evaluation were released in August 2023 and have been discussed in the section on community-referral-and-connection above. The discussions included exploration of the possibility of the Government's potential state-wide trial incorporating the inner-Brisbane trial of community-referral-and-connection proposed in this paper, and provision of resources by the Queensland Government to support the inner-Brisbane trial.

In late-November 2023, a representative of the Communities Division of the Department of Treaty, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships, Communities, and the Arts advised that in the subsequent 12 months it was intended to undertake a "scoping study" of social prescribing covering a range of models before undertaking any formal trials. In August 2024, it was advised that a "feasibility study" of the application of social prescribing models to address loneliness and social isolation was underway in collaboration with Primary Health Networks. Input has been provided through participation in a group consultation process and by provision of this research paper to the social prescribing study group. Funding of trials following completion the "feasibility study" will depend upon results of the study and the priorities of the government in office following the October 2024 election.

In 2024, the Queensland Department of Child Safety, Seniors, and Disability Services allocated some grants under the *Seniors Social Isolation Programme* for proposals to address loneliness and social isolation among seniors. All grants were awarded on a competitive basis to a few initiatives in remote and regional areas. No funding was made available for initiatives in Brisbane.

In early 2023, discussions regarding a community-connections programme in Brisbane were initiated with the Lord Mayor of Brisbane and his wife, who chairs the *Lord Mayor's Charity Trust*. This led to subsequent discussions with the administrative head of the Trust. These discussions have been positive.

Primary Health Networks (PHNs), which are Commonwealth Government-funded, but independently managed, have been contacted regarding potential resourcing our intended *Brisbane Community Connections* programme, and potential support from Anglican parishes for initiatives to address loneliness that Primary Health Networks (PHNs) are considering or planning. So far, the Brisbane North PHN has funded a social prescribing trial in the Caboolture-Kilcoy region and has provided us with information about the trial. This and other Queensland PHNs are participating with the Department of Treaty, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships, Communities, and the Arts in a social prescribing "feasibility study" as indicated above. Further resourcing discussions with PHNs are intended following completion of the "feasibility study".

Support from other local governments and other parts of the Commonwealth Government is also to be investigated. Corporate support could be pursued too. However, it may not be attainable until a loneliness-alleviation programme is operating successfully.

Resourcing is a very important issue on which much remains to be done.

Key Insights and Conclusions

Human beings commonly crave community (social) connections that are meaningful. This craving occurs in every stage of life, meaning that being human desirably is a shared experience, not an individual one.

Human craving for community connections (longing to belong) is part of a biological alarm system, along with hunger and thirst. Poor connections lead to loneliness, which adversely affects wellbeing in short- and long-term contexts.

Meaningful community connections involve feelings of belonging with others, including feelings of being respected, loved and needed; and feelings of sharing with and caring for others, making the experience bilateral and/or multilateral. Meaningful community connections are also accompanied by a sense of purpose.

Community connections and loneliness can have multiple dimensions or domains. Loneliness researchers have grouped them under headings such as "emotional" and "social", or "intimate", "relational" and "collective". These domains have "fuzzy" boundaries. If unfortunate events or circumstances undermine meaningful connections, even in only one domain, emotional stability is disturbed, and feelings of loneliness can occur.

Loneliness refers to a nagging, distressing <u>feeling</u> of a lack of connection to others (community), accompanied by a desire for additional or more satisfying social relationships. Loneliness is <u>subjective</u>. Social isolation is a distinguishable concept that refers to having <u>objectively</u> few social relationships, social roles, and group memberships, and infrequent social interaction. While social isolation is characterised by a dearth of community connections of any type, loneliness involves a feeling of a lack of <u>meaningful</u> connections.

If feelings of loneliness are chronic (persistent and severe), their adverse wellbeing effects are potentially magnified greatly because of substantially elevated risk of a wide range of physical and mental health issues and premature death.

Loneliness is widespread. About 35-45 per cent of Australian adolescents and adults regularly feel lonely, and around 20-25 per cent experience chronic loneliness.

Loneliness and social isolation often interact. Unfortunately, their conflation in popular and some academic discourse has led to confusion and obfuscation, impeding formulation of sound rationales for intervention and initiatives to address adverse effects on wellbeing.

The key to alleviating (avoiding and overcoming) loneliness is to improve connections with others (community). This also addresses any associated, unwanted social isolation. Improving the quality or meaningfulness of community connections is essential. More connections can be a bonus unless their quality is negative.

In this document, the primary focus is improving social connections to alleviate loneliness and its adverse wellbeing effects. However, the analysis has taken account of circumstances and ways in which social isolation might intersect and/or interact with loneliness to affect wellbeing.

Feelings of loneliness provide an incentive to try to make meaningful connections to alleviate adverse feelings. However, too many people who feel lonely have great difficulty in developing the meaningful connections with others that they crave and need. This results from impediments such as feelings of embarrassment; perverse tendencies to withdraw; other behavioural effects that impede connection; not knowing how, where, and when to connect; social exclusion linked to interpersonal and structural issues; and various physical, mental, and financial issues. Consequently, too many people experiencing loneliness require help in overcoming these impediments, so that they can make the meaningful connections needed to improve their circumstances.

Communities and their constituents have important responsibilities to help those feeling lonely make desired connections and come to feel they belong, establishing a foundation for substantial wellbeing gains. The involvement of others is essential because they can provide opportunities for meaningful social connections and help turn opportunities into reality. As Christians, we should want to accept these responsibilities, not just as individuals, but also collectively as communities. The guiding principle is to treat others as we would like to be treated (Matthew 7: 12) or to love our neighbours (broadly defined to include strangers) as ourselves, as exemplified by the iconic example of unconditional kindness, the Parable of the Good Samaritan (Luke 10: 25-37).

The prevalence and serious consequences of loneliness provide opportunities for Anglican communities to reach into surrounding regional or district communities to collaborate with others to help those who feel lonely form meaningful relationships, the most effective way of alleviating loneliness. Pursuit of these opportunities combines loving our neighbours as ourselves and sharing the Gospel through practical action to address a disturbing contemporary problem.

Appropriately, representatives of many Anglican communities across southern Queensland have expressed interest in participation in a community-connections programme to help alleviate loneliness. Each of these communities potentially could become a community-connections hub or could join with others to form a hub to serve the relevant broader regional (or district) community. The various geographically oriented hubs could be supplemented by and linked to a digital-resourcing-and-connections hub that would extend the reach of the community-connections

programme within and beyond regional communities, provide a conduit for relevant information, and facilitate inter-hub cooperative activity.

Addressing widespread loneliness is a complex problem because it has multiple potential causes, and individuals are complicated, often are reluctant to admit feeling lonely, and differ greatly in terms of interests/preferences, personalities, backgrounds, locations, and other circumstances. While having multiple community-connections hubs might appear to exacerbate the complexity of the task of loneliness alleviation, it has the redeeming feature of allowing diversity of approaches to take account of differing circumstances in hubs and surrounding communities. Variations in hubs' circumstances mean the appropriate mix of initiatives could be expected to differ between hubs.

An initiative of the Anglican Church SQ to facilitate adapting ministry in the context of complexity provides a framework that would assist parish-based hubs to discern the scope and content of belonging or community-connections programmes suited to their circumstances. Each hub would do this in the context of:

- the complex, multi-faceted nature of the loneliness problem
- the interests, skills, and other resources of participants in the hub
- the circumstances of the community encompassing the hub
- input sought and received from parties with an interest in the hub.

In this context, a wide-ranging, preliminary review of various mechanisms proposed and/or tried to address loneliness was undertaken. To provide an indication of the variety and differing quality of mechanisms identified, a selection of thirteen types of initiatives was made, and each was outlined and qualitatively assessed.

In the assessment of a various schemes, a range of matters was deemed to be important, having regard to the literature on loneliness and its alleviation, and to credible approaches to assessment of interventions in human affairs:

- means of finding people experiencing or at risk of loneliness
- ways of encouraging acceptance of help to avoid or overcome loneliness, including via education on the nature, consequences and prevalence of loneliness, and the benefits of community connections for wellbeing
- ascertaining what matters to each person
- helping each person to find a welcoming, safe group with matching, meaningful interests
- addressing obstacles to meaningful participation
- ensuring personal autonomy or free agency of each person
- respecting confidentiality and ensuring safety of participants
- addressing perceived stigma associated with loneliness
- recognising the complexity of the problem
- a community-based approach
- effectiveness in addressing the problem of loneliness
- efficiency (benefits relative to costs) of an initiative or package of initiatives
- fairness (distribution of benefits and costs) of intervention.

The tentative assessments of multiple schemes yielded widely varying outcomes. Another key finding is that multi-faceted problems like loneliness that have multiple causes and affect highly

heterogeneous people require multifaceted responses to be effective and efficient. Packaging of complementary measures is essential.

A community-referral-and-connection (social prescribing) framework has been shown to be the only scheme among those assessed that would provide a suitable overarching framework that includes means of identifying a wide range of people who feel lonely or crave connections with others, and a process for helping them find and connect with places-to-belong. However, this scheme, like the others, should not be perceived as a stand-alone loneliness-alleviation initiative, as it needs the support of other schemes that offer places-to-belong for specific cohorts. A community-referral-and-connection regime complemented by a wide variety of potential places-to-belong and some suitable supporting initiatives would appear to provide a suitable multi-faceted response.

Time banking was the only scheme assessed not to be worthy of further consideration for inclusion in a loneliness-alleviation programme. It is a seriously flawed scheme that was found to be deficient in multiple ways.

The other mechanisms assessed in this research were found to be useful complements to each other and to a community-referral-and-connection framework, although fine-tuning of mechanisms would be desirable. However, in isolation, their value is constrained because they are limited in scope. Despite this limitation, one of these mechanisms, "alleviating loneliness through helping others" was assessed to be a particularly desirable component of a community-connections programme targeting loneliness.

It is anticipated that additional insights on ways of tackling loneliness will be provided by the World Health Organisation's *Commission on Social Connection*, which will operate from 2024 to 2026. The Commission's work is also likely to trigger more academic activity on devising and assessing Ioneliness-alleviation or community-connections mechanisms.

An unresolved issue requiring additional analytically- or evidence-based insights is the specification of circumstances in which it is likely to be practical or impractical to implement a community-referral-and-connection scheme. For example, it may not be practical to deploy this complex mechanism in some small, isolated parish-based hubs in southern Queensland, because of resource constraints and lack of economies of scale, scope and density. These considerations are much less likely to be problems in large urban areas, but coordination issues are likely to increase with the number of parishes involved in a hub.

To shed more light on practicality questions, it would be sensible to trial community-referral-andconnection in a specific area or areas and learn from the exercise. The information gained from trialling this framework could be used to guide refinements of the approach, and decisions and design considerations in respect of its potential deployment in other areas.

For locational convenience, it is proposed to trial a community-referral-and-connection framework in Brisbane's inner suburbs (approximately Statistical Area, Level 4 – Brisbane Inner City). It would be supported by a community-connections hub involving Anglican communities in the relevant area, starting with nine and expanding to around 15. The community-referral-and-connection framework would involve numerous potential referrers and potential places-to-belong already in place in the broader community. It would be complemented by Anglican communities' new initiatives for specific cohorts that emerge from their discernment processes. An important feature of the trial to be known as *Brisbane Community Connections* is that it will allow relevant Anglican communities to work with members of the broader community in various practical ways to tackle an important community-wellbeing issue.

The southern boundary of the proposed focus area overlaps slightly with the northern fringe of the focus area of the well-established *Ways to Wellness* community-referral-and-connection scheme. This scheme's focus area is strictly confined to Statistical Area, Level 4 – Brisbane South by a Queensland Government funding condition. The southern and northern boundaries of *Brisbane Community Connections* will be blurred or "fuzzy" – based on commonsense or pragmatic considerations, rather than the official boundary of Statistical Area, Level 4 – Brisbane Inner City.

There are opportunities to cooperate with and learn from the organisers of the neighbouring *Ways* to *Wellness* scheme, because of geographical proximity and accumulated knowledge from the Mt Gravatt Community Centre's successful operation of the scheme for more than five years. Exchange of information is occurring. Other potential cooperation could include cross-referrals between *Ways* to *Wellness* and *Brisbane Community Connections* based on location of clients' residences and suitable places-to-belong. Some places-to-belong could be of interest to people in both schemes.

Information about the practicalities of establishing and running a community-referral-andconnection scheme in geographically and demographically different locations in south-eastern Queensland can be obtained by interacting with the sponsors and operators of schemes established in the second half of 2023 in the Caboolture-Kilcoy region, Oxenford (northern Gold Coast), Hervey Bay, and northern Townsville. This interaction is occurring. Relevant information is flowing in both directions.

Learning and cooperation could be further advanced by arranging the involvement of interested, appropriately located Anglican parishes in established community-referral-and-connection schemes. These parishes could be referrers and places-to-belong.

It is recognised that a community-referral-and-connection scheme needs to be complemented by advocacy of government action to address "structural" mechanisms of social exclusion (resulting from social, economic, regulatory, and other structures for which governments are responsible). The adverse effects of these mechanisms, at best, could be only partly offset by a community-referral-and-connection scheme.

Community-connections or loneliness-alleviation programmes need to be properly resourced to succeed. Volunteers can make important contributions to resourcing of such programmes. However, additional resourcing may be required to support various initiatives and volunteers involved in them, particularly if initiatives are complex and have broad scope.

Important resourcing requirements include training, information, and guidance for volunteers and employees in programmes addressing loneliness. This support includes advice on appropriate ways of interacting with and supporting vulnerable people, and discernment regarding the nature and extent of involvement of each parish-based hub in loneliness alleviation activities.

Interaction should continue with the Queensland Government, Brisbane City Council, and Primary Health Networks about resourcing support, as external support is desirable and initial discussions have revealed glimmers of promise. In addition, potential direct assistance from the Commonwealth Government and private sector entities should be investigated.

Attachment A – Indicators of Loneliness

Indicators of loneliness were gleaned from a variety of sources in the reference list. The categories of "leading" and "trailing" indicators were not drawn from those sources. They were perceived to be natural groupings of predictive factors and identifying characteristics of loneliness, respectively.

Leading Indicators

Feelings of loneliness may arise when a potential trigger interacts with a pre-existing risk factor. Triggers may co-occur. Also, risk factors may co-occur (Lim, Eres, Vasan, 2020).

Potential Triggers

A major life transition or change in life circumstances that disrupts connections with other people, such as:

- bereavement
- relationship breakdown
- retirement
- unemployment
- changing employment
- changing educational institution
- moving to another city, town, or region
- children leaving home
- becoming a parent
- taking on caring responsibilities in respect of a family member
- having to give up driving a vehicle
- experience of bullying
- experience of discrimination
- experience of another form of social exclusion.

Pre-existing Risk Factors

Living alone.

Working alone.

Time poverty arising from heavy responsibilities.

Low socio-economic status.

Limited English (refugees, new immigrants, etc).

Racial and ethnic minorities.

LGBTIQA+.

Depression and/or anxiety.

Chronic health condition: physical, mental, or cognitive.

Older people.

Older adolescents and young adults, particularly females.

Trailing Indicators

Withdrawal from contact with others.

Reduced activity.

Social anxiety.

Behaviour that puts others off.

Relatively high scores on the UCLA Loneliness Scale (Russell, 1996; Russell. et al, 1980) in its full 20question format or a reduced-question format, a sub-set of the longer list of questions, have been widely accepted as indicators of loneliness (Badcock, et al, 2021). Questions in the long and short formats do not refer directly to loneliness, to avoid the issue of reluctance to admit feeling lonely in some cases. A reduced-format test is often used as it is easier to administer. One reduced-question test asks for responses to three questions included in the original 20 questions: "I feel left out", I feel isolated", and "I lack companionship", with choices to be made in each case from "hardly ever" (one point), "some of the time" (two points), and "often" (three points). Higher scores indicate a greater degree of loneliness (Hughes, et al, 2004).

References

Access Health and Community (2023), *Access to Community (A2C)*, Melbourne, accessed November 2023, at <u>https://accesshc.org.au/A2C</u>.

Age UK (2022), *Telephone Friendship*, at <u>https://www.ageuk.org.uk/services/befriending-services/sign-up-for-telephone-befriending/</u>.

Akerlof, G. (1970), "The Market for 'Lemons': Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 84, 3, August, pp. 488-500, <u>https://viterbi-</u>web.usc.edu/~shaddin/cs590fa13/papers/AkerlofMarketforLemons.pdf.

Anderson, J. (2024), "The Role of Social Prescribing in Tackling Loneliness in Young People", *Publica*, forthcoming, at <u>https://publica.org.au/publica-papers/</u>.

Andrews, J. (2021), *The Reconnected Heart: How Relationships Can Help Us Heal*, Brisbane: Heart in Mind Books.

Ang, S. (2021), "The Social Circles Framework – A New Theoretical Framework for Mapping the Domains of Loneliness and Social Connectedness", *Academia Letters*, 2496, July, pp. 1-7, at <u>https://www.academia.edu/50405444/The_Social_Circles_Framework_A_New_Theoretical_Framework for Mapping the Domains of Loneliness and Social Connectedness?auto=download&email_work_card=download-paper.</u>

Anglicare Southern Queensland (2023), *Community Visitors Scheme*, accessed June 2023, at <u>https://anglicaresq.org.au/volunteers/cvs/</u>.

Antonovsky, A. (1996), "The Salutogenic Model as a Theory to Guide Health Promotion", *Health Promotion International*, 11, 1, March, pp. 11-18, at https://academic.oup.com/heapro/article/11/1/11/582748.

Armstrong, C. (2023), "Friends for Only a Few: Phone Line for Lonely Aussies Leaves 300,000 on Hold as 14 Callers Hog Service", *The Courier-Mail*, 29 May, p. 3.

Arrow, K. (1975), "Gifts and Exchanges" in Phelps, E. (ed), *Altruism, Morality and Economic Theory*, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1975, pp. 13-28.

Arthur, B. (2021), "Foundations of Complexity Economics", *Nature Reviews Physics*, 3, January, pp. 136-145, at <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s42254-020-00273-3</u>.

Astell-Burt, T. (2022), "Green Space and Loneliness: A Systematic Review with Theoretical and Methodological Guidance for Future Research", *Science of the Total Environment*, 847, 157521, pp. 1-16, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969722046198</u>.

Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Education and Community Inclusion (2024), *Inquiry into Loneliness and Social Isolation in the ACT*, Report 13, 10th Assembly, Canberra, August, at

https://www.parliament.act.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/2559096/Report-13-Inquiry-into-Loneliness-and-Social-Isolation-in-the-ACT.pdf.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2023a), "Social Isolation, Loneliness and Wellbeing" in *Australia's Welfare 2023: Data Insights*, Canberra: Australian Government, 7 September, chapter 2,

pp. 25-42, at https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/c47cb232-4f6f-4eb0-853e-d6018f6ee01c/aihw-aus-246 chapter 2.pdf.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2023b), *Social Isolation and Loneliness*, Canberra: Australian Government, 7 September, at <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-</u>welfare/social-isolation-and-loneliness.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2022), *Social Isolation and Loneliness*, Canberra: Australian Government, 31 May, at <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/social-isolation-and-loneliness-covid-pandemic</u>.

Australian Psychological Society and Lim, M. (2018), *Australian Loneliness Report: A Survey Exploring the Loneliness Levels of Australians and the Impact on Their Health and Wellbeing*, November, at https://psychweek.org.au/wp/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Psychology-Week-2018-Australian-Loneliness-Report-1.pdf.

Badcock, J., et al (2022), *Position Statement: Addressing Social Isolation and Loneliness and the Power of Human Connection*, Global Initiative on Loneliness and Connection (GILC), May, at https://www.gilc.global/general-6.

Badcock, J., et al (2021), A Guide to Measuring Loneliness for Community Organisations, Pyrmont: Ending Loneliness Together, 12 August, at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/08/A-Guide-to-Measuring-Loneliness-for-Community-Organisations_Ending-</u> <u>Loneliness-Together.pdf</u>.

Badcock, J., Preece, D., and Badcock, A. (2023), "Why Loneliness Matters in Clinical Practice: A Primer for Clinical- and Neuro-Psychologists", *Journal of Emotion and Psychopathology*, 1, 1, January, pp. 52-71, at <u>https://doi.org/10.55913/joep.v1i1.21</u>.

Badcock, J, and Lim, M., (2021), A Guide to Evaluating Loneliness for Community Organisations, Pyrmont: Ending Loneliness Together, 6 December, <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/12/ELT_2_Guide-to-Evaluating-Loneliness-for-Community-</u> <u>Organisations_Dec-2021.pdf</u>.

Barker, S. (2023), "Brewing Community Connections with a Cuppa and Company", *Anglican Focus*, 25 August, at <u>https://anglicanfocus.org.au/2023/08/25/brewing-community-connections-with-a-cuppa-and-company/</u>.

Barnes, T., et al (2022), "Cumulative Effect of Loneliness and Social Isolation on Health Outcomes Among Older Adults", *Aging and Mental Health*, 26, 7, July, pp.1327-1334, at <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/epdf/10.1080/13607863.2021.1940096?needAccess=true</u>.

Barreto, M. (2022), *It Takes a Village to Make Someone Lonely*, Nobel Conference 58, Mental Health (In) Equity and Young People, Gustavus Adolphus College, Saint Peter, Minnesota, 29 September, at https://fit2belong.eu/article/it-takes-village-make-someone-lonely.

Barreto, M. (2020), "Seven Myths About Loneliness: What We Say and What We Should Say Instead", *Psychology Today*, 9 November, at <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/au/blog/identity-and-community/202011/seven-myths-about-loneliness</u>.

Barreto, M., Qualter, P. and Doyle, D. (2023), *Loneliness Inequalities Evidence Review*, Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy (Cardiff University), August, at <u>https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2023/08/WCPP-REPORT-Loneliness-Inequalities-Evidence-Review.pdf</u>. Barreto, M., et al (2022), "Exploring the Nature and Variation of the Stigma Associated with Loneliness", *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 39, 9, pp. 2658-2679, at https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/02654075221087190.

Barreto, M., et al (2021), "Loneliness Around the World: Age, Gender, and Cultural Differences in Loneliness", *Personality and Individual Differences*, 169, February, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0191886920302555</u>.

Barrett, A. (2018), "What Is Radical Receptivity?", *BAME Anglican*, September, at https://bameanglican.wordpress.com/2018/09/22/what-is-radical-receptivity/.

Barry, M. and Edgman-Levitan, S. (2012), "Shared Decision-Making – The Pinnacle of Patient Centred Care", *New England Journal of Medicine*, 366, 9, March, pp. 780-781, at https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/shared_decision_making/files/sdm_pinnacle_of_patient_cente red_care.pdf?m=1446225643.

Batsleer, J. and Duggan, J. (2021), *Young and Lonely: The Social Conditions of Loneliness*, Bristol: Bristol University Press.

Beckers A., et al (2022), *Effectiveness of Interventions Tackling Loneliness: A Literature Review*, European Commission – Joint Research Centre JRC130944, 2 December, at <u>https://joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu/scientific-activities-z/loneliness/loneliness-publications_en</u>.

Beaumont, S. (2019), *How to Lead When You Don't Know Where You're Going: Leading in a Liminal Season*, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Beller, J. (2023), "Loneliness and Mortality: the Moderating Effect of Positive Affect", *Applied Psychology: Health and Wellbeing*, 15, 1, February, pp. 49-65, at <u>https://iaap-journals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/aphw.12354</u>.

Beller, J. and Wagner, A. (2018), "Loneliness, Social Isolation, Their Synergistic Interaction, and Mortality", *Health Psychology*, 37, 9, September, pp. 808-813, at <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327361689_Loneliness_social_isolation_their_synergisti</u> <u>c_interaction_and_mortality/link/6225c0739f7b324634152af0/download</u>.

Berg-Weger. M., Cudjoe, T., and Lyu, Y. (2024), *Addressing the Impact of COVID-19 on Social Isolation and Loneliness*, Rapid Expert Consultation, Societal Experts Action Network for National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, Washington: The National Academies Press, July, at http://nap.nationalacademies.org/27874.

Bertotti, M., Frostick, C., et al (2020), *A Two-Year Evaluation of the Young People Social Prescribing Pilot: An Outcome, Process and Economic Evaluation of Social Prescribing for Young People in Three English Sites*, Institute for Connected Communities, University of East London (funded by Department of Health and Social Care), December, at

https://repository.uel.ac.uk/download/5c63906437d90e4093a320b51355232d12648ab00d6df9313 7b1aefa74dfc892/851983/SP%20for%20young%20people%20evaluation%20final%20report%20for% 20publication.pdf.

Bertotti, M., Hayes, D., et al (2022), Social Prescribing for Children and Young People, *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 6, 12, December, reproduced by Open Research Exeter at, https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10871/131123/Bertotti%20et%20al%202022 https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10871/131123/Bertotti%20et%20al%202022 https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10871/131123/Bertotti%20et%20al%202022

Bertotti, M. and Husk, K. (2021), "Social Prescribing, Evidence and Progress; the View from England", *European Journal of Public Health*, 31, Supplement 3, October, p. iii166.

Beyond Blue (2023), *Connections Matter: Helping Older People Stay* Socially *Active*, accessed February 2023, at <u>https://www.beyondblue.org.au/docs/default-</u><u>source/resources/408362_0318_bl1366_hrnt.pdf</u>.

Beyond Differences (2024), *We Are Beyond Differences*, accessed 25 July 2024, at <u>https://www.beyonddifferences.org/</u>.

Bhatti, S., et al (2021), "Using Self-Determination Theory to Understand the Social Prescribing Process: A Qualitative Study", *BJGP Open*, 5, 2, April, pp. 1-10, at https://bjgpopen.org/content/bjgpoa/5/2/BJGPO.2020.0153.full.pdf.

Bickerdike, L., et al (2017), "Social Prescribing: Less Rhetoric and More Reality – A Systematic Review of the Evidence", *BMJ Open*, 7, e013384, at <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/7/4/e013384</u>.

Bowles, S. and Gintis, H. (2002), "Social Capital and Community Governance", *Economic Journal*, 112, 483, November, pp. F419-F436, at <u>http://www.umass.edu/preferen/gintis/Bowles-Gintis-EJ%202002.pdf</u>.

Boyle, M., et al (2022), "Time Banking Definition", *Investopedia*, 22 September at <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/t/time-banking.asp</u>.

Brennan, E. (2021), "Digital Loneliness: Asking Too Simple a Question About a Complex Problem" in Balbi, G., Costa Ribeiro, N., Schafer, V. and Schwarzenegger, C. (eds), *Digital Roots: Historicising Media and Communication Concepts of the Digital Age*, Berlin: De Gruyter Oldenbourg, 2021, pp. 229-244., at <u>https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/9783110740202-</u> 013/html?lang=en.

Bromley-by-Bow Centre (2023), *Bromley-by-Bow Centre: History* and *Bromley-by-Bow Centre; Social Prescribing*, accessed March 2023, at <u>https://www.bbbc.org.uk/about-us/our-history/</u> and <u>https://www.bbbc.org.uk/social-prescribing/</u>.

Brown, B. (2012), *Daring Greatly: How the Courage to Be Vulnerable Transforms the Way We Live, Love, Parent, and Lead*, Sydney: Penguin Random House.

Buchanan, J. (1975), "The Samaritan's Dilemma" in Phelps, E. (ed.), *Altruism, Morality and Economic Theory*, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1975, pp. 71-84.

Burgess, G. and Durrant, D. (2019), "Reciprocity in the Coproduction of Public Services: the Role of Volunteering through Community Time Exchange?", *Social Policy and Society*, 18, 2, April, pp. 171-186, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6420047/.

Cacioppo, J. and Cacioppo, S. (2012), "The Phenotype of Loneliness", *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 9, 4, July, pp. 456-452, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3459997/pdf/nihms-378104.pdf.

Cacioppo, J. and Cacioppo, S. (2018), "The Growing Problem of Loneliness", *The Lancet*, 391, 10119, 3 February, p. 426, at <u>https://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0140-6736%2818%2930142-9</u>.

Cacioppo, J. and Patrick, W. (2008), *Loneliness: Human Nature and the Need for Social Connection*, New York: Norton.

Cacioppo, S. (2022), Wired for Love: A Neuroscientist's Journey through Romance, Loss and the Essence of Human Connection, London: Robinson Little Brown.

Cacioppo, S., et al (2015), "Loneliness Clinical Import and Interventions", *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10, 2, March, 1pp. 238-249, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4391342/pdf/nihms645836.pdf.

Cahn, E. (2004), No More Throwaway People, second edition, Washington: Essential Books.

Cahn, E. and Gray, C. (2015), "The Time Bank Solution", *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Summer, at <u>https://ssir.org/articles/entry/the_time_bank_solution</u>.

Campaign to End Loneliness (2020), *The Psychology of Loneliness: Why it Matters and What We Can Do*, London: Independent Age (Royal United Kingdom Beneficent Association), July, at https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Psychology_of_Loneliness_FINAL_REPORT.pdf.

Casabianca, E., Nurminen, M. and Stepanova, E. (2023), *Policy Considerations for Loneliness Interventions*, Fairness Policy Brief 4/2023, European Commission – Joint Research Centre JRC133369, 5 June, at <u>https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC133369</u>.

Cave, N. (2024), "Thoughts About Loneliness", *The Red Hand Files*, 295, July, at <u>https://www.theredhandfiles.com/thoughts-about-loneliness/</u>.

Charles, V. and Wolfer, T. (2018), "Loneliness and Congregational Social Work", *Social Work and Christianity*, 45, 1, Spring (March), pp. 8-23.

Chatty Café Scheme Australia (2023), *About Chatty*, accessed 21 September 2023, at <u>https://chattycafeaustralia.org.au/our-impact/</u>.

Chen, E., et al (2021), "The Balance of Giving Versus Receiving Social Support and All-Cause Mortality in a US National Sample", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118, 24, pp. 1-7, at https://www.pnas.org/doi/epdf/10.1073/pnas.2024770118.

Coates, T. (2023a), *Overcoming Loneliness and Social Isolation with the Power of Digital Technology*, Brisbane: Warm Pathways, 14 February.

Coates, T. (2023b), Virtual Hub, Brisbane: Warm Pathways, 6 March.

Coles, R. (1997), *Rethinking Generosity: Critical Theory and the Politics of Caritas*, Ithaca (NY): Cornell University Press.

Collier, P. and Kay, J. (2020), *Greed is Dead: Politics After Individualism*, London: Allen Lane.

Community Houses Association of the Outer-Eastern Suburbs (CHAOS) (2023), *Living Our Best Life*, Melbourne, accessed November 2023, at <u>https://livingourbestlife.org.au/</u>.

Coote, A., et al (2008), *The New Wealth of Time: How Timebanking Helps People Build Better Public Services*, London: New Economics Foundation, November, at https://neweconomics.org/uploads/files/3303e9051e1e0a62ef rrm6bu0a4.pdf.

Corbett, S. and Fikkert, B. (2012), *When Helping Hurts: How to Alleviate Poverty without Hurting the Poor and Yourself*, second edition, Chicago: Moody.

Costa, A., et al (2021), "Effectiveness of Social Prescribing Programmes in the Primary Health-Care Context: A Systematic Literature Review", *Sustainability*, 13, 2731, at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/5/2731</u>.

Creed, F. (2022), *The Church as a Place for Connection: Building Social Capital Across Social and Cultural Boundaries in Australian Communities*, PhD Thesis, Alphacrucis College, May.

da Costa Roque (2024). "No Holiday for the Needy", The Courier-Mail, 8 January, p. 20.

Daly, M. and Silver, H. (2008), "Social Exclusion and Social Capital: A Comparison and Critique", *Theory and Society*, 37, 6, December, pp. 537-566, at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/225721184_Social_Exclusion_and_Social_Capital_A_Comparison_and_Critique.

Danvers, A., et al (2023), "Loneliness and Time Alone in Everyday Life: A Descriptive-Exploratory Study of Subjective and Objective Social Isolation", *Journal of Research in Personality*, 107, 104426, December, pp. 1-15, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092656623000880</u>.

Dasgupta, P. (2005), "The Economics of Social Capital", *Economic Record*, 81, S1, August, pp. S2-S21, at <u>https://www.econ.cam.ac.uk/people-files/emeritus/pd10000/publications/07/soccap.pdf</u>.

Dasgupta, P. and Serageldin, I. (eds) (2000), *Social Capital: A Multifaceted Perspective*, Washington: World Bank.

Davidson, E., et al (2022), "The Relationship between Loneliness and Positive Affect in Older Adults", *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 30, 6, June, pp. 678-685, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9095765/pdf/nihms-1780440.pdf.

Department of Health and Aged Care (2023), *Community Visitors Scheme (Aged Care Volunteer Visitors Scheme)*, Commonwealth of Australia, 1 June, at <u>https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/community-visitors-scheme-cvs</u>.

Dingle, G. and Sharman, L. (2022), "Social Prescribing: A Review of the Literature" in Menzies, R.G., Menzies, R.E., Dingle, G. (eds), *Existential Concerns and Cognitive Behavioural Procedures – An Integrative Approach to Mental Health*, Cham (Switzerland): Springer, 2022, chapter 8.

Dingle, G., et al (2022), "A Controlled Evaluation of the Effect of Social Prescribing Programmes on Loneliness for Adults in Queensland, Australia (Protocol)", *BMC Public Health*, 22, 1384, 19 July, at https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-022-13743-3.

Dingle, G., Sharman, L., and Hayes, S. (2021), *Submission to Queensland Parliamentary Inquiry into Social Isolation and Loneliness*, School of Psychology, University of Queensland, August, at https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/com/CSSC-0A12/IQ-DD31/submissions/00000093.pdf.

Dixit, A. and Pindyck, R. (1994), Investment Under Uncertainty, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Duerden, N. (2018), A Life Less Lonely: What We Can All Do to Lead More Connected, Kinder Lives, London: Bloomsbury-Green Tree.

Eager, S., et al (2024), "Young People's Views on the Acceptability and Feasibility of Loneliness Initiatives for Their Age Group", *BMC Psychiatry*, 24, 308, pp. 1-13, at https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-024-05751-x.

Eccles, A. and Qualter, P. (2021), "Review: Alleviating Loneliness in Young People – A Meta-Analysis of Interventions", *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 26, 1, pp. 17-33, at https://acamh.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/camh.12389.

Ellard, O., Dennison, C., and Tuomainen, H. (2023), "Interventions Addressing Loneliness Amongst University Students: A Systematic Review", *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 28, 4, November, pp. 512-523, at <u>https://acamh.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/camh.12614</u>.

Ellender, G. and Bonner, M. (2021), "All the lonely people, where do they all belong", *Journal of Mental Health Disorders*, 1, 1, pp. 15-28, at <u>https://www.scientificarchives.com/public/assets/articles/article-pdf-1662794682-45.pdf</u>.

Ending Loneliness Together (2024). Why We Feel Lonely. A Deep Dive into How Different Life Circumstances Contribute to Persistent Loneliness and Social Isolation, Sydney, July, at https://lonelinessawarenessweek.com.au/wpcontent/uploads/2024/08/why-we-feel-lonely.pdf.

Ending Loneliness Together (2023a), *State of the Nation Report – Social Connection in Australia 2023*, Pyrmont, 7 August, at <u>https://lonelinessawarenessweek.com.au/wp-</u>content/uploads/2023/08/state-of-nation-social-connection-2023.pdf.

Ending Loneliness Together (2023b), *Ending Loneliness Directory*, Pyrmont, 26 March, at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/search/</u>.

Ending Loneliness Together (2022), *Strengthening Social Connection to Accelerate Social Recovery: A White Paper*, Pyrmont, July, at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ELT Whitepaper July2022-1.pdf</u>.

Ending Loneliness Together (2021), *Targeting Loneliness and Social Isolation in Queensland:* Submission to Queensland Parliamentary Inquiry into Social Isolation and Loneliness in Queensland, August, at <u>https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/com/CSSC-0A12/IQ-DD31/submissions/00000030.pdf</u>.

Ending Loneliness Together (2020), *Ending Loneliness Together in Australia: White Paper*, Pyrmont, November, at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Ending-Loneliness-Together-in-Australia_Nov20.pdf</u>.

Evers, S., et al (2024), "Theories Used to Develop or Evaluate Social Prescribing in Studies: A Scoping Review", *BMC Health Services Research*, 24, 140, pp. 1-15, at https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-024-10563-6r.

Fikkert, B. and Kapic, K. (2019a), *Becoming Whole: Why the Opposite of Poverty Isn't the American Dream*, Chicago: Moody.

Fikkert, B. and Kapic, K. (2019b), A Field Guide to Becoming Whole: Principles for Poverty Alleviation Ministries, Chicago: Moody.

Filipe, A., et al (2017), "The Co-production of What? Knowledge, Values, and Social Relations in Health Care", *PLoS Biology*, 15, 5, at https://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article/file?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.2001403&type=printable.

FitzGerald, L, (ca 2022), *Living Our Best Life Project: Trialling Social Prescribing in the City of Knox*, Melbourne: Community Houses Association of the Outer-Eastern Suburbs and Temple Society, undated, but apparently 2022, accessed November 2023, at <u>https://livingourbestlife.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2023/03/lobl-project-report-proof-2.pdf</u>. Foster, A., et al (2021), "Impact of Social Prescribing to Address Loneliness: A Mixed Methods Evaluation of a National Social Prescribing Programme", Health and Social Care in the Community, 29, 5, September, pp. 1439-1449, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/hsc.13200.

Franklin, A., et al (2019), "Towards an Understanding of Loneliness Among Australian Men: Gender Cultures, Embodied Expression and the Social Bases of Belonging", Journal of Sociology, 55, 1, pp. 124-143, at https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1440783318777309.

Frey, B. (2008), Happiness: A Revolution in Economics, Cambridge Ma: MIT Press.

Friends for Good (2023), FriendLine: Helping Australians Reconnect, accessed May 2023, at https://www.friendline.org.au/?url=/.

Gaboury, J. (2020), Wait with Me: Meeting God in Loneliness, Downers Grove (Illinois): InterVarsity Press.

Gardiner, C., Geldenhuys, G., and Gott, M. (2018), "Interventions to Reduce Social Isolation and Loneliness Among Older People: An Integrative Review", Health and Social Care in the Community, 26, 2, pp. 147-157, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.12367.

Glaeser, E., et al (2002), "An Economic Approach to Social Capital", Economic Journal, 112, 483, November, pp. F347-F458, at

https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/glaeser/files/economicapproachsocialcapital.pdf.

Glückler, J. and Hoffmann, J. (2022), "Time Banks as Transient Civic Organisations? Exploring the Dynamics of Decline" in Glückler, J., Meyer, H., and Suarsana, L. (eds), Knowledge and Civil Society, Knowledge and Space Vol. 17, New York/Basingstoke/Heidelberg: Springer, 2022, pp. 131-146, at https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-71147-4_7.

Glynos, J., et al (2023), "Paradoxes in the Management of Timebanks in the UK's Voluntary Sector: Discursive Bricolage and its Limits", Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Non-Profit Organisations, 34, June, pp. 486-496, at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11266-022-00467-6.

Grangie, G. (2022), "Are We Losing Touch? Looking at Loneliness and Isolation in the Digital Age", Digital Ecology, 9 December, at https://ecologiadigitale.it/2022/12/09/are-we-losing-touch-lookingat-loneliness-and-isolation-in-the-digital-age/.

Greaves, G. (2022), "Lessons from a Benevolent Barista", Anglican Focus, 29 September, at https://anglicanfocus.org.au/2022/09/29/lessons-from-a-benevolent-barista/.

Gregory, L. (2021), "Pride and Purpose: Reflections on Time Banking Practice for Fostering Social Networks in Wellbeing Improvement Schemes", Journal of Social Policy, 50, 3, July, pp. 627-644, at http://pure-oai.bham.ac.uk/ws/files/95602242/Revised RR v6 to submit.pdf.

Griffiths, M., Perera, Y. and Albinsson, P. (2022), "Lives of the Lonely: How Collaborative Consumption Services Can Alleviate Social Isolation", Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 826533, March, pp. 1-5, at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.826533/full.

Hall, J. (2019), "How Many Hours Does it Take to Make a Friend?", Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, 36, 4, pp. 1278-1296, at

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0265407518761225.

Hall, J., Pennington, N. and Merolla, A. (2023), "Which Mediated Social Interactions Satisfy the Need to Belong?", *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 28, 1, January, pp. 1-12, at https://academic.oup.com/jcmc/article/28/1/zmac026/6825471.

Hall, J., Holmstrom, A. and Totzkay, D. (2023), "Quality Conversation Can Increase Daily Well-Being", *Communication Research*, Online First, 27 January, at <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00936502221139363</u>.

Hansen, B. (1955), The Economic Theory of Fiscal Policy, London: George Allen and Unwin.

Hari, J. (2018), Lost Connections: Why You're Depressed and How to Find Hope, London: Bloomsbury.

Haslam, C., et al (2024), "Tackling Loneliness Together: A Three Tier Social Identity Framework for Social Prescribing – Group Processes and Intergroup Relations", *Group Processes and Intergroup Relations*, to be incorporated in GPIR 25th Anniversary Special Issue, and published in advance online, 30 April, pp. 1-23, at <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/13684302241242434</u>.

Haslam, C., et al (2019), "Groups 4 Health Reduces Loneliness and Social Anxiety in Adults with Psychological Distress: Findings from a Randomised Controlled Trial", *Journal of Consulting Clinical Psychology*, 87, 9, pp. 787-801, at

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/335529981 GROUPS 4 HEALTH reduces loneliness an d social anxiety in adults with psychological distress Findings from a randomized controlled t rial/link/5eae118aa6fdcc7050a494fd/download.

Hassan, S., et al (2023), "Social Prescribing Practices and Learning Across the North West Coast Region: Essential Elements and Key Challenges to Implementing Effective and Sustainable Social Prescribing Services", *BMC Health Services Research*, 23, article 562, May, at <u>https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-023-09574-6</u>.

Hawkley, L. and Cacioppo, J. (2010), "Loneliness Matters: A Theoretical and Empirical Review of Consequences and Mechanisms", *Annals of Behavioural Medicine*, 40, 2, October, pp. 218-227, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3874845/pdf/nihms538929.pdf.

Headspace, *Loneliness Over Time: Headspace National Youth Mental Health Survey 2020 (2018-2020)*, at <u>https://headspace.org.au/assets/HSP10869-Loneliness-Report_FA01.pdf</u>.

Healthy Male (2023a), *Loneliness and Social Isolation*, at <u>https://www.healthymale.org.au/mens-health/loneliness-and-social-isolation</u>.

Healthy Male (2023b), *Understanding Loneliness Men's Health Week 2023*, at <u>https://www.healthymale.org.au/mens-health-week-2023</u>.

Herrmann, W., et al (2021), "The Evidence of Social Prescribing – Challenges Found in Conducting a Systematic Review", *European Journal of Public Health*, 31, Supplement 3, October, p. iii167.

Holt-Lunstad, J. (2023), "National Health Guidelines for Social Connection: What is the Evidence in Support and What Might the Guidelines Say?", *Policy Insights from the Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, 10, 1, pp. 41-50, <u>https://www.midus.wisc.edu/findings/pdfs/2665.pdf</u>.

Holt-Lunstad, J. (2022), "Social Connection as a Public Health Issue: The Evidence and Systematic Framework for Prioritising the 'Social' in Social Determinants of Health", *Annual Review of Public Health*, 43, pp. 193-213, at <u>https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-052020-110732</u>.

Holt-Lunstad, J. (2021), "Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors: The Power of Social Connection in Prevention", *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 15, 5, pp. 567-573, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8504333/pdf/10.1177

Holt-Lunstad, J. (2017), "The Potential Public Health Relevance of Social Isolation and Loneliness: Prevalence, Epidemiology, and Risk Factors", *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 27, 4, pp. 127-130, at <u>https://academic.oup.com/ppar/article/27/4/127/4782506</u>.

Holt-Lunstad, J. and Perissinotto, C. (2023), "Social Isolation and Loneliness as Medical Issues", The *New England Journal of Medicine*, 388, 3, 19 January, pp. 193-195, at https://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMp2208029.

Holt-Lunstad, J., et al (2017), "Advancing Social Connection as a Public Health Priority in the United States", *The American Psychologist*, 72, 6, pp. 517-530, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5598785/.

Holt-Lunstad, J., et al (2015), "Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic Review", *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10, 2, pp. 227-237, at <u>https://local.psy.miami.edu/faculty/dmessinger/c_c/rsrcs/rdgs/emot/PerspectivesonPsychologicalScience-2015-Holt-Lunstad-227-37.pdf</u>.

Holt-Lunstad, J., et al (2010), "Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: a Meta-Analytic Review", *PLOS Medicine*, 7, 7, July, pp. 1-19, at

https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article/file?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316&type=printab le.

Hong, J., et al (2023), "Are Loneliness and Social Isolation Equal Threats to Health and Wellbeing? An Outcome-Wide Longitudinal Approach", *SSM Population Health*, 23, 101459, September, pp. 1-11, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10400921/pdf/main.pdf.

Hong, J., et al (2024), "The Silent Epidemic of Loneliness: Identifying the Antecedents of Loneliness Using A Lagged Exposure-Wide Approach", *Psychological Medicine*, 54, March, pp. 1519-1532, at https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291723002581.

Hughes, M., et al (2004), "A Short Scale for Measuring Loneliness in Large Surveys: Results from Two Population-Based Studies", *Research on Ageing*, 26, 6, November pp. 655-672, at https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/epdf/10.1177/0164027504268574.

Husk, K., et al (2020), "What Approaches to Social Prescribing Work for Whom, and in What Circumstances? A Realist Review", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 28, 2, March, pp. 309-324, at <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.12839</u>.

Hutchinson, P., et al (2023), *How to Get Started with Co-Production in Social Prescribing*, London: National Academy for Social Prescribing, Royal Voluntary Service and Co-production Collective, March, at <u>https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/media/m2hbxqom/how-to-get-started-with-co-production-in-social-prescribing-1.pdf</u>.

Ivers, R. and Astell-Burt, T. (2023), "Nature Rx: Nature Prescribing in General Practice", *Australian Journal of General Practice*, 52, 4, April, pp. 183-187, at https://www1.racgp.org.au/ajgp/2023/april/nature-prescribing-in-general-practice.

Jing, J., et al (2024), "The Role of Third Place Concerning Loneliness in the Context of Ageing in Place: Three Neighbourhoods in Stockholm", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 2024, 1, January, pp. 1-16, at <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1155/2024/4172682</u>.

Johansson, E., Rapo, E., and Nilsson, I. (2021), "Can an Ecological-Transactional Systems Model in Occupational Therapy Contribute to a Social Prescribing Programme", *Irish Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 49, 2, pp. 115-118, at <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/IJOT-12-</u> <u>2020-0021/full/pdf?title=can-an-ecological-transactional-systems-model-in-occupational-therapy-</u> <u>contribute-to-a-social-prescribing-programme</u>.

Jopling, K., et al (2020a), *Promising Approaches Revisited: Effective Action on Loneliness in Later Life*, London: Campaign to End Loneliness, October, at <u>https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/Promising Approaches Revisited FULL REPORT.pdf</u>.

Jopling, K., et al (2020b), *Promising Approaches Revisited: Supplementary Case Studies*, London: Campaign to End Loneliness, October, at <u>https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/promising approaches revisited supplemental.pdf</u>.

Kakar, A. (2020), "Investigating Factors that Promote Time Banking for Sustainable Communitybased Socio-Economic Growth and Development", *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 107, 105623, June, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pli/S074756321830356X</u>.

Kay, J. (2010), Obliquity: Why Our Goals Are Best Achieved Indirectly, London: Penguin.

Khan, H., Chiva Giurca, B., et al (2023), *Social Prescribing Around the World*, London: Global Social Prescribing Alliance, World Health Organisation, and National Academy for Social Prescribing, at https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/media/4lbdy5ip/social-prescribing-around-the-world.pdf.

Kiely, B, et al (2022), "Effect of Social Prescribing Link Workers on Health Outcomes and Costs for Adults in Primary Care and Community Settings: A Systematic Review", *BMJ Open*, 17 October, at https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/bmjopen/12/10/e062951.full.pdf.

Kimberlee, R., et al (2022), *The Economic Impact of Social Prescribing*, Sheffield Hallam University for National Academy of Social Prescribing, London, at http://shura.shu.ac.uk/29932/1/evidence-summary-the-economic-impact-of-social-prescribing.pdf.

Krug, E. (2023), *It's Time to Harness the Power of Connection for Our Health and Well-Being*, Geneva: World Health Organisation, 15 November, at <u>https://www.who.int/news-</u> <u>room/commentaries/detail/it-s-time-to-harness-the-power-of-connection-for-our-health-and-wellbeing</u>.

Kubinakova, K. and Courtney, P. (2018), *Evaluating the Impact of a New Model of Time Banking*, University of Gloucestershire for Fair Shares, at <u>https://eprints.glos.ac.uk/6328/1/FS%20final%20report%20_final.pdf</u>.

Kurti, L., Jay, L., and Evans, R. (2023), "One Day You Will Feel Lonely: Learning from People with Disability about Loneliness and Social Isolation", *Publica*, 9 October, pp.1-15, at https://publica.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Publica-Disability.pdf.

Lam, J., et al (2021), "Neurobiology of Loneliness: A Systematic Review", *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 46, pp. 1873-1887, at <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s41386-021-01058-7</u>.

Law, H. (2023), "Ethno-Biopsychosocial Model for Social Prescribing Across Cultures", *Psychotherapy Section Review*, 1, 68, January, pp. 13-29, at

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369086328 Ethno biopsychosocial model for social p rescribing across cultures.

Lee, C., et al (2020), "Community Exchange and Time Currencies: A Systematic In-Depth Thematic Review of Impact on Public Health Outcomes", *Public Health*, 180, March , pp. 117-128, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7093815/?report=printable.

Lee, K. (2017), *Volunteer-Led Social Prescribing: Community CVS, Blackburn and Darwen*, Community CVS (UK), at <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/len-case-study-blackburn-darwen-community.pdf</u>.

Li, Q. (2022), "Effects of Forest Environment (Shinrin-Yoku / Forest Bathing) on Health Promotion and Disease Prevention – the Establishment of 'Forest Medicine'" *Environmental Health and Preventative Medicine*, 27, 43, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9665958/pdf/ehpm-27-043.pdf.

Lifeline (2021), *Lifeline's Care Kit*, Sydney.

Lim, M. (2021), "All the Lonely People: Why Loneliness is Australia's Next Public Health Crisis", *Telstra Exchange*, 7 October, at <u>https://exchange.telstra.com.au/all-the-lonely-people-why-loneliness-is-australias-next-public-health-crisis/</u>.

Lim, M., et al (2023), "The Prevalence of Chronic and Episodic Loneliness and Social Isolation from a Longitudinal Survey", *Scientific Reports*, 13, 12453, pp. 1-12, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10393986/pdf/41598_2023 Article 39289.pdf.

Lim, M., et al (2021), "A Randomised Controlled Trial of the Nextdoor Kind Challenge: A Study Protocol, *BMC Public Health*, 21, 1510, 5 August, at https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-021-11489-y.

Lim, M., Eres, R. and Peck, C. (2019), *The Young Australian Loneliness Survey: Understanding Loneliness in Adolescents and Young Adults*, Swinburne University of Technology for Victorian Health Promotion Foundation, VicHealth, 2019, at <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/-/media/ResourceCentre/PublicationsandResources/Social-connection/The-young-Australian-loneliness-survey-Report.pdf?la=en&hash=94F3B075524F419C67901C4E5741F2DF9D29BF2A.</u>

Lim, M., Eres, R. and Vasan, S. (2020), "Understanding Loneliness in the Twenty-First Century: An Update on Correlates, Risk Factors and Potential Solutions", *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55, 7, July, pp. 793-810.

Limarutti, A., Maier, M. and Mir, E. (2023), "Exploring Loneliness and Students' Sense of Coherence in the University Setting", *Current Psychology*, 42, 11, April, pp. 9270-9281, at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12144-021-02016-8.

Litt, J., et al, (2024), "Nature-Based Social Interventions for People Experiencing Loneliness: the Rationale and Overview of the RECETAS Project", *Cities and Health*, 8 (published online 12 January), at <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/23748834.2023.2300207</u>.

Ludden, David (2017), "Is It Truly Better to Give Than to Receive? New Perspectives on Altruistic Behaviour", *Psychology Today*, 5 May, at <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/au/blog/talking-apes/201705/is-it-truly-better-give-receive</u>.

Mackay, H. (2024), The Way We Are: Lessons from a Lifetime of Listening, Sydney: Allen & Unwin.

Mackay, H. (2021a), The Kindness Revolution, Sydney: Allen & Unwin.

Mackay, H. (2021b), *Kindness: A Cure for Loneliness?*, Ending Loneliness Together, Pyrmont, 19 August, at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/kindness-a-cure-for-loneliness/</u>.

Mann, F., et al (2017), "A Life Less Lonely: the State of the Art in Interventions to Reduce Loneliness in People with Mental Health Problems", *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52, 6, pp. 627-638, at <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00127-017-1392-y</u>.

Masi, C, et al (2011), "A Meta-Analysis of Interventions to Reduce Loneliness", *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 15, 3, August, at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3865701/</u>.

Mauss, M. (1990, 1925), *The Gift: The Form and Reason for Exchange in Archaic Societies*, London: Routledge, 1990 (published in French language as *Essai sur le Don* in 1950, and drawn from a series of articles in L'Année Sociologique, 1925), at <u>https://files.libcom.org/files/Mauss%20-</u> <u>%20The%20Gift.pdf</u>.

McCartney, P. (1966), "Eleanor Rigby", in The Beatles, *Revolver*, Universal Music Group.

Meehan, D., et al (2023), "Social-Ecological Factors Influencing Loneliness and Social Isolation in Older People: A Scoping Review", *BMC Geriatrics*, 23, 726, pp. 1-28, at https://bmcgeriatr.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12877-023-04418-8.

Meeks, T. and Jeste, D. (2009), "Neurobiology of Wisdom", *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66, 4, April, at <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapsychiatry/fullarticle/483035</u>.

Meisters, R., et al (2021), "Is Loneliness an Undervalued Pathway between Socio-Economic Disadvantage and Health", *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 19, 10177, pp. 1-13, at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/19/10177</u>.

Mind Tools Content Team (2023), *The Cynefin Framework: Using the Most Appropriate Problem-Solving Framework*, Mind Tools, accessed March 2023, at <u>https://www.mindtools.com/atddimk/the-cynefin-framework</u>.

Mohemedali, A. (2020), "The Contagion that Moves Faster than Covid-10: How Kindness Overcomes Social Distancing and Can Change Us for the Better", *Psychology Today*, 11 May, at https://www.psychologytoday.com/au/blog/the-inside-looking-out/202005/the-contagion-moves-faster-covid-19.

Morse, D., et al (2022), "Global Developments in Social Prescribing", *BMJ Global Health*, 7, e008524, at <u>https://gh.bmj.com/content/bmjgh/7/5/e008524.full.pdf</u>.

Mt Gravatt Community Centre (2023), *Ways to Wellness: A Whole Community Approach to Ending Social Isolation Through a Social Prescribing Network*, accessed 16 September 2023, at https://waystowellness.org.au/.

Muhl, C., et al (2023a), "Establishing Internationally Accepted Conceptual and Operational Definitions of Social Prescribing Through Expert Consensus: A Delphi Study Protocol" *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 23, 1, January, pp. 1-9, at <u>https://storage.googleapis.com/jnl-up-j-ijic-files/journals/1/articles/6984/submission/proof/6984-1-28237-1-10-20230125.pdf</u>.

Muhl, C., et al (2023b), "Establishing Internationally Accepted Conceptual and Operational Definitions of Social Prescribing Through Expert Consensus: A Delphi Study", *BMJ Open*, 13, 7, pp. 1-14, at <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/bmjopen/13/7/e070184.full.pdf</u>.

Murray, J. (2024), "Are Third Places the Cure for Loneliness?", *Wondermind*, 16 May, at https://www.wondermind.com/article/third-place/.

Murthy, V. (2020), *Together: The Healing Power of Human Connection in a Sometimes Lonely World*, New York: HarperCollins.

Murthy, V., Holt-Lunstad, J., et al (2023), *Our Epidemic of Loneliness and Isolation: The U.S. Surgeon General's Advisory on the Healing Effects of Social Connection and Community*, Washington: U.S. Public Health Service, May, at <u>https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/surgeon-general-social-connection-advisory.pdf</u>.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2020), *Social Isolation and Loneliness in Older Adults: Opportunities for the Health Care System*, Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, at <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/download/25663</u>.

Naughton-Doe, R., et al (2021), "Timebanking and the Co-Production of Preventive Social Care with Adults; What Can We Learn from the Challenges of Implementing Person-to-Person Timebanks in England?", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 29, 5, pp. 1285-1295, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.13166.

Neighbourhood Houses Tasmania (2024), *Eating with Friends*, accessed 22 April, at <u>https://www.nht.org.au/projects/eating-friends</u>.

Nguyen, P., et al (2023), "Effect of Nature Prescriptions on Cardiometabolic and Mental Health, and Physical Activity: a Systematic Review", *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 7, 4, April, pp. 1-16, at https://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2542-5196%2823%2900025-6.

NHS Resolution (2023), *Professor Sir Sam Everington*, accessed April 2023, at https://resolution.nhs.uk/leadership/professor-sir-sam-everington.

Nichol, B., et al (2023), "Exploring the Effects of Volunteering on the Social, Mental and Physical Health and Wellbeing of Volunteers: An Umbrella Review", *Voluntas*, published online 4 May, at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11266-023-00573-z.

Oldenburg, R. (1989), The Great Good Place: Cafés, Coffee Shops, Community Centres, Beauty Parlours, General Stores, Bars, Hangouts, and How They Get You Through the Day, New York: Paragon.

Oldenburg, R. (2000), *Celebrating the Third Place: Inspiring Stories about the "Great Good Places" at the Heart of Our Communities*, New York: Marlowe.

Oldenburg, R. and Christensen, K. (2023), *"Third Places, True Citizen Spaces", UNESCO Courier*, October, at <u>https://courier.unesco.org/en/articles/third-places-true-citizen-spaces</u>.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario) (2024), "Salutogenesis and Health Promotion", *Focus On*, King's Printer for Ontario, January, at https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/Documents/S/2023/salutogenesis-health-promotion.pdf?rev=d3eb524e3e9645e0b262bdc1d1f5430f&sc_lang=en.

Oster, C., et al (2023), "Models of Social Prescribing to Address Non-Medical Needs in Adults: A Scoping Review", *BMC Health Services Research*, 23, 642, pp. 1-20, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10268538/pdf/12913_2023_Article_9650.pdf.

Ostrom, E. (1990), *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ostrom, E. (1996), "Crossing the Great Divide: Coproduction, Synergy, and Development", *World Development*, 24, 6, pp. 1073-1087, at https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=9a9efb5a438e060821b1e78d2e cc8f0ebfb56602.

Ozanne L. (2010), "Learning to Exchange Time: Benefits and Obstacles to Time Banking", International Journal of Community Currency Research, 14, A1-16, at <u>https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10092/3793/12621166_IJCCR_Ozanne.pdf?sequence=</u> 1.

Ozanne L. and Ozanne J. (2013), *Developing Local Partners in Emergency Planning and Management: Lyttelton Time Bank as a Builder and Mobiliser of Resources during the Canterbury Earthquakes*, University of Canterbury Business School, for Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management, at <u>https://independent.academia.edu/lucieozanne?swp=rr-rw-au-53591743</u>.

Ozanne L. and Ozanne J. (2016), "How Alternative Consumer Markets Can Build Community Resiliency, *European Journal of Marketing*, 50, 3-4, pp. 330–357.

Ozanne, L. and Ozanne, J. (2020), "The Power of Sharing to Support Consumers through Liminality", *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 28, 3, pp. 34-41.

Parkinson, P. (2022), "The Loneliness of the Digitally Connected", *Cambridge Papers*, 31, 4, December, pp. 1-6, at <u>https://www.cambridgepapers.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/01/P_CP_Dec22_web_amended.pdf.

Parkinson, P. and Jensen, M. (2023a), "Belong, Be Known, and Be Loved: The Mandate for Church Communities in an Age of Loneliness", *Publica*, 1 May, at <u>https://publica.org.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/Publica-Belong-Be-Known-Be-Loved.pdf</u>.

Parkinson, P. and Jensen, M. (2023b), "Loneliness, Singleness, and the Christian Life: Supporting Single People in Family-Centric Churches", *ABC Religion and Ethics*, 5 June, at https://www.abc.net.au/religion/single-people-in-churches-patrick-parkinson-and-michael-jensen/102423738.

Parks, R., Ostrom, E., Ostrom, V., et al (1981), "Consumers as Coproducers of Public Services: Some Economic and Institutional Considerations", *Policy Studies Journal*, 9, 7, June, pp. 1001-1111, at <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1541-0072.1981.tb01208.x</u>.

Perez-Vega, R. and Miguel, C. (2022), "Time Banks in the United Kingdom: An Examination of the Evolution" in Klimczuk, A., Miguel, C and Avram, G., *The Sharing Economy in Europe*, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2022, pp. 325-341, at <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-86897-0_15</u>.

Perlman, D. and Peplau, A. (1981), "Toward a Social Psychology of Loneliness" in Duck, S. and Gilmour, R. (eds), Personal Relationships in Disorder, London: Academic Press, 1981, pp. 31-56, at https://peplau.psych.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/141/2017/07/Perlman-Peplau-81.pdf.

Phelps, E. (1975), "Introduction" in Phelps, E. (ed), *Altruism, Morality and Economic Theory*, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1975, pp. 1-9.

Pickens, J. (2021), "Is Loneliness a Side Effect of the Digital Social World?", *Psychology Today Australia*, 1 May, at <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/au/blog/psychology-through-technology/202105/is-loneliness-side-effect-the-digital-social-world</u>.

Polley, M., et al (2022), *Measuring Outcomes for Individuals Receiving Support Through Social Prescribing*, London: National Academy for Social Prescribing, at https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Evidence-summary-outcomes-of-social-prescribing-1.pdf.

Productivity Commission (2003), *Social Capital: Reviewing the Concept and its Policy Implications*, Research Paper, Canberra: AusInfo, July, at <u>https://www.pc.gov.au/research/completed/social-capital/socialcapital.pdf</u>.

Productivity Commission (2020), *Mental Health*, Inquiry Report no. 95, Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 30 June, at <u>https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/mental-health/report/mental-health.pdf</u>.

Project Lyttelton (2024), *The Lyttelton Harbour Time Bank*, accessed 24 April 2024, at <u>https://www.projectlyttelton.org/timebank</u>.

Putnum, R. (2000), *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*, New York: Simon & Schuster.

Putnam, R. and Campbell, D. (2010), *American Grace: How Religion Divides and Unites Us*, New York: Simon and Schuster.

Queensland Council of Social Service (2023), *Social Isolation: Best Practice Guide for Service Delivery*, Brisbane, at <u>https://www.dcssds.qld.gov.au/resources/dcsyw/seniors/social-isolation-practice-guide.pdf</u>.

Queensland Government (2022a), *Response to Community Support and Services Committee Report No. 14, 57th Parliament, Inquiry into Social Isolation and Loneliness in Queensland*, June, at <u>https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/tp/2022/5722T744-A704.pdf</u>.

Queensland Government (2022b), *Communities 2032 Strategy: A Plan to Strengthen the Fabric of Queensland's Communities*, Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy, Brisbane, 18 December, at https://www.chde.qld.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf_file/0020/33266/communities2032-strategy-report.pdf.

Queensland Government (2022c), *Communities 2032 Action Plan 2022-2035: A Plan to Strengthen the Fabric of Queensland's Communities*, Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy, Brisbane, 18 December, at

https://www.chde.qld.gov.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0021/33267/communities2032-actionplan.pdf.

Queensland Government, Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy (2022a), *Stay Connected Fund*, at <u>https://www.chde.qld.gov.au/about/initiatives/stay-connected-</u> <u>fund#:~:text=The%20%242.5%20million%20annual%20Stay,of%20social%20isolation%20and%20lon</u> <u>eliness</u>.

Queensland Government, Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy (2022b), Communities Innovation Fund: Responses to Social Isolation and Loneliness – Small Grants Guidelines, FY2022-23, at https://www.chde.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/33273/community-innovation-fund-small.pdf.

Queensland Government, Department of Communities, Housing and Digital Economy (2022c), Communities Innovation Fund: Responses to Social Isolation and Loneliness – Large Grants Guidelines, FY2022-23, at

https://www.chde.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/33274/community-innovation-fundlarge.pdf.

Queensland Parliament, Community Support and Services Committee (2021), *Inquiry into Social Isolation and Loneliness in Queensland*, Report 14, 57th Parliament, Brisbane, December 2021, at https://documents.parliament.qld.gov.au/tp/2021/5721T2070.pdf.

Quiggin, J. (2019), *Economics in Two Lessons: Why Markets Works So Well, and Why They Can Fail So Badly*, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Reed, P. (2023), "Loneliness and Social Media Use Amid and After the Pandemic", *Psychology Today*, 28 March, at <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/au/blog/digital-world-real-</u>world/202303/loneliness-and-social-media-use-amid-and-after-the-pandemic.

Reinhardt, G., Vidovic, D., and Hammerton (2021), "Understanding Loneliness: A Systematic Review of the Impact of Social Prescribing Initiatives on Loneliness", *Perspectives in Public Health*, 141, 4, July, pp. 204-213, at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34159848/</u>.

Relationships Australia (2022a), *Loneliness Tip Sheet*, at <u>https://relationships.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Tip-Sheets_Loneliness_FINAL.pdf</u>.

Relationships Australia (2022b), *Relationships Indicators 2022: Full Report*, Canberra, November, at <u>https://relationships.-org.au/relationship-indicators/full-report/</u>.

Rice, B. (2023), *The Missing Link: Social Prescribing for Children and Young People*, Barkingside, Essex: Barnardos, October, at <u>https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-10/report-missing-link-social-prescribing-children-young-people.pdf</u>.

Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Consumers Health Forum and National Health and Medical Research Council Partnership Centre for Health System Sustainability (2019), *Social Prescribing Roundtable Report*, November, at

https://chf.org.au/sites/default/files/social_prescribing_roundable_report_chf_racgp_v11.pdf.

Russell, D. (1996) "UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, Validity, and Factor Structure", Journal of Personality Assessment, 66, 1, March, pp. 20-40, at <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/14623374_UCLA_Loneliness_Scale_Version_3_Reliability</u> Validity and Factor_Structure/link/0deec52ab90c7c622b000000/download.

Russell, D., Peplau, L. and Cutrona, C. (1980), "The Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale: Concurrent and Discriminant Validity Evidence", *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39, 3, pp. 472-480, at https://peplau.psych.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/141/2017/07/Russel-Peplau-Cutrona-80.pdf.

Ryan, R., Ryan, W., Di Domenico, S., and Deci, E. (2019), "The Nature and the Conditions of Human Autonomy and Flourishing: Self-Determination Theory and Basic Psychological Needs" in Ryan, R. (ed), *The Oxford Handbook of Human Motivation*, second edition, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2019, pp. 89-110.

Sandhu, S., et al (2022), "Intervention Components of Link Worker Social Prescribing Programmes: A Scoping Review", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 30, 6, November, pp. e3761-e3774, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.14056.

Scharmer, O. (2016), *Theory U: Leading from the Future as it Emerges*, second edition, San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.

Schrempft, S., et al (2019), "Associations between Social Isolation, Loneliness, and Objective Physical Activity in Older Men and Women", *BMC Public Health*, 19, 74, pp. 1-10, at <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-019-6424-y</u>.

Sen, A. (1999), Development as Freedom, New York: Knopf/Random House.

Senge, P., et al (2004), *Presence: Human Purpose and the Field of the Future*, New York: Crown/Random House.

Shah, H. and Househ, M. (2023), "Understanding Loneliness in Younger People: Review of the Opportunities and Challenges for Loneliness Interventions", *Interactive Journal of Medical Research*, 12, e45197, pp. 1-9, at <u>https://www.i-jmr.org/2023/1/e45197/PDF</u>.

Sharman, L., et al (2023), *Report on the 18-Month Evaluation of Social Prescribing in Queensland*, University of Queensland, August, at <u>https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:615aab8</u>.

Sharman, L., et al (2022), "Social Prescribing Link Workers – A Qualitative Australian Perspective", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 30, 6, November, pp. e6376-e6385, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.14079.

Shepherd, J. (2023a), "What's in a Name: An Examination of Current Definitions of Resource Churches", *Journal of Anglican Studies*, published online on 23 February 2023, pp. 1-17, at <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/journal-of-anglican-studies/article/whats-in-a-name-an-</u> examination-of-current-definitions-of-resource-churches/2119B46236D6917266F4627AE7EB41D0.

Shepherd, J. (2023b), "Creation Stories: What Were the First Resource Churches", *Journal of Anglican Studies*, published online 20 June 2023, pp. 1-19, at https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/journal-of-anglican-studies/article/creation-stories-what-were-the-first-resource-churches/F0F7A9B0E4F9D19AD5C58C3F811464F8.

Siah, C., et al (2023), ":The Effects of Forest Bathing on Psychological Well-Being: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis", *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 32, 4, August, pp1038-1054, at <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/inm.13131</u>.

Smith, A. (1790), *The Theory of Moral Sentiments*, sixth edition, London: Millar; first edition published 1759; sixth edition republished unabridged by Dover Publications, 2006.

Smith, B. (2021), *Let's Talk Loneliness and Communities*, Ending Loneliness Together, 13 December at <u>https://endingloneliness.com.au/lets-talk-loneliness-and-communities/</u>.

Smith, B. and Lim, M. (2020), "How the COVID-19 Pandemic is Focusing Attention on Loneliness and Social Isolation", *Public Health Research and Practice*, 30, 2, June, at https://www.phrp.com.au/issues/june-2020-volume-30-issue-2/how-the-covid-19-pandemic-is-focusing-attention-on-loneliness-and-social-isolation/.

Smith, M., et al (2023), "Societal- and Community-Level Strategies to Improve Social Connectedness Among Older Adults", *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11, 1176895, May, pp. 1-6, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10192856/pdf/fpubh-11-1176895.pdf.

Snowden, D. and Boone, M. (2007), "A Leader's Framework for Decision Making", *Harvard Business Review*, November, at <u>https://hbr.org/2007/11/a-leaders-framework-for-decision-making</u>.

Steptoe, A. (2023), "Loneliness, Health and Applied Psychology", *Applied Psychology: Health and Wellbeing*, 15, 1, February, pp. 259-266, at <u>https://iaap-</u>journals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/aphw.12417.

Steptoe, A., et al (2013), "Social Isolation, Loneliness, and All-Cause Mortality in Older Men and Women", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (PNAS)*, 110, 15, 9 April, pp. 5797-5801, at <u>https://www.pnas.org/doi/epdf/10.1073/pnas.1219686110</u>.

Telstra (2021), *Talking Loneliness Report: Research into the State of Loneliness in Australia 2021*, October, based on a survey in early September 2021, at https://lu0b5867gsn1ez16a1p2vcj1-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-ontent/uploads/2021/10/Telstra-Talking-Loneliness-Report.pdf.

The Silver Line (2022), Helpline for Older People, at https://www.thesilverline.org.uk/helping-you/.

Thomas, G., et al (2021), "A Systematic Review to Examine the Evidence in Developing Social Prescribing Interventions that Apply a Co-Productive, Co-Designed Approach to Improve Well-Being Outcomes in a Community Setting", *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 3896, at <u>file:///C:/Users/61412/Downloads/ijerph-18-03896-v3.pdf</u>.

Thompson, C, Morris, D., and Bird, S. (2022), *Evaluation of the Improving Social Connectedness of Older Australians Project Pilot: Informing Future Policy Considerations*, Centre for Health Service Development, Australian Health Services Research Institute, University of Wollongong, March, at https://www.health.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/2022/03/iscoa-project-pilot-evaluation-informing-future-policy-evaluation-of-the-improving-social-connectedness-of-older-australians-project-pilot-informing-future-policy-considerations.pdf.

Tierney, S., et al (2022), "The Role of Volunteering in Supporting Well-being – What Might This Mean for Social Prescribing? A Best-fit Framework Synthesis of Qualitative Research", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 30, 2, February, pp. e325-e426, at <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/hsc.13516</u>.

Timebanking UK (2017), *Evaluation and Impact of London Time Bank Network*, Stroud (Gloucestershire), at <u>https://timebanking.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/7.-Evaluation-and-Impact-of-the-London-Time-Bank-Network-2017.pdf</u>.

Titmuss, R. (1971), *The Gift Relationship: From Human Blood to Social Policy*, London: George Allen and Unwin.

Tinbergen, J. (1952), On the Theory of Economic Policy, Amsterdam: North Holland.

Turk, A., et al (2022), "Self-growth, Wellbeing and Volunteering – Implication s for Social Prescribing: A Qualitative Study", *SSM* – *Qualitative Research in Health*, 2, December (100061), pp.1-8, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/ssm-qualitative-research-in-health/vol/2/suppl/C</u>.

Valor, C. and Papaoikonomou, E. (2019), "Sharing Economy to the Rescue? The Case of Time Banking", in Belk, R., Eckhardt, G., and Bardhi, F. (eds), *Handbook of the Sharing Economy*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2019, ch. 11, pp. 136-151, at

https://books.google.es/books?hl=en&lr=&id=mj2tDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA136&ots=QeRmaJ0Fr G&sig=GtV4tgONn2kY3Od-E4qClo3bh10#v=onepage&q&f=false.

Vasile, et al (2024), "Association between Social Isolation and Mental Wellbeing in Later Life. What is the Role of Loneliness?", *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 19, pp. 245-267, at https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11482-023-10239-z.

Veatch, R. (1972), "Models for Ethical Medicine in a Revolutionary Age", *The Hastings Centre Report*, 2, 3, June, pp. 5-7, at <u>https://bioetyka.uw.edu.pl/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/VeatchModels.pdf</u>.

Volpe, A. (2024), "If You Want to Belong, Find a Third Place", *Vox*, 7 May, at <u>https://www.vox.com/the-highlight/24119312/how-to-find-a-third-place-cafe-bar-gym-loneliness-connection</u>.

Volunteering Queensland (2024), *State of Volunteering in Queensland: Report2024*, Brisbane, May, at <u>https://volunteeringqld.org.au/state-of-volunteering-in-queensland/</u>.

Wakefield, J., et al (2022), "Social Prescribing as 'Social Cure': a Longitudinal Study of the Health Benefits of Social Connectedness within a Social Prescribing Pathway", *Journal of Health Psychology*, 27, 2, pp. 386-396, at <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/epub/10.1177/1359105320944991</u>.

Ward, M., et al (2021), "Mortality Risk Associated with Combinations of Loneliness and Social Isolation: Findings from the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA)", *Age and Ageing*, 50, 4, June, pp. 1329-1335, at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33570566/</u>.

Weiss, R. (ed.) (1973), *Loneliness: The Experience of Emotional and Social Isolation*, Cambridge, Ma.: MIT Press.

Welch, V., Ghogomu, E., Barbeau, V., et al (2023), "Digital Interventions to Reduce Social Isolation and Loneliness in Older Adults: An Evidence and Gap Map", *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 19, 4, December, e1369, pp. 1-54, at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10681039/pdf/CL2-19-e1369.pdf</u>.

Welch, V., Ghogomu, E., Dowling, S., et al (2023), "Protocol: In-Person Interventions to Reduce Social Isolation and Loneliness: An Evidence Gap Map", *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 19, 3, September, e1340, pp. 1-18, at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10286723/pdf/CL2-19-e1340.pdf</u>.

Wexler, M. and Oberlander, J. (2017), "The Shifting Discourse on Third Places: Ideological Implications", *Journal of Ideology*, 38, 1, article 4, at https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1018&context=ji.

Whetham, P. (2024), Beyond Loneliness Soul Talk Project, at https://beyondloneliness.club/.

Whetham, P. and Whetham, L. (2020), *Hard to Be Holy: From Church Crisis to Community Opportunity*, second (Child Abuse Royal Commission) edition, Adelaide: Soul Food Café.

Wildman, J. and Wildman, J. M. (2019), "Combining Health and Outcomes Beyond Health in Complex Evaluations of Complex Interventions: Suggestions for Economic Evaluation", *Value in Health*, 22, 5, May, pp. 511-517, at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1098301519300361</u>.

Willett, K. (2022a), "The Beatles' Insights into Loneliness are Still Relevant 55 Years On", *Anglican Focus*, 4 April 2022, at <u>https://anglicanfocus.org.au/2022/04/04/what-causes-loneliness-eleanor-rigby-lyrics/</u>.

Willett, K. (2022b), "Opportunistic Acts of Kindness: 'Heroism in the Daily Rhythm of Life'", *Anglican Focus*, 17 May 2022, at <u>https://anglicanfocus.org.au/2022/05/17/opportunistic-acts-of-kindness-heroism-in-the-daily-rhythm-of-life/</u>.

Willett, K. (2023a), "Belonging", *The Eagle*, 20, 1, April, pp. 10-11 (St John's Cathedral, Brisbane), at https://drive.google.com/file/d/1firlQIBXvJ5Zva4NXYdF-pkZHHEEAU_X/view.

Willett, K. (2023b), "Belonging Boosts Well-Being", *Shed Chatter*, December, pp. 20-21 (Queensland Men's Shed Association), at <u>https://online.flippingbook.com/view/243872752/</u>.

Willett, K. (2024a), "Melancholy that Varies in Darkness", *The Eagle*, 21, 2, October, at <u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/1MJ_rV0KvCttp5o5Uh05TEelPYgZ-cTBg/view</u>.

Willett, K. (2024b), "Tackling Loneliness: Ambitious Initiative of Churches in Brisbane", *Publica*, forthcoming, at <u>https://publica.org.au/publica-papers/</u>.

Williams, G., Abreu Scherer, I., and Hughes, J. (2023), *Wellbeing Through Volunteering: Connections to Social Prescribing*, London: National Academy for Social Prescribing and Royal Voluntary Service, accessed June 2023, at <u>https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/media/4j2gl4qj/volunteering-for-wellbeing-guide.pdf</u>.

Wilson, J. (2016), *Time Eases all Things: A Critical Study of How Time Banks Attempt to Use Time-Based Currency to Alleviate Social Exclusion*, PhD Thesis, School of Nursing, Midwifery, Social Work and Social Sciences, University of Salford, at

https://www.bdtonline.org/wiki/images/1/11/Juliette_Victoria_Wilson_-_Tesis_de_doctorado.pdf.

Wilson-Thomas, J. (2021), "Times Up: Analysing the Feminist Potential of Time Banks", *Gender, Work and Organisation*, 28, 6, November, pp. 2114-2131, at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/gwao.12691.

Wood, E., et al (2021), "Social Prescribing for People with Complex Needs: A Realist Evaluation", *BMC Family Practice*, 22, 53, at <u>https://bmcprimcare.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12875-021-01407-x</u>.

World Health Organisation, Western Pacific Region (2022), *A Toolkit on How to Implement Social Prescribing*, Manila: World Health Organisation Regional Office for the Western Pacific, at https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789290619765.

World Health Organisation (2023a), *Social Prescribing Online Training Course*, OpenWHO, accessed May 2023, at <u>https://openwho.org/courses/social-prescribing-WPRO</u>.

World Health Organisation (2023b), *WHO Launches Commission to Foster Social Connection*, News Release, 15 November, Geneva, at <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/15-11-2023-who-launches-commission-to-foster-social-connection</u>.

Xia, N. and Li, H. (2018), "Loneliness, Social Isolation and Cardiovascular Health", *Antioxidants and Redox Signalling*, 28, 9, pp. 837-851, at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5831910/pdf/ars.2017.7312.pdf.

Yanguas, J., et al (2018), "The Complexity of Loneliness", *Acta Biomedica*, 89, 2, June, pp. 302-314, at <u>https://mattioli1885journals.com/index.php/actabiomedica/article/view/7404/7321</u>.

Yeung, J., Zhang, Z., and Kim, T. (2018), "Volunteering and Health Benefits in General Adults: Cumulative Effects and Forms", *BMC Public Health*, 18, 8, pp. 1-8, at <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-017-4561-8</u>.

Zaki, J. (2016), "Kindness Contagion", *Scientific American*, 26 July, at <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/kindness-contagion/</u>.